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Singamas Container Holdings Limited (the “Company”) has 
been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”) since 1993. The Company is a renowned 
container manufacturer in the world and having comprehensive 
depot operation networks in the People’s Republic of China (the 
“PRC” or “China”).

Our manufacturing business is currently supported by five 
factories in the PRC. We manufacture a wide range of products 
including dry freight containers, collapsible flatrack containers, 
open top containers, tank containers, offshore containers, 
customised containers and other specialised containers 
and container parts. We have started the container leasing 
business in recent years by allowing an additional option to the 
customers on top of direct purchase.

Our logistics business includes container depots and logistics 
company, and is currently running eight container depots 
at the major ports in the PRC  Dalian, Tianjin, Qingdao, 
Shanghai, Ningbo, Fuzhou and Xiamen. We also operate a 
logistics company in Xiamen, the PRC.

To strengthen our business, Green Tenaga Pte. Limited (“Green 
Tenaga”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, was 
incorporated in Singapore in 2023, which is a leading solutions 
provider in energy storage systems, providing innovative 
solutions to support the transition to a low-carbon future. 
Green Tenage specializes in scalable and efficient energy 
storage systems technologies that enhance energy security, 
safety, and grid stability.

1 9 9 3

Green Tenaga Pte. Limited Green Tenaga
2023 Green Tenaga

Green Tenaga
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Revenue 582,804 382,470 776,455 1,151,764 274,305

Profit attributable to  
owners of the Company 34,135 19,438 46,340 186,802 4,576

Basic earnings per share (US cents) 1.43 0.82 1.92 7.73 0.19
Net asset value per share (US cents) 23.47 23.16 25.01 27.98 20.58

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 558,992 551,780 595,826 676,272 497,592
Bank balances and cash 250,149 300,963 369,770 438,171 48,787
Total borrowings (Note) 27,719 6,835 – – 27,584

Current ratio 2.63 to / 1 4.16 to / 1 4.30 to / 1 3.17 to / 1 2.34 to / 1
Gearing ratio 0.05 0.01 N/A N/A 0.06
Net debt to equity ratio N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Interest coverage ratio 51.2 119.1 278.6 268.9 26.9
Return on equity (%) (%) 6.1 3.5 7.8 27.6 0.9        

Note: Total borrowings represent the aggregate amount of interest-bearing borrowings.
 

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 
THE COMPANY



52024年年報 • 勝獅貨櫃企業有限公司

Financial Highlights
財務摘要
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2024 12 31

2023
2024 11

2025 1

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), I hereby 
present the operating results of Singamas Container Holdings 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Group”/“we”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

During the review year, the demand for dry freight containers 
increased appreciably, driven by several factors, such as 
the Red Sea crisis that began in the fourth quarter of 2023, 
restocking activities in the US before the US Presidential 
election in November 2024 and the possible US East Coast 
dock strike in January 2025. Additionally, the delivery of new 
container vessels during the review year further stimulated 
container demand. As a consequence of such developments, 
the Group’s dry freight container factories operated at 
maximum capacity, with production volume remaining high 
throughout the review year. However, the average selling price 
(“ASP”) declined slightly in the review year due to the drop in 
material cost and sufficient production capacity in the market. 

Mr. TEO Siong Seng 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告
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Given the ample volume of containers on the market and 
gradual resolution of the Red Sea crisis on the horizon, 
container demand is projected to soften in 2025. Despite the 
Group enjoyed strong demand for dry freight containers, the 
demand for tank containers experienced a decline, resulting 
in a substantial drop in both sales volume and ASP for tank 
containers. In response, the Group is assessing various 
alternatives to mitigate the impact on this business unit.

Our customised container business cont inued to grow 
healthily, and the Energy Storage System (“ESS”) containers 
were particularly well-received by the new energy sector. 
R e c o g n i s i n g  t h e h i g h e r  m a r g i n s  a s s o c i a t e d w i t h  E S S 
containers, data center and modular integrated construction 
(“MIC”) containers  owing to their greater complexity and 
higher technological requirements, the Group has continued to 
focus on developing such products.

To strengthen our business, a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company, Green Tenaga, was incorporated in Singapore in 
the last quarter of 2023, engaging in energy storage system 
solutions business. Also, a Taiwan sales office was opened in 
the second quarter of 2024 for the leasing and ESS containers 
business. With our enhanced business model, the Group will be 
able to cope with the constantly changing market conditions.

F o r  t h e  y e a r  e n d e d  3 1  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 4 ,  t h e  G r o u p ’ s 
consolidated revenue increased by 52% to US$582,804,000 
(2023: US$382,470,000). Consolidated profit attributable to 
owners of the Company rose by 76% to US$34,135,000 (2023: 
US$19,438,000). As the property markets in China and Hong 
Kong experienced a significant decline, the Group suffered fair 
value losses of US$5,466,000 (2023: losses of US$2,647,000) 
from its investment properties during the reporting year. 
Also, a one-off gain on disposal of a land held by a subsidiary 
amounted to US$5,858,000 profit after taxation and non-
controlling interests was recognised in 2024. Basic earnings 
per share amounted to US1.43 cents (2023: US0.82 cent). 
The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend 
of HK5 cents per ordinary share (2023: HK4 cents per ordinary 
share) for the year ended 31 December 2024. Together with an 
interim dividend of HK3 cents per ordinary share, the payout 
ratio for the year reached 72%.

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Manufacturing and Leasing

T h e m a n u f a c t u r i n g a n d l e a s i n g b u s i n e s s c o n t r i b u t e d 
US$553,588,000 in revenue to the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2024 (2023: US$354,983,000), which is a 
significant increase of 56% over the corresponding period last 
year. The operation consequently accounted for 95% (2023: 
93%) of the Group’s total revenue. Also, a segment profit before 
taxation and non-controlling interests of US$44,459,000 
(2023: US$19,495,000) was recorded.

During the review year, the total sales volume achieved by 
our manufacturing operation reached approximately 220,000 
twenty-foot equivalent units (“TEUs”) of dry freight and 
ISO-specialised containers (2023: approximately 106,000 
TEUs). The ASP of 20’ dry freight containers slightly declined 
to US$1,985 (2023: US$2,075). To mitigate geographical 
risk, the Group successfully increased business volume with 
customers in the Middle East and Singapore while maintaining 
a balanced portfolio with the customers in other countries.
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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告

119% 73% ISO

27% 2023 53%
47%

Regarding dry freight container production, total volume 
increased by 119% year on year. Dry freight containers 
accounted for 73% of segment revenue, while ISO-specialised 
containers and customised containers collectively accounted 
for 27% of segment revenue (2023: 53% dry freight, 47% 
specialised). Through our ability to flexibly divert production 
capacity to dry freight containers during the review year, we 
were able to capture additional orders for such containers.

The customised container segment achieved stable growth in 
terms of sales quantity and revenue. This can be attributed 
partly to the securing of major clients with stable demand and 
recurring orders, as well as new demand on innovative products 
driven by the market. Also, such growth is due to the Group’s 
ability to deliver quality, bespoke containers that have earned 
the trust and patronage of customers. In particular, our ESS 
containers have been able to cater for the specific demands 
of local and international clients, many of whom operate in the 
green energy sector. Satisfactory performance has also been 
achieved by the Group’s other customised products such as 
MIC, automotive rack, and data center containers, owing to 
our capacity to adapt to changing trends, and the benefit of 
an efficient Research & Development team that can develop 
relevant products promptly to meet market needs. Given the 
growing demand for our customised containers, the Group’s 
production capacity will be expanded to eliminate potential 
bottlenecks.

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Manufacturing and Leasing (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement

2024 12 31
138,044,000 2023

12 31 56,679,000

2024 12 31
29,216,000 2023

27,487,000
8,486,000 2023

8,147,000
760,000 20 2023 704,000

20 130,000 20
2023 133,000 20

21,000 20
2023 23,000 20

Regarding the leasing of dry freight container business, 
robust and significant growth was realised during the review 
year. Such growth was driven by our ability to seize market 
demand as we operate our own production plants. The close 
connection between our leasing and manufacturing arm 
enables us to react fast and generate synergy that enhance 
overall margin and profitability. The assets of our leasing 
portfolio reached US$138,044,000 as at 31 December 2024, 
which was a significant increase from US$56,679,000 as at 
31 December 2023. We remain optimistic about the long-term 
growth potential of the leasing business given the relatively 
stable leasing arrangements with customers. The Group will 
therefore continue to invest greater resources through effective 
treasury management, like structured financing, to promote its 
development.

Logistics Services
During the review year, the logistics services operation 
continued to benefit from its expansion into the container 
freight station business in recent years, allowing it to achieve 
an overall stable business performance. Overall, the segment 
recorded revenue of US$29,216,000 (2023: US$27,487,000) 
for the year ended 31 December 2024, with a segment profit 
before taxation and non-controlling interests of US$8,486,000 
(2023: US$8,147,000). The number of containers handled by 
the logistics services operation reached 760,000 TEUs (2023: 
704,000 TEUs), and the number of containers repaired totalled 
130,000 TEUs (2023: 133,000 TEUs). The average daily 
container storage was 21,000 TEUs (2023: 23,000 TEUs).

The Group is thoroughly reviewing all facets of operation, and 
is determined to boost efficiency and enhance its logistics 
services portfolio.

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Manufacturing and Leasing (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告

2024

Green Tenaga

Green Tenaga

2024

Prospects

The demand for dry freight containers is anticipated to dampen 
in the coming year, due partly to overproduction in 2024. 
Geopolitical tensions between major economies are expected 
to lead to a new round of import tariffs that may affect global 
trade. Given the many developments that could hinder dry 
freight container demand, the outlook in the coming years is 
uncertain. To address this difficulty, we will conduct a thorough 
market analysis and strategically utilize resources to ensure 
reasonable and sustainable returns.

With respect to customised container demand, growth is 
anticipated to continue, particularly for ESS containers. To 
capture this growing market and to ride on our expertise in the 
manufacturing of ESS containers, Green Tenaga is incorporated 
to provide energy storage system and related engineering 
solutions to our customers. Green Tenaga is led by a young, 
energetic and professional team that offers consultation, 
customised solutions, system design and engineering services 
to enhance system efficiency and durabil ity. The Group 
believes this new business has a promising future and will be a 
new growth engine for the Group.

Attracting, retaining and grooming new talent is essential for 
the Group’s development and innovation. To achieve this, the 
Group recruited a new Chief Human Resources Officer in 2024 
to establish long-term human resources strategies. Through 
our continuous efforts, we are on the right track to motivate our 
staff to a higher level.

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement

2025 3 18

Moving forward, the Group wi l l  dedicate more effort to 
sustain business momentum and enhancing productivity and 
efficiency. We will continue to make relevant investments 
and explore new opportunities that enable us to diversify our 
business and expand income streams.

APPRECIATION
I would like to extend my appreciation to all of the Group’s 
business partners, customers and stakeholders for their 
unstinting support over the past year. Also, I wish to express 
my sincere gratitude to all members of the Group for their 
diligence, perseverance and dedication, which has helped us 
to overcome challenges and seize fresh opportunities. In the 
new financial year, we will make every effort to build on our 
successes, address our weaknesses and ensure that our long-
term sustainable growth can be realised.

TEO Siong Seng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Prospects (Continued)
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1. It has been a good year for container manufacturing 
due to strong dry freight demand, yet with changes in 
market environment demand is bound to soften in the 
next few years. What is Singamas’ plan in face of the 
foreseeable downturn of the industry?

– Although global dry freight container demand 
is projected to soften in 2025, Singamas is 
well-positioned to ride through such market 
fluctuations as the Group has been dedicating 
enormous efforts in diversifying its business in 
the past years.

– Apart from the strong foundation of our dry 
freight business, the management has been 
actively developing the Group’s customised 
container business, which generates higher 
margins owing to their greater complexity and 
higher technological requirements. The business 
has been growing healthily with vast potential for 
further growth as market demand is anticipated 
to continue in the years to come.

– The Group has also recently ventured into the 
container leasing business, the container freight 
station business, as well as the energy storage 
system solutions business. In particular, the 
energy storage system solutions business, which 
involves consultation, customised solutions, 
system design and engineering services for 
clients, is believed to have a promising future 
and the management expects it to be a new 
growth engine for the Group.

– Given the various areas of new development, we 
believe Singamas will be able to steer through 
such market volatilities and sustain long-term 
business momentum.

1. 

– 
2025

– 

– 

– 
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Frequently Asked Questions

2. The Group’s sales mix has been changing over the years 
due to fluctuations in dry freight container demand. 
How does the Group adjust operations to satisfy market 
demand and maximise overall profitability? What is your 
target mix moving forward?

– Over the years, the Group has been dedicating 
e f f o r t s  i n  s e t t i n g  u p  f l e x i b l e  p r o d u c t i o n 
facilities to accommodate changes in operating 
environment. The Group’s abil ity to f lexibly 
a l locate product ion capaci ty  between dry 
freight and specialised containers has enabled 
it to capture opportunities in the fast-changing 
market, allowing it to deliver such satisfactory 
performance in the past financial year.

– Given the relatively more complex technological 
requirements involved in the production of 
customised containers, relevant manufacturing 
facilities are more specific.

– With increased usage of specialised/customised 
containers in various industries globally, we 
expect the sales proportion of special ised/
customised containers to increase moving 
forward. The management targets to have an 
optimal split of 50:50 of dry freight containers 
and specialised/customised containers in the 
long run.

2. 

– 

– 

– 

50:50
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Frequently Asked Questions
常見問題

3. The customised ESS container business has been doing 
exceptionally well. Where does the relevant demand 
come from and how to ensure sustainable orders and 
long-term growth of the segment?

– With the rapid growth in renewable and “green” 
energy to meet with global trends of carbon 
neutral, we saw increasing demand from both 
local and overseas customers for renewable 
energy storage containers.

– At Singamas, we are committed to providing 
excellent tailor-made container solutions to suit 
a diverse range of customers. Thanks to our 
strong R&D arm and excellent customer service, 
we have been able to attract satisfactory orders 
to serve both local and overseas markets.

– The Group has also been able to secure major 
clients with stable demand and recurring orders, 
as well as new demand on innovative products 
driven by the market, all of which are crucial 
in contributing to the segment’s long-term 
sustainable growth.

4. How is the selling price of the Group’s different types 
of containers lately? What do gross margins look like 
respectively?

– Although dry freight container demand was 
strong during the review year, ASP declined 
due to the drop in material cost and sufficient 
production capacity in the market.

– Prices of ISO specialised containers, like flatrack, 
open top and bulk containers also decreased in 
line with dry freight containers.

3. 

– 

– 

– 

4. 

– 

– ISO
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Frequently Asked Questions

– For customised containers, prices are more 
stable as there is no standard specification for 
each batch of orders, the skills and technology 
are higher than traditional dry freight containers. 
Price sett ing for each order of customised 
containers is based on the complexity of the 
specification along with the labour hours and 
material cost required for the production.

– With customised containers expected to take 
up a more substantial portion of the Group’s 
sales moving forward, Singamas will be less 
impacted by demand and competition of dry 
freight containers. As demand and selling price 
of customised containers are expected to be 
relatively stable, the increase in its weighting will 
enhance the gross margin of the Group going 
forward.

5. What does the order book look like in 2025 for dry 
f r e i g h t  c o n t a i n e r s  a n d s p e c i a l i s e d/c u s t o m i s e d 
containers respectively?

– Demand for dry freight containers is anticipated 
to dampen in the coming year,  due part ly 
to overproduction in 2024, plus geopolitical 
tensions between major economies impacting 
global trade. We currently have approximately 
two months of orders on hand.

– For customised containers, each project has 
its specific production process. From product 
design, technical drawings, and production 
until delivery, the whole process may last from 
few weeks to few months. We are continuously 
receiving orders for customised containers 
without seasonal trends, outlook is robust for the 
sector.

– 

– 

5. 2025

– 

2024

– 
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Frequently Asked Questions
常見問題

6. H o w  h a s  t h e  c o n t a i n e r  l e a s i n g  b u s i n e s s  b e e n 
performing? What are the Group’s expectations on the 
segment?

– The dry freight container leasing business 
delivered robust and significant growth during 
the year. The growth was driven by the Group’s 
ability to seize market demand as we operate 
our own production plants, enabling us to react 
fast and generate synergy that enhance overall 
margin and profitability.

– The segment is able to del iver sustainable 
revenue as leasing arrangements with customers 
are relatively long term, ranging from three to 
over ten years. Overall margin of the Group 
can also be enhanced as the container leasing 
business generates higher profit margin than the 
manufacturing business.

– The management is optimistic about the long-
term growth potential of the leasing business, 
and is planning to invest greater resources 
t h r o u g h  e f f e c t i v e  t r e a s u r y  m a n a g e m e n t , 
l i k e  s t r u c t u r e d  f i n a n c i n g ,  t o  p r o m o t e  i t s 
development.

6. 

– 

– 

– 
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Frequently Asked Questions

7. What other plans does the Group have to improve its 
results performance in the coming years?

– We review our business model regularly to adjust 
strategies suiting latest market changes. The 
development of New Singamas has already seen 
initial success, especially the container leasing 
business and the customised container business 
serve as the future growth drivers of the Group.

– Our customised container business is growing 
healthily, especially our ESS containers are well-
received by the new energy sector. In view of the 
growing market demand, the Group incorporated 
a whole owned subsidiary in Singapore to tap 
into the energy storage system solution business 
(as mentioned in the answer to question 1). The 
Group is also intending to expand its customised 
container production capacity so as to eliminate 
potential bottlenecks in the coming years.

8. Apart from the manufacturing, leasing and logistics 
services businesses, does the Group have any new 
business or investment plans coming up?

– The New Singamas always strives to look for new 
opportunities which bring stable cash inflows 
and good margins. With our current healthy 
financial position, we are actively seeking new 
opportunities that can bring synergies in the long 
run.

7. 

– 

– 

1

8. 

– 
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The directors of the Company (“Director(s)”) at the date of this 
annual report are as follows:

DIRECTORS
Mr. Teo Siong Seng ^o Chairman and  

Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Siu Wai Yee, Winnie ^ Executive Director and  
Chief Operating Officer

Ms. Chung Pui King, Rebecca^ Executive Director,  
Chief Financial Officer and  
Company Secretary

Mr. Ng Wai Lim # Non-executive Director

Mr. Ho Teck Cheong #o Independent Non-executive 
Director

Mr. Lam Sze Ken,  
Kenneth o

Independent Non-executive 
Director

Ms. Wong Sau Pik # Independent Non-executive 
Director

# Audit Committee Member
^ Management Committee Member
o Nomination Committee Member

 Remuneration Committee Member

^o

^  
 

^  
  
 

#

#o

o

#

# 
^ 
o 
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Brief biographical details of the Directors at the date of this 
annual report are as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Teo Siong Seng, B. Sc. (Naval Architect) , aged 70, was 
appointed as Executive Director of the Company on 20 April 
1993, became the President and Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company on 1 February 1997 and was appointed as 
Chairman of the Company on 27 May 2013. He also holds 
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. 
Teo has started his shipping career with Pacific International 
Lines (Private) Limited (“PIL”) and its Group (“PIL Group”) in 
Singapore since 1979. PIL is the controlling shareholder of the 
Company as defined under the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”). He was appointed as the managing 
director of PIL in October 1992 and appointed as executive 
chairman of PIL in April 2018. PIL Group’s activities include 
shipowning, liner shipping, ship agencies, freight forwarding, 
container manufacturing, container depot/terminal operation, 
warehousing and logistics park. He is also currently a non-
executive and non-independent director of Keppel Ltd. 
(formerly known as Keppel Corporation Limited) (stock code: 
BN4), a company is listed on the main board of Singapore 
Exchange. Mr. Teo retired as independent non-executive 
directors of COSCO SHIPPING Energy Transportation Co., Ltd 
(HKEX stock code: 1138 and SSE stock code: 600026) and 
COSCO SHIPPING Holdings Co., Ltd. (HKEX stock code: 1919 
and SSE stock code: 601919), both companies are listed on 
the main board of the Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock 
Exchange, on 8 July 2022 and 16 November 2023 respectively. 
He also retired as non-executive and independent director of 
Wilmar International Limited (stock code: F34), a company is 
listed on the main board of Singapore Exchange, on 19 April 
2024. Mr. Teo is the Immediate Past Chairman of Singapore 
Business Federation and Honorary President of Singapore 
Chinese Chamber of Commerce & Industry, and is the Honorary 
Consul of The United Republic of Tanzania in Singapore. He 
is also currently the chairman of Internationalization Action 
Committee (IAC) in Singapore Business Federation.

B. Sc. Naval Architect) 70
1993 4 20

1997 2 1
2013 5 27

1979

1992 10
2018 4

BN4

2022 7 8 2023 11 16

1138 600026

1919 601919

2024 4 19
F34
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Ms. Siu Wai Yee, Winnie, aged 53, was appointed as Executive 
Director of the Company on 1 January 2023. She joined the 
Group on 1 October 2021 as Chief Operating Officer Designate 
and was appointed as Chief Operating Officer of the Company 
on 1 January 2022. She also serves as director of certain 
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Siu graduated from the 
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor’s Degree of 
Business Studies (Majors in Marketing) and obtained an MBA 
from IMD Lausanne in Switzerland. She has over 28 years of 
extensive experience in container shipping, manufacturing, 
leasing and trading plus global logistics.

Ms. Chung Pui King, Rebecca, MBA, HKICPA, FCCA , aged 
56, was appointed as Executive Director of the Company on 
2 July 2015. Ms. Chung joined the Group on 1 January 1996. 
She was appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Company 
Secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) on 2 
February 2013 and 10 September 2013 respectively. She also 
holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company. 
Ms. Chung has more than 33 years of extensive experience in 
accounting, sourcing and manufacturing.

53 2023 1 1
2021 10 1

2022 1 1

28

MBA HKICPA FCCA 56
2015 7 2

1996 1 1
2013 2 2 2013 9 10

33
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Ng Wai Lim, FCPA , aged 49, was appointed as Non-
executive Director of the Company on 26 June 2024. Mr. Ng 
graduated from the University of Technology Sydney with a 
Bachelor of Business (Accounting and Finance) and Master of 
Business (Finance). He is currently the Group Chief Financial 
Officer of PIL. He is responsible for overseeing PIL’s strategic 
f inance, performance and risk management function in 
Singapore and in all PIL’s group companies around the world. 
He is also the directors of two subsidiaries of the Company. 
Mr. Ng brings with him over 21 years of strong track record in 
both finance and commercial business leadership positions in 
MNCs and public listed companies. Prior to joining PIL, Mr. Ng 
was the Group Chief Financial Officer of Venture Corporation 
Limited (SGX stock code: V03), a company listed on Singapore 
Exchange, as well as the Chief Financial Officer, East Asia and 
Japan Region of Schneider Electric. He also held various senior 
finance and commercial positions within Swiss technology 
company ABB Group across its locations in Switzerland, 
Singapore, China, Malaysia and Vietnam. Mr. Ng is a Fellow 
Certified Practicing Accountant of CPA Australia. He has been 
invited to participate as an industry representative in a number 
of governmental initiatives and task forces on future economy, 
industrial automation and business transformation.

FCPA 49 2024 6 26

21
Venture 

Corporation Limited V03

ABB
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ho Teck Cheong,  MBA , aged 66, was appointed as 
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 2 
October 2019. Mr. Ho graduated from McGill University, 
Montreal, Canada in 1984. He is currently an independent 
director of NorthCape AS, a Norwegian financial advisory 
company. He retired as independent director and non-
executive chairman of China Shenshan Orchard Holdings Co. 
Ltd. (formerly known as Dukang Distillers Holdings Limited), 
a company listed on the main board of Singapore Exchange, 
on 26 April 2024. Mr. Ho possesses extensive experience in 
assets management and banking industry.

Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth, aged 57, was appointed as 
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 26 
June 2024. Mr. Lam graduated from Amherst College, USA 
in 1990 with a bachelor’s degree with honours in philosophy 
and economics. He has extensive industry knowledge in 
shipowning and financing. Mr. Lam is the founder and CEO of 
SeaKapital Limited. He was the managing director and head of 
shipping and offshore in Asia at Credit Agricole Corporate and 
Investment Bank (“CA-CIB”) until March 2023 and had been 
the chairman and CEO of Credit Agricole Asia Shipfinance 
Limited (“CAASL”), a wholly owned subsidiary of CA-CIB fully 
dedicated to providing a full range of financial and advisory 
services to the shipping industry. Between April 2023 and 
April 2024, Mr. Lam served as the honorary chairman and 
non-executive director of CAASL. Mr. Lam completed his six-
year term (from 2018 to 2024) as a member of the Hong 
Kong Maritime and Port Board under the Transport and 
Logistics Bureau of the Government of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region and has been retained as a member 
of the Task Force on Maritime Business Tax Incentives. He 
is also an executive committee member and the honorary 
treasurer of the Hong Kong Shipowners Association. Mr. Lam is 
a national committee member of the Chinese People’s Political 
Consultative Conference.

MBA 66 2019 10 2

1984
NorthCape 

AS 2024 4 26

57 2024 6 26
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2023 4 2024 4

6 2018
2024



26 Singamas Container Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2024

Directors and Senior Management Profile

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
(Continued)

Ms. Wong Sau Pik, aged 62, was appointed as Independent 
Non-executive Director of the Company on 26 June 2024. Ms. 
Wong graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University 
in 1985. She is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England & Wales, the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants (“ACCA”), and the Hong Kong Chartered 
Governance Institute. She was elected the president of the 
ACCA Hong Kong branch from 2008 to 2009. Ms. Wong was 
an assurance partner of Ernst & Young Hong Kong (“EY Hong 
Kong”) and retired on 30 June 2023. She has over 31 years of 
professional experience in auditing and accounting in Hong 
Kong and Mainland China.

S a v e a s  d i s c l o s e d a b o v e,  M s.  W o n g h a s n o t  h e l d  a n y 
directorship in public companies the securities of which are 
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the 
last three years. Ms. Wong does not have any relationship with 
any directors, senior management or substantial or controlling 
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company 
and she does not hold any other positions in the Company and 
its subsidiaries as at the date of this annual report.

According to Rule 3.13(3) of the Listing Rules, if within two 
years immediately prior to the date of her appointment as an 
independent non-executive director, such director is a partner 
of a professional adviser which is currently providing or has 
provided services to a controlling shareholder of the listed 
issuer, the independence of the director would more likely 
to be questioned. As at the date of this annual report, the 
Company is owned as to approximately 41.72% by PIL, which 
is in turn 100% owned by PIL Pte. Ltd. Each of PIL and PIL 
Pte. Ltd. has appointed Ernst & Young LLP in Singapore (“EY 
Singapore”) as auditor.

 

62 2024 6 26

1985

2008 2009

2023 6 30
31

3.13(3)

41.72% PIL 
Pte. Ltd. 100% PIL Pte. 
Ltd.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
(Continued)

Although Ms. Wong was the former assurance partner of EY 
Hong Kong before her retirement in June 2023, the Company 
is satisfied and has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the 
Stock Exchange that Ms. Wong is independent and fulfills the 
independence requirements under Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules based on the following factors:

1. Ms. Wong has over 30 years of experience in the 
accounting industry. Prior to her retirement, she 
worked in EY Hong Kong’s assurance practice. The 
Company believes that Ms. Wong is able to exercise her 
professional judgment and draw upon her extensive 
accounting knowledge and audit experience for the 
benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole, 
in particular, the independent shareholders, and is 
capable of exercising judgment independently and free 
from any undue influence;

2. EY Hong Kong and EY Singapore are members of the 
global network of Ernst & Young (“EY”), each of which 
is a separate legal entity and financially independent 
from each other. Ms. Wong was previously a partner 
of EY Hong Kong and has never worked on matters 
concerning PIL or PIL Group;

3. t o  t h e  b e s t  o f  t h e  C o m p a n y ’ s  k n o w l e d g e ,  t h e 
professional fee incurred by PIL and PIL Pte. Ltd. 
re lat ing to the audit ing serv ices provided by EY 
Singapore was not material to the EY global network as 
a whole;

4. in the past two years, the Group did not enter into 
any new engagement with any member firm of the EY 
network, nor does any member of the Group have any 
current intention to enter into any new engagement with 
any member firm of the EY network in the near future;

5. as a company l isted on the Stock Exchange, the 
Company is operating independently of PIL with its 
own corporate governance and senior management 
structure; and
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6. 

3.13

(i)

(ii)

4 2025

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
(Continued)

6. Ms. Wong has confirmed to the Company that apart 
from her prior association with EY Hong Kong, she was 
not a director, partner or principal of any professional 
advisor which has within two years immediately prior 
to the date of her appointment provided services, or is 
or was an employee of such professional adviser who is 
or has been involved in providing such services during 
the same period, to any controlling shareholder of the 
Company.

Taking into account all of the circumstances described above, 
the Board is of the view that Ms. Wong has satisfied the 
requirement of independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules.

Ms. Wong also confirmed to the Company that (i) she has no 
past or present financial or other interest in the business of 
the Company or its subsidiaries or any connection with any 
core connected persons (as defined under the Listing Rules) of 
the Company; and (ii) that there are no other factors that may 
affect her independence at the time of her appointment.

All Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least 
once every three years but shall be eligible for re-election at 
the annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s 
articles of association (the “Articles”). For the particulars of the 
Directors proposed to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting, please refer to the circular for the 2025 
Annual General Meeting to be dispatched in April for details.
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1997 2 1
2013 5 27

2022 1 1

2013 2 2 2013
9 10

59 2024 5 7
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The senior management of the Company at the date of this 
annual report are as follows:

Mr. Teo Siong Seng Chairman and Chief  
Executive Officer

Ms. Siu Wai Yee, Winnie Chief Operating Officer
Ms. Chung Pui King, Rebecca Chief Financial Officer  

and Company Secretary
Ms. Chan Kit Wan, Amy Chief Human Resources Officer

Details of the senior management at the date of this annual 
report are as follows:

Mr. Teo Siong Seng, was appointed as President and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company on 1 February 1997, and 
appointed as Chairman of the Company on 27 May 2013. 
Please refer to the Directors section for details.

Ms. Siu Wai Yee, Winnie, was appointed as Chief Operating 
Officer of the Company on 1 January 2022. Please refer to the 
Directors section for details.

Ms. Chung Pui King, Rebecca,  was appointed as Chief 
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Company on 2 
February 2013 and 10 September 2013 respectively. Please 
refer to the Directors section for details.

Ms. Chan Kit Wan, Amy, aged 59, was appointed as Chief 
Human Resources Officer of the Company on 7 May 2024. She 
also serves as director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. 
Ms. Chan graduated from Victoria University of Technology 
with a Bachelor of Business degree. She also obtained a Master 
of Business Administration from The University of Hong Kong. 
Ms. Chan has more than 31 years of solid experience in leading 
and managing human resources and administration functions. 
She is responsible for leading, driving and managing human 
resources and administration functions of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has 
consistently adopted and complied with all the applicable 
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code 
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as 
guidelines to reinforce our corporate governance principles, 
except for the deviation disclosed below:

Code Provision C.2.1

Mr. Teo Siong Seng took up both roles as the Chairman of the 
Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, the roles 
of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are not separated. 
The Board considers that this structure has the advantage of a 
strong and consistent leadership which is conducive to making 
and implementing decisions efficiently and consistently.

Save for the above deviation, none of the Directors is aware 
of any information which would reasonably indicate that the 
Company is not, or, was not during the year in compliance with 
the code provisions of the Code as set out in Appendix C1 of 
the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.

The board of directors of the Company (“Board” or “Directors”) 
believes that appropriate corporate governance practices are 
essential for the Company to enhance its accountability and 
transparency so as to achieve a balance of the interests of 
shareholders, customers, employees and investment partners 
of the Company in all material respects. Accordingly, the 
Company aims at maintaining high standards of corporate 
governance practices.

2024 12 31

C1

C.2.1

C1 
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Key corporate governance principles and corporate governance 
practices of the Company are summarised below:

Code Ref. Code Provisions

Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

A. CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY ANG GOVERNANCE

A.1 Corporate strategy, business model and culture

Corporate Governance Principle

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and 
supervising the Company’s affairs.

A.1.1 The board should establish the company’s 
purpose, values and strategy, and satisfy 
itself that these and the company’s culture 
are aligned. All directors must act with 
integrity, lead by example, and promote 
the desired culture. Such culture should 
instil and continually reinforce across 
the organisation values of acting lawfully, 
ethically and responsibly.

C • Company’s purpose:

The Company is  committed to create a chain of  energy-saving, 
environmentally friendly and sustainable container industry, providing 
fast and convenient container logistics service solution, integrating the 
world and giving back to the society.

• Company’s values and strategy:

“Top quality”, “safe production”, “customer orientation”, “energy 
conservation”, “corporate harmony” and “sustainability”

– The Group devotes itself to producing and providing high quality 
and safe products for customer. The Group actively integrates 
environmental responsibil ity into daily operation activities by 
upgrading the equipment to automated machinery in order to 
minimise the impact on the surrounding environment and achieve 
safe production.

– The Group respects the labour rights and basic rights and interests 
of all employees. It implements a fair and equitable employment 
mechanism. Meanwhile, it keeps improving the human resources 
system and occupational health and safety system to nurture talents 
of core competitiveness and protect the physical and mental health 
of all employees.

– To establish a “green factory” is an important part of the Company’s 
commitment to sustainable development and a necessary way to 
fulfil corporate social responsibility.
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Code Ref. Code Provisions

Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

A.1.1
(cont’d)

• Corporate culture:

The Board is committed to developing a positive and progressive culture 
that is built on the Group’s purpose, values and strategy. The Board 
continues to cultivate the culture that it needs to create the desired 
future.

The Group adheres to the corporate culture of “practice with integrity”. 
It upholds the highest ethical standards of business integrity and foster 
a culture of compliance throughout the Group to ensure legitimate 
operation. It reinforces the safety culture to ensure occupational health 
and product safety of the Group.

The Group adheres to the corporate culture of “high efficiency and 
innovation”, strengthening the product research and development and 
integrating ideas for sustainable development.

T h e  G r o u p a d v o c a t e s  t h e  c o r p o r a t e  c u l t u r e  o f  “h a r m o n y  a n d 
sustainability”. It respects the labour rights and human rights of all 
employees and promotes an inclusive culture within the Group. In order to 
achieve sustainable development, the Group adheres to the development 
concept of staying green, to create a healthy and green community and to 
protect the environment.

The Group’s corporate culture of “practice with integrity”, “high efficiency 
and innovation” and “harmony and sustainability” is communicated to 
employees from time to time through regular journals, e-magazines and 
billboard display to let them know about the culture.

A.1.2 The directors should include a discussion 
and analysis of the group’s performance 
in the annual report, an explanation of the 
basis on which the company generates 
or preserves value over the longer term 
(the business model) and the strategy for 
delivering the company’s objectives.

C • The Board has included a discussion and analysis of the Group’s 
sustainable development strategy in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 
8 to 14 of this annual report.

8 14
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Code Ref. Code Provisions

Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

A.2 Corporate Governance Functions

Corporate Governance Principle

The board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties. It may delegate the responsibility to a committee or 
committees.

A.2.1 The terms of reference of the board (or a 
committee or committees performing this 
function) should include:

– develop and review the company’s 
p o l i c i e s  a n d  p r a c t i c e s  o n 
corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the board;

– review and monitor the training and 
continuous professional development 
of directors and senior management;

– review and monitor the company’s 
p o l i c i e s  a n d  p r a c t i c e s  o n 
compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

– develop, review and monitor the code 
of conduct and compliance manual 
(if any) applicable to employees and 
directors; and

– review the company’s compliance 
with the Code and disclosure in the 
Corporate Governance Report.

C • The Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions with the 
following duties:

(a) to establish the Company’s purpose, values and strategy, and ensure 
they are aligned with the Company’s culture;

(b) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on 
corporate governance and make recommendations;

(c) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 
development of Directors;

(d) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(e) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance 
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;

(f) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in 
the Corporate Governance Report; and

(g) other corporate governance duties and functions set out in the Code 
(as amended from time to time).
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Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

B. BOARD COMPOSITION AND NOMINATION

B.1 Board composition, succession and evaluation

Corporate Governance Principle

The Board should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s 
business and should ensure that the directors devote sufficient time and make contributions to the Company that are commensurate 
with their role and board responsibilities. It should ensure that changes to its composition can be managed without undue disruption. 
It should include a balanced composition of executive and non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive directors) 
so that there is a strong independent element on the board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement. Non-executive 
directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for their views to carry weight.

B.1.1 Independent non-executive directors 
should be ident i f ied in a l l  corporate 
communications that disclose the names 
of directors.

C • The composition of the Board, by category and position of Directors 
including the names of the Chairman, the executive Directors, the non- 
executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors, is 
disclosed in all corporate communications.

• The Board currently consists of a total of seven Directors, comprising 
three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three 
independent non-executive Directors. More than one-third of the Board 
are independent non-executive Directors of which more than one have 
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial 
management expertise. Details of the composition of the Board are set 
out on page 21 of this annual report.

21

• The Company maintains on its corporate website and on the Stock 
Exchange’s website an updated list of Directors identifying their roles and 
functions and whether they are independent non-executive Directors.

• The Directors’ biographical information is set out on pages 21 to 29 of 
this annual report.

21 29

B.1.2 The company should maintain on i ts 
w e b s i t e  a n d o n t h e S t o c k E x c h a n g e 
website an updated list of its directors 
identifying their role and function and 
w h e t h e r  t h e y  a r e  i n d e p e n d e n t  n o n- 
executive directors.

 

C • The updated list of Directors has been posted at the websites of the 
Company and Stock Exchange, identifying their respective roles and 
functions, and whether they are independent non-executive Directors.

 

• The Company has also posted on its website and the website of Stock 
Exchange the Terms of Reference of its Board Committees to enable the 
shareholders to understand the roles played by those independent non-
executive Directors who serve on the relevant Board Committees.
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Code Ref. Code Provisions

Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

B.1.3 T h e  b o a r d  s h o u l d  r e v i e w  t h e 
implementation and effectiveness of the 
Company’s policy on board diversity on an 
annual basis.

C • The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy effective from 1 
September 2013 (“Board Diversity Policy”) setting out the approach 
to achieve diversity on the Board, details of which are summarised as 
follows:

2013 9 1

(a) In considering the Board’s composition, a wider range of perspectives 
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of 
service will be duly considered in the selection of candidates.

(b) All Directors appointments will be based on meritocracy, and 
candidates will be considered against objective criteria.

(c) The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion of female 
members over time when selecting and making recommendation on 
suitable candidates for Board appointment. 

 

• To ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination 
Committee will review it annually or as appropriate and discuss any 
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the 
Board for consideration and approval.

• At the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four male and three 
female Directors, bringing the female representation to about 43% of the 
Board. The Board considered current proportion of female members on 
the Board is appropriate.

43%

• As at 31 December 2024, the male and female ratio for the workforce and 
senior management of the Group was 91%/9% and 68%/32% respectively. 
The Company hires workforce based on business needs and strategy and 
the nature of work, expertise and experience required for the position.

2024 12 31
91% 9% 68% 32%
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Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

B.1.4 T h e  c o m p a n y  s h o u l d  e s t a b l i s h 
mechanism(s) to ensure independent 
views and input are available to the board 
and disclose such mechanism(s) in its 
Corporate Governance Report. The board 
should review the implementation and 
effectiveness of such mechanism(s) on an 
annual basis.

C • The Company had established various communication channels through 
formal and informal means whereby Independent Non-executive Directors 
can express their views, these channels include, among others, private 
meeting with the Chairman and interaction with senior management and 
other Board Members including the Chairman outside the boardroom.

• When assessing suitability of the candidates for election as Independent 
Non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee will review their 
profiles, having regard to the Board Diversity Policy and the list of 
nomination criteria set out in the Nomination Policy. Those policies are 
subject to review annually to ensure their effectiveness and independent 
views and inputs are provided to the Board.

B.2 Appointments, re-election and removal

Corporate Governance Principle

There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors and plans in place for orderly 
succession for appointments. All Directors should be subject to re-election at regular intervals.

B.2.1 Directors should ensure that they can 
give sufficient time and attention to the 
company’s affairs and should not accept 
the appointment if they cannot do so.

C • There is satisfactory attendance at Board meetings during the year. 
Please refer to C.5.1 below for the attendance records.

C.5.1

• All Directors have in-depth industry knowledge and established track 
record, whose interests are aligned with that of the Company. Every 
Director has given sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs. 
The independent non-executive Directors have brought a wide spectrum 
of their extensive knowledge and experience in their respective business 
undertakings to the Board for the fullest performance of its functions.
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B.2.2 Every director, including those appointed 
for a specific term, should be subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once every 
three years.

C • According to the service agreements entered into between each of 
non-executive Director or independent non-executive Directors and 
the Company, the term of appointment is three years but subject to 
retirement and shall be eligible for re-election at annual general meeting 
(“AGM”) under the Articles.

 

• Under the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time 
being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall 
be subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years but 
shall be eligible for re-election.

• Under the Articles, the Board may from time to time appoint a Director 
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such 
new Director shall hold office until the next following general meeting 
of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) or until the next 
following AGM of the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board) 
and shall then be eligible for election at the same general meeting.

• Review of the Board composition is made regularly to ensure that it 
has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the 
requirements of the business of the Company.

• The Company has published the procedures for shareholders to propose 
a person for election as a Director on its website.
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B.2.3 If an independent non-executive director 
had served more than nine years, such 
director’s further appointment should 
be subject to a separate resolution to be 
approved by shareholders. The papers 
t o  s h a r e h o l d e r s  a c c o m p a n y i n g  t h a t 
resolution should state why the board 
(o r  n o m i n a t i o n c o m m i t t e e)  b e l i e v e s 
the director is  s t i l l  independent and 
s h o u l d  b e  r e-e l e c t e d,  i n c l u d i n g  t h e 
factors considered, the process and the 
discussion of the board (or the nomination 
committee) in arriving the determination.

 

C • As at the date of this annual report, no director has been serving as 
independent non-executive Directors of the Company for more than 
nine years. Each independent non-executive Director who was subject 
to retirement by rotation was appointed by a separate resolution in 
the Company’s AGM. Each independent non-executive Director who 
was eligible for re-election at the AGM had made a confirmation of 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

3.13

• The Company’s circular of its AGM contained detailed information on re-
election of Directors, including detailed biographies, interests and (where 
appropriate) independence of all Directors standing for re- election. If 
an independent non-executive Director serves more than nine years, the 
information would be included in the circular to advice shareholders the 
reasons why the Board believes the relevant Director is still independent 
and should be re-elected.

B.2.4 Where all the independent non- executive 
directors of the Company have served 
more than nine years on the board, the 
Company should:

(a) disclose the length of tenure of each 
existing independent non-executive 
director on a named basis in the 
c i r c u l a r  t o  s h a r e h o l d e r s  a n d / o r 
explanatory statement accompanying 
the not ice of  the annual  genera l 
meeting; and

(b) appoint  a new independent non- 
executive director on the board at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting.

C • As at the date of this annual report, no Director has been serving as 
independent non-executive Directors of the Company for more than nine 
years.
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B.3 Nomination Committee

Corporate Governance Principle

In carrying out its responsibilities, the nomination committee should give adequate consideration to the principles under Sections B.1 
and B.2 in the Code.

B.1 B.2

B . 3 . 1 - 
B.3.3

– The nomination committee should 
be established with specific written 
terms of reference which deal clearly 
with its authority and duties.

– It should perform the following duties:

(a) review the structure, size and 
composition (including the skills, 
knowledge and experience) of 
the board at least annually and 
make recommendations on any 
proposed changes to the board 
to complement the company’s 
corporate strategy;

(b) i d e n t i f y  i n d i v i d u a l s  s u i t a b l y 
q u a l i f i e d  t o  b e c o m e  b o a r d 
members and select or make 
recommendations to the board 
on the selection of individuals 
nominated for directorships;

C • The Board has established the Nomination Committee on 27 March 
2012 for nominating potential candidates for directorship, reviewing 
the nomination of Directors, assessing the independence of each 
independent non-executive Director and making recommendations 
to the Board on such appointments. The full terms of reference of the 
Nomination Committee are available on the Stock Exchange’s website 
(https://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website (https://
www.singamas.com).

2012 3 27

(https://www.hkexnews.hk)  (https://
www.singamas.com)

• The current members of the Nomination Committee include two 
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ho Teck Cheong 
(Chairman) and Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth and one executive Director 
being the Chairman of the Board, namely, Mr. Teo Siong Seng.

–
–

• The Chairman of the Nomination Committee reports the findings and 
recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

• In 2024, the Nomination Committee meeting held twice and the 
attendance of its individual members is summarized below:

2024

Committee members

Number of 
Attendance

Ho Teck Cheong  
 (Chairman)(appointed  
 on 26 June 2024)

 
 2024  
 6 26

0/0

Teo Siong Seng
 (re-designated as 
 member on 
 26 June 2024)

 2024  
 6 26
 

2/2

Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024)

 2024  
 6 26

0/0

Lau Ho Kit, Ivan
 (retired on 26 June 2024)  2024  

 6 26

2/2

Cheng Fu Kwok, David
 (retired on 26 June 2024)  2024  

 6 26

2/2

• The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources to 
discharge its duties. The Nomination Committee is accountable to the 
Board and minutes of meetings are circulated to the Board for records.
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B.3.1- 
B.3.3
(cont’d)

(c) a s s e s s  t h e  i n d e p e n d e n c e o f 
i n d e p e n d e n t  n o n - e x e c u t i v e 
directors; and

(d) make recommendations to the 
board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and 
succession planning for directors, 
in particular the chairman and 
the chief executive.

– The nomination committee should 
make available its terms of reference 
explaining its role and the authority 
d e l e g a t e d  t o  i t  b y  t h e  b o a r d  b y 
including them on the Stock Exchange 
website and the company’s website.

– The company should provide the 
nominat ion committee suf f ic ient 
resources to perform its duties. Where 
necessary, the nomination committee 
should seek independent professional 
advice, at the company’s expense, to 
perform its responsibilities.

• The following is a summary of the work of the Nomination Committee 
during the year under review:

(a) made recommendations to the Board and determined the policy 
on the select ion of indiv iduals nominated for directorships, 
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and assessed 
independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(b) identified suitable individual qualified to become Board member and 
make recommendation to the Board on the nominated individual for 
directorships;

(c) reviewed the terms of reference of Nomination Committee;

(d) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

(e) reviewed the nomination policy; and

(f) reviewed the size, structure and diversity of the Board, and assessed 
the balance of skills and experience of the Board as expedient with 
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the 
Company’s business.

• The Board has also adopted a nomination policy effective from 26 March 
2019 (“Nomination Policy”) setting out the criteria and procedures when 
considering candidates to be appointed and re- appointed as Directors.

2019 3 26

Nomination criteria

All new appointments and re-appointments of Directors are based on the 
following criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

(a) Integrity

(b) Independent mindedness

(c) Possession of core competencies that meet the current needs of the 
Company and the ability to complement the skills and competencies 
of the existing Directors
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B.3.1- 
B.3.3
(cont’d)

(d) Readiness to commit t ime and effort to carry out duties and 
responsibilities effectively

(e) A good track record of experience at a senior level in corporations/ 
organisations

(f) Financial knowledge

These criteria are for reference and not meant to be exhaustive and 
decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any 
person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the 
Nomination Committee for consideration of a proposed candidate by the 
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable 
candidates to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to 
the shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint 
as Directors to fill casual vacancies or as additional Directors. Proposed 
candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal information in 
relation to the candidates as required in Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. 
The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide additional 
information and documents, if considered necessary. In order to provide 
information of the candidates nominated by the Board to stand for election 
at a general meeting, a circular will be sent to shareholders. The names, brief 
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience), independence, 
proposed remuneration and any other information, as required pursuant to 
the applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed candidates will 
be included in the circular to shareholders. According to the Articles, the 
shareholders may also propose a person for election as a director, details of 
which are set out in the “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General 
Meeting, Put Forward Proposals at Annual General Meeting and Propose a 
Person for Election as a Director” of the Company and available on the website 
of the Company.

 
13.51(2)

( )
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B.3.4 Where the board proposes a resolution 
to elect an individual as an independent 
non-executive director at the general 
meeting, it should set out in the circular 
t o  s h a r e h o l d e r s  a n d / o r  e x p l a n a t o r y 
statement accompanying the notice of the 
relevant general meeting:

(a) the process used for identifying the 
individual and why the Board believes 
the individual should be elected and 
the reasons why i t  considers the 
individual to be independent;

(b) if the proposed independent non- 
executive director will be holding their 
seventh (or more) l isted company 
directorship, why the board believes 
the individual would still be able to 
devote sufficient time to the board;

(c) t h e  p e r s p e c t i v e s ,  s k i l l s  a n d 
experience that the individual can 
bring to the board; and

(d) how the individual contr ibutes to 
diversity of the board.

C • Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth will offer for re-election as the independent 
non-executive Director of the Company in the forthcoming AGM of the 
Company according to article 92 of the Articles.

92

The Company’s circular of AGM set out the information in considering the 
re-election of Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth, having due regard to the Board 
Diversity Policy and Nomination Policy and assessment of Mr. Lam’s 
independence.
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C. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES, DELEGATION AND BOARD PROCEEDINGS

C.1 Responsibilities of directors

Corporate Governance Principle

Every Director must always know their responsibilities as a Director of the Company and its conduct, business activities and 
development. Given the essential unitary nature of the board, non-executive directors have the same duties of care and skill and 
fiduciary duties as executive directors.

C.1.1 Newly appointed director of the company 
should receive a comprehensive, formal 
and tailored induction on appointment. 
Subsequently they should receive any 
briefing and professional development 
necessary to ensure that they have a 
proper understanding of the company’s 
operations and business and are fully 
aware of  their  responsibi l i t ies under 
statute and common law, the List ing 
R u l e s ,  l e g a l  a n d  o t h e r  r e g u l a t o r y 
requirements and the company’s business 
and governance policies.

C • On appointment, new Directors are given a comprehensive briefing and 
related materials of the Group’s business activities, induction into their 
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements.

• All Directors, including non-executive Directors, are regularly provided 
with comprehensive reports on the management’s strategic plans, 
updates on lines of business, financial information, etc.

• The Company Secretary is responsible for providing all Directors updated 
on Listing Rules and other applicable statutory requirements.

• Mr. Ng Wai Lim was appointed as a non-executive Director on 26 June 
2024. He obtained legal advice from A&O Shearman, a law firm qualified 
to advise on Hong Kong laws (“A&O Shearman”), on 20 June 2024. A&O 
Shearman certified that Mr. Ng has acknowledged to understand his 
obligations as a director of the Company.

2024 6 26 2024
6 20 A&O Shearman

A&O Shearman A&O Shearman

• Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 26 June 2024. He obtained legal advice from A&O 
Shearman on 20 June 2024. A&O Shearman certified that Mr. Lam has 
acknowledged to understand his obligations as a director of the Company.

2024 6 26
2024 6 20 A&O Shearman A&O 

Shearman

• Ms. Wong Sau Pik was appointed as an independent non-executive 
Director on 26 June 2024. She obtained legal advice from A&O 
Shearman on 21 June 2024. A&O Shearman certified that Ms. Wong 
has acknowledged to understand her obligations as a director of the 
Company.

2024 6 26
2024 6 21 A&O Shearman A&O 

Shearman
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C.1.2 The functions of non-executive directors 
include:

(a) participating in board meetings to 
bring an independent judgement to 
bear on issues of strategy, policy, 
p e r f o r m a n c e ,  a c c o u n t a b i l i t y , 
resources, key appointments and 
standards of conduct;

 

(b) taking the lead on potential conflicts 
of interests arise;

(c) serving on the audit, remuneration, 
nomination and other governance 
committees, if invited; and

(d) s c r u t i n i s i n g  t h e  c o m p a n y ’ s 
performance in achieving agreed 
corporate goals and objectives, and 
monitoring performance reporting.

C • Non-executive Directors are well aware of their functions and have 
been actively performing them. On an on-going basis, Directors review 
with management in respect of the Group’s strategic development and 
direction, emerging risks and opportunities available to the Group.

C.1.3 Board should establish written guidelines 
no less exacting than the Model Code for 
relevant employees in respect of their 
dealings in the company’s securities.

C • The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to 
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities 
transactions.

C3

• Having made specific enquiry of the Directors, all of the Directors have 
confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard set 
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

• Written guidelines no less exacting than the Model Code relating to 
securities transactions for relevant employees are set out in the “Code for 
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees” of the Company.
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C.1.4 A l l  d i r e c t o r s  s h o u l d  p a r t i c i p a t e  i n 
continuous professional development 
to develop and refresh their knowledge 
and skil ls. This is to ensure that their 
c o n t r i b u t i o n  t o  t h e  b o a r d  r e m a i n s 
informed and relevant. The company 
s h o u l d b e r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  a r r a n g i n g 
and funding suitable training, placing 
an appropriate emphasis on the roles, 
functions and duties of a listed company 
director.

C • As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the Directors are 
updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and 
other applicable regulatory requirements from time to time to ensure 
compliance with the same by all Directors. All Directors are encouraged 
to attend external forums or training courses on relevant topics which 
may count towards continuous professional development training.

• Pursuant to the Code, Directors should participate in continuous 
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and 
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains 
informed and relevant. For the year ended 31 December 2024, all 
Directors namely, Mr. Teo Siong Seng, Ms. Siu Wai Yee, Winnie, Ms. 
Chung Pui King, Rebecca, Mr. Ng Wai Lim, Mr. Ho Teck Cheong, Mr. 
Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth and Ms. Wong Sau Pik had confirmed that they 
had complied with the code provision C.1.4 of the Code by participating 
in appropriate continuous professional development activities either 
by attending training courses or by reading materials relevant to the 
Company’s business or to the Directors duties and responsibilities.

2024 12 31 (

)

C.1.4

C.1.5 Directors should disclose to the company 
at the time of their appointment, and in a 
timely manner for any change, the number 
a n d n a t u r e  o f  o f f i c e s  h e l d  i n  p u b l i c 
companies or organisations and other 
significant commitments. The identity of 
the public companies or organisations and 
an indication of the time involved should 
a lso be d isc losed. The board should 
determine for itself how frequently this 
disclosure should be made.

C • The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their 
appointment and at least once a year thereafter the number and nature 
of offices held in public companies or organisations and other significant 
commitments, identifying the public companies or organisations involved.
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C.1.6 Independent non-executive directors and 
other non-executive directors, as equal 
board members, should give the board 
and any committees on which they serve 
the benefit of their skills, expertise and 
varied backgrounds and qualifications 
through regular attendance and active 
part ic ipat ion. General ly,  they should 
also attend general meetings to gain and 
develop a balanced understanding of the 
views of shareholders.

C • There is satisfactory attendance at Board meetings, Board Committee 
meetings, the meetings between the Chairman and the independent non-
executive Directors and the general meetings during the year. Please 
refer to B.3.1-B.3.3, C.5.1, D.3.1, E.1.2, C.2.7 and F.2.2 for details.

B.3.1-B.3.3, C.5.1, D.3.1, E.1.2, C.2.7 F.2.2

• Extent of  part ic ipat ion and contr ibut ion should be v iewed both 
quantitatively and qualitatively.

• All non-executive Directors attended the AGM held on 26 June 2024.
2024 6 26

C.1.7 Independent non-executive directors and 
other non-executive directors should make 
a positive contribution to the development 
of the company’s strategy and policies 
through independent, constructive and 
informed comments.

C • Please refer to C.1.6 above.
C.1.6

C.1.8 Arrange appropriate insurance cover 
in respect of legal action against the 
directors.

C • The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and Officers Liability 
insurance coverage for its Directors and officers.

C.2 Chairman and Chief Executive

Corporate Governance Principle

There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the management of the Board and the day-to-day management of business 
of the Company to ensure a balance of power and authority.

C.2.1 – T h e r o l e s  o f  c h a i r m a n a n d c h i e f 
executive should be separated and 
should not be performed by the same 
individual.

 

– T h e  d i v i s i o n  o f  r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s 
between the chairman and chief 
e x e c u t i v e  s h o u l d  b e  c l e a r l y 
established and set out in writing.

E • Mr. Teo Siong Seng took up both roles as the Chairman of the Board and 
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Board considers that 
this structure has the advantage of a strong and consistent leadership 
which is conducive to making and implementing decisions efficiently and 
consistently.
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C.2.2 The chairman should ensure that a l l 
directors are properly briefed on issues 
arising at board meetings.

C • With the assistance of the executive Directors, the management and 
the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors 
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and receive 
adequate documents and information about the Group in a timely 
manner.

C.2.3 The chairman should be responsible for 
ensuring that directors receive, in a timely 
manner, adequate information which must 
be accurate, clear, complete and reliable.

C • The Board papers including supporting analysis and related background 
information are normally sent to the Directors at least three working days 
before the regular Board meetings.

• Company Secretary acts as a co-ordinator to facilitate the communication 
between the Directors to ensure that queries raised and clarification 
sought by the Directors are dealt with and further supporting information 
and/or documentation is provided as appropriate.

C.2.4 – T h e  c h a i r m a n  s h o u l d  p r o v i d e 
leadership for the board.

– The chairman should ensure that the 
board works effectively and performs 
its responsibilities, and that all key 
and appropriate issues are discussed 
by it in a timely manner.

 

– The chairman should be primarily 
r e s p o n s i b l e  f o r  d r a w i n g  u p  a n d 
approving the agenda for each board 
meeting. The chairman should take 
into account, where appropriate, 
any matters proposed by the other 
directors for inclusion in the agenda. 
The chai rman may de legate th is 
responsibility to a designated director 
or the company secretary.

C • The Chairman of the Board is an executive Director who is responsible for 
leading and effectively managing the Board.

• The Chairman of the Board determines the broad strategic direction of 
the Group in consultation with the Board and is responsible for the high- 
level oversight of management.

• All Directors are consulted as to whether there were any matters that 
would be proposed for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman of the 
Board designates the Company Secretary to prepare the agenda for the 
Board meetings and consider including in the agenda matters proposed 
by other Directors (if any).

• With the support of the executive Directors and the Company Secretary, 
the Chairman ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on all key 
and appropriate issues on a timely manner.

C.2.5 T h e  c h a i r m a n  s h o u l d  t a k e  p r i m a r y 
responsibi l i ty for ensur ing that good 
corporate governance pract ices and 
procedures are established.

C • The Chairman of the Board, with the support of the Company Secretary, 
takes primary responsibility to establish good corporate governance 
practices and procedures of the Company.
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C.2.6 – The chairman should encourage all 
directors to make a full and active 
contribution to the board’s affairs and 
take the lead to ensure that it acts in 
the best interests of the company.

– The chai rman should encourage 
directors with different views to voice 
their concerns, allow sufficient time 
for discussion of issues and ensure 
that board decisions fair ly reflect 
board consensus.

C • The Chairman meets with the Directors regularly to discuss various 
matters of the Group and encourages all Directors to express their views 
relating to the management of the Group.

C.2.7 The chairman should at least annually 
hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence 
of other directors.

C • The Chairman keeps open dialogue with individual independent non- 
executive Directors to ensure effective communication. In addition to 
regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board had met with the 
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the other 
Directors.
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C.2.8 T h e  c h a i r m a n  s h o u l d  e n s u r e  t h a t 
a p p r o p r i a t e  s t e p s  a r e  t a k e n  t o 
provide effective communication with 
shareholders and that their views are 
communicated to the board as a whole.

C • The Company provides updated information of  the Group to a l l 
shareholders when it becomes available and appropriate, through the 
publication of interim and annual reports, circulars, notices, media 
releases or other means in compliance with the legal and regulatory 
requirements. The Company has made such information available 
on the Company’s website (https://www.singamas.com) as well as on 
an independent website provider (http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/ 
singamas). The purpose is to provide our shareholders an alternative 
channel to access the Group’s information easily and reach the potential 
shareholders globally.

(https://www.singamas.com)  
(http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/singamas)

• Apart from providing a forum for Directors’ dialogue with shareholders 
in the Company’s general meetings during the year, the Company 
continuously enhances shareholders’ communications by holding 
press and/or analyst conferences during any reporting period or year. 
In addition, a “Frequently Asked Questions” section is included in the 
annual report providing its shareholders with more clear and concise 
information that may be of common concern. Besides, the Company has 
responded to letters and telephone enquiries from shareholders and 
potential shareholders throughout the year under review.

• Procedures for shareholders to convene a general meeting 
Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the total voting rights of all 
shareholders of the Company having a right to vote at general meetings 
can deposit a written request at 15th Floor, Allied Kajima Building, 
No.138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, the registered office of 
the Company, for the attention of the Company Secretary. The written 
request must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with 
at the meeting, signed by the shareholders concerned and may consist 
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of those 
shareholders.

5%
138

15
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C.2.8
(cont’d)

• Procedures for putting forward proposals at AGM
Shareholders holding not less than 2.5% of the total voting rights of all 
shareholders having at the date of the request the right to vote at the 
AGM; or not less than 50 shareholders holding shares in the Company 
who have a right to vote at the resolution of the AGM can submit a written 
request to move a resolution at the AGM. The written request must state 
the resolution, signed by all the shareholders concerned and may consist 
of several documents in like form (which between them contain the 
signatures of all the shareholders concerned). The written request must 
be deposited at 15th Floor, Allied Kajima Building, No.138 Gloucester 
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, the registered office of the Company, for 
the attention of the Company Secretary not less than six weeks before 
the meeting to which it relates or if later, the time at which notice is 
given of that meeting. Shareholders holding not less than 2.5% of the 
total voting rights of all shareholders having a relevant right to vote, or 
at least 50 shareholders who have a relevant right to vote, may request 
the Company to circulate, to shareholders of the Company entitled to 
receive notice of a general meeting, a statement of not more than 1,000 
words with respect to (a) a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution 
to be dealt with at that meeting, or (b) other business to be dealt with at 
that meeting. The request must be deposited at 15th Floor, Allied Kajima 
Building, No.138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, the registered 
office of the Company, identify the statement to be circulated, signed by 
all the shareholders concerned and be received by the Company not less 
than seven days before the meeting to which it relates.

2.5% 50

138
15

2.5% 50
1,000

(a)
 (b)

138 15
7
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C.2.8
(cont’d)

• Shareholders’ enquiries
Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings 
to the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor 
Services Limited. Shareholders and the investment community may at 
any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent 
that such information is publicly available. Shareholders may also refer 
to the contacts under “Investor Relations” section in the Company’s 
website (https://www.singamas.com) for enquiries. Shareholders have 
the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries shall be in writing 
and sent by post to the registered office of the Company or by e-mail to 
info@singamas.com for attention of the Company Secretary.

–  
 
  

(https://www.singamas.com)   

 
info@singamas.com

• Shareholders’ communication policy
The Board established a shareholders communication policy and made 
it available on the Company’s website. This policy aims to set out the 
provisions with the objective of ensuring that the Company’s shareholders, 
both individual and institutional, and, in appropriate circumstances, 
the investment community at large, are provided with ready, equal 
and timely access to balanced and understandable information about 
the Company (including its financial performance, strategic goals and 
plans, material developments, governance and risk profile), in order to 
enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and 
to allow shareholders and the investment community to engage actively 
with the Company. Shareholders may also, at any time, make enquires 
and communicate their views on various matter affecting the Company 
by writing to the Company Secretary or directly by raising questions at 
general meetings.

The Board will review the policy on annual basis and considered the 
policy is still effective.
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C.2.9 The chairman should promote a culture 
of openness and debate by facilitating the 
effective contribution of non-executive 
d i rectors  in  par t icu lar  and ensur ing 
constructive relations between executive 
and non-executive directors.

C • The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and actively encourages 
Directors with different views to voice their opinion and be fully engaged 
in the Board’s affairs so as to contribute to the Board’s functions.

• Effective contribution of non-executive Directors and communication 
between executive and non-executive Directors are achieved through 
discussions in Board meetings, various Board committee meetings and 
other Board activities/programmes.

C.3 Management functions

Corporate Governance Principle

The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for Board approval and those delegated to management.

C.3.1 When the board delegates aspects of 
i t s  m a n a g e m e n t  a n d a d m i n i s t r a t i o n 
functions to management, it must, at the 
same time, give clear directions as to 
the management’s powers, in particular, 
where management should report back 
and obtain prior board approval before 
making decisions or entering into any 
commitments on the company’s behalf.

C • Management meetings are held periodically where executive Directors 
and heads of senior management of the respective business divisions are 
present and clear directions are given as to the management’s powers.

• Any issue that is considered to be material will be referred to the Board 
for approval.

• Any materials matters requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules or 
other applicable rules or regulations, appropriate disclosure will be 
made and where necessary, circular will be prepared and shareholders’ 
approval will be obtained in accordance with the requirements of the 
applicable rules and regulations.

C.3.2 Formalise functions reserved to the board 
and those delegated to management and 
to review those arrangements periodically 
to ensure that they remain appropriate to 
the company’s needs.

C • Under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer who is also the 
Chairman of the Company, management is responsible for the day- to- 
day operations of the Group.

• The Company has established clear terms of reference for the Board 
which are reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate.
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C.3.3 Directors  should c lear ly  understand 
delegation arrangements in place. The 
company should have formal letters of 
appointment for directors sett ing out 
the key terms and condit ions of their 
appointment.

 

C • Directors are given formal letter of appointment setting out the key terms 
and conditions of their respective appointment. Each newly appointed 
Director will also be issued with a letter of appointment.

C.4 Board Committees

Corporate Governance Principle

Board Committees should be formed with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties.

C.4.1 Where board committees are established 
to deal with matters, the board should give 
them sufficiently clear terms of reference 
to enable them to perform their functions 
properly.

C • The Board has established four Board Committees, namely, Audit 
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and 
Management Committee, each of them with specific terms of reference. 
Please refer to B.3.1 – B.3.3, C.3.2, D.3.3 and E.1.3 for details.

B.3.1 
– B.3.3, C.3.2, D.3.3 E.1.3

C.4.2 T h e  t e r m s  o f  r e f e r e n c e  o f  b o a r d 
committees should require them to report 
back to the board on their decisions or 
recommendations, unless there are legal 
or regulatory restrictions on their ability to 
do so (such as a restriction on disclosure 
due to regulatory requirements).

C • B o a r d C o m m i t t e e s  r e p o r t  t o  t h e  B o a r d o f  t h e i r  d e c i s i o n s  a n d 
recommendations at the Board meetings.
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C.5 Conduct of board proceedings and supply of and access to information

Corporate Governance Principle

The Company should ensure directors can participate in board proceedings in a meaningful and effective manner. Directors should 
be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in the form and quality to enable them to make an informed decision and 
perform their duties and responsibilities.

C.5.1 Regular board meetings should be held 
at least four times a year involving active 
participation, either in person or through 
electronic means of communication, of 
majority of directors.

C • The Board held six meetings in 2024. The Board would meet more 
frequently as and when required.

2024

• The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, one non- 
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. No 
alternative Director was appointed during 2024.

2024

• The Board members for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to 
the date of this annual report and details of Directors’ attendance at the 
Board meetings held for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out 
below:

2024 12 31
2024 12 31

Name of Directors

Number of 
attendance

Executive Directors
Teo Siong Seng
 (Chairman and Chief
 Executive Officer)

 
 

6/6

Siu Wai Yee, Winnie
 (Chief Operating Officer)   

6/6

Chung Pui King, Rebecca 6/6
 (Chief Financial Officer  
 and Company Secretary)

 
 

Non-executive Directors
Ng Wai Lim
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024) 

 2024 6 26
 

4/4

Lau Man Yee, Vanessa
 (resigned on  
 1 November 2024)

 2024 11 1
 

2/4

Independent
 Non-executive Directors
Ho Teck Cheong 6/6
Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024)

 2024 6 26
 

4/4

Wong Sau Pik
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024) 

 2024 6 26
 

4/4

Cheng Fu Kwok, David 2/2
 (retired on 26 June 2024)     2024 6 26

 
Lau Ho Kit, Ivan

 2024 6 26
 

2/2
 (retired on 26 June 2024)    
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C.5.1
(cont’d)

• The Directors may attend meetings in person, by telephone conference or 
by means of a similar communication equipment or by their alternate in 
accordance with the Articles. An updated and consolidated version of the 
Articles (both English and Chinese versions) are available on the websites 
of the Company (https://www.singamas.com) and Stock Exchange 
(https://www.hkexnews.hk).

(https://www.singamas.com)
(https://www.hkexnews.hk)

C.5.2 All directors are given an opportunity to 
include matters in the agenda for regular 
board meetings.

C • All Directors are consulted and welcomed to include any matter in the 
agenda before the agenda for each regular Board meeting is issued.

 

C.5.3 – At least 14 days notice for regular 
board meetings.

– Reasonable notice for other board 
meetings.

C • The Company gives at least 14 days formal notice before each regular 
board meeting and gives reasonable notice for other board meetings. 

 

C.5.4 Minutes of board meetings and meetings 
of board committees should be kept by a 
duly appointed secretary of the meeting 
and should be open for inspection at any 
reasonable time on reasonable notice by 
any director.

C • The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of the Board, 
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Management Committee 
meetings. Another duly appointed secretary is responsible for taking 
minutes of Remuneration Committee meetings.

• Board and Board Committee minutes/resolutions are sent to all Directors/
Board Committee members within a reasonable time after each Board 
and Board Committee meeting.

• Board and Board Committee minutes/resolutions are made available for 
inspection by Directors/Board Committee members at the registered 
office of the Company.
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C.5.5 – M i n u t e s  o f  b o a r d  m e e t i n g s  a n d 
meetings of board committees should 
record in sufficient detail the matters 
considered and decisions reached.

– Draft and final versions of minutes for 
all directors to comment and to keep 
records within a reasonable time after 
the board meeting.

C • Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings record 
contain sufficient details of matters considered and decisions reached 
including concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by the Directors.

• Directors are given an opportunity to comment on draft Board meeting 
minutes and draft Board committee meeting minutes.

• Final version of Board meeting minutes and Board committee meeting 
minutes are placed on record within a reasonable time after the meetings.

C.5.6 – A procedure agreed by the board to 
enable directors, upon reasonable 
r e q u e s t ,  t o  s e e k  i n d e p e n d e n t 
professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances, at the company’s 
expense.

– The board should resolve to provide 
separate independent professional 
advice to directors to assist them 
perform their duties to the company.

C • Directors have free access to the legal counsel of the Company and if 
needed and upon request, Directors are allowed to seek independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expenses.

C.5.7 – I f  a  substant ia l  shareholder or  a 
director has a conflict of interest in a 
matter to be considered by the board 
which the board has determined to be 
material, the matter should be dealt 
with by a physical board meeting 
rather than a written resolution.

– Independent non-executive directors 
who, and whose close associates, 
h a v e n o m a t e r i a l  i n t e r e s t  i n  t h e 
transaction should be present at that 
board meeting.

C • Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions 
so that all Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) 
can note and comment, as appropriate, the matters before approval is 
granted.

• Director must declare his/her interest in the matters to be passed in the 
resolution, if applicable.

• Material transactions with a substantial shareholder or a Director being 
a connected person, in general, would be considered at physical Board 
meeting whereat the Directors, including independent non-executive 
Directors, may consider, if appropriate, granting approval in principle for 
the proposed transactions.



572024年年報 • 勝獅貨櫃企業有限公司

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

Code Ref. Code Provisions

Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

C.5.8 Send agenda and full board papers to all 
directors at least 3 days before regular 
board or board committee meetings.

C • Board/Board Committee papers are circulated not less than three working 
days before the regular Board/Board Committee meetings to enable the 
Directors/Board Committee members to make informed decisions on 
matters to be raised at the Board/Board Committee meetings.

C.5.9 – Management has an obligation to 
supply the board and its committees 
w i t h  a d e q u a t e  a n d  r e l i a b l e 
information in a t imely manner to 
enable it to make informed decisions.

– The board and individual directors 
s h o u l d  h a v e  s e p a r a t e  a n d 
independent access to the company’s 
s e n i o r  m a n a g e m e n t  f o r  m a k i n g 
further enquiries where necessary.

 

C • The Company Secretary who is also the Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company attends all regular Board meetings to advise on corporate 
governance, statutory compliance, and accounting and financial matters, 
as appropriate.

• The Directors have separate and independent access to the Company’s 
senior management to keep themselves abreast of business activities, 
financial performance, internal audit and internal control progress in the 
Group.

C.5.10 – Al l  d irectors are ent i t led to have 
access to board papers and related 
materials.

– Queries raised by directors should 
receive a prompt and full response, if 
possible.

C • Board papers and minutes are made available for inspection by Directors 
and committee members. Senior management of the Company has taken 
appropriate steps to respond promptly and fully to any queries raised by 
Directors.
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C.6 COMPANY SECRETARY

Corporate Governance Principle

The Company Secretary plays an important role in supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow within the Board and that 
Board policy and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or 
the Chief Executive Officer on governance matters and should also facilitate induction and professional development of Directors.

C.6.1 The company secretary should be an 
employee of the company and have day-
to-day knowledge of the company’s affairs.

C • Ms. Chung Pui King, Rebecca (a certified public accountant), who was 
appointed as the Company Secretary on 10 September 2013, is also an 
executive Director and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, her 
biographical details are set out under the section headed “Directors and 
Senior Management Profile”.

2013 9 10

• The Company Secretary ensures the Board meetings are conducted 
under appropriate procedures.

• The Company Secretary prepares written resolutions or minutes and 
keeps records of substantive matters discussed and decisions resolved at 
all Board and Board Committee meetings.

• During 2024, the Company Secretary undertook not less than 15 hours of 
professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

2024 15

C.6.2 The board should approve the selection, 
appointment or dismissal of the company 
secretary.

C • The selection, appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary is 
approved by the Board.

C.6.3 The company secretary should report 
to the board chairman and/or the chief 
executive.

C • The Company Secretary reports to the Board through the Chairman whilst 
all members of the Board have access to the advice of the Company 
Secretary.

C.6.4 All directors should have access to the 
adv ice and serv ices o f  the company 
secretary to ensure that board procedures, 
a n d  a l l  a p p l i c a b l e  l a w ,  r u l e s  a n d 
regulations, are followed.

C • All Directors have full access to the advice and services of the Company 
Secretary and legal and professional consultants of the Company, 
whenever necessary, to ensure compliance with all applicable law, rules 
and regulations, and corporate governance practices.
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D AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

D.1 Financial reporting

Corporate Governance Principle

The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects.

D.1.1 Management should provide sufficient 
e x p l a n a t i o n  a n d  i n f o r m a t i o n  t o  t h e 
board to enable it to make an informed 
a s s e s s m e n t  o f  f i n a n c i a l  a n d  o t h e r 
information put before it for approval.

C • Directors are provided with a review of the Group’s major business 
activities and key financial information on a quarterly basis in each Board 
meeting.

D.1.2 Management should provide all members 
of the board with monthly updates giving a 
balanced and understandable assessment 
of the company’s performance, position 
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable 
the board as a whole and each director to 
discharge their duties.

C • Monthly updates have been provided to all members of the Board, for 
the purpose of providing a balanced and understandable assessment of 
the Company’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient detail 
and to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their 
duties.
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D.1.3 – The directors should acknowledge 
in the Corporate Governance Report 
their responsibility for preparing the 
accounts.

– T h e r e s h o u l d  b e a  s t a t e m e n t  b y 
the auditors about their reporting 
responsibilities in the auditor’s report 
on the financial statements.

– Unless it is inappropriate to assume 
that the company wil l continue in 
business, the directors should prepare 
the accounts on a going concern 
basis, with supporting assumptions or 
qualifications as necessary.

– Where the directors are aware of 
material uncertainties relat ing to 
events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s 
a b i l i t y  t o  c o n t i n u e  a s  a  g o i n g 
concern, they should be clearly and 
prominently disclosed and discussed 
at length in the Corporate Governance 
Report.

C • All Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for overseeing the 
preparation of financial statements of each financial period, which give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and 
cashflow for the year.

• In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2024, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and 
applied them consistently, adopted all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards which are in conformity to the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, made judgments and estimates that are prudent 
and reasonable and prepared the accounts on the going concern basis.

2024 12 31

• With the assistance of the Company’s Finance Department which is 
under the supervision of the Chief Financial Officer who is a professional 
accountant, the Directors ensure the preparation of the financial 
statements of the Group are in accordance with statutory requirements 
and applicable accounting standards.

• The Directors also ensure the publication of the financial statements of 
the Group is in a timely manner.

• The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding their reporting 
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the 
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 112 to 119 of this annual report.

112 119

• The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.



612024年年報 • 勝獅貨櫃企業有限公司

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

Code Ref. Code Provisions

Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

D.1.4 The board should present a balanced, 
clear and understandable assessment 
in annual and interim reports, and other 
f inancial disclosures required by the 
Listing Rules. It should also do so for 
reports to regulators and information 
disclosed under statutory requirements.

C • The Board aims to present a clear, balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Group’s performance and position in all shareholder 
communications.

• The Board is aware of and updated with the statutory requirements 
under the applicable rules and regulations. The Board aims to present 
a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s 
position and prospects. The Company Secretary and key officers of the 
Company Secretarial Department work closely and in consultation with 
legal advisers to review the materiality and sensitivity of transactions and 
proposed transactions and advise the Board accordingly.

D.2 Risk management and internal control

Corporate Governance Principle

The board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the issuer’s 
strategic objectives, and ensuring that the issuer establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal 
control systems. Such risks would include, amongst others, material risk relating to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”). 
The board should oversee management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control 
systems, and management should provide a confirmation to the board on the effectiveness of these systems.

D.2.1 The board should oversee the Company’s 
risk management and internal control 
systems on an ongoing basis, ensure 
that a review of the effectiveness of the 
Company’s and i ts  subsidiar ies’  r isk 
management and internal control systems 
has been conducted at least annually and 
report to shareholders that it has done so 
in its Corporate Governance Report. The 
review should cover all material controls, 
inc luding f inancia l ,  operat iona l  and 
compliance controls.

C • Please refer to D.2.3 and D.2.4 below for the details.
D.2.3 D.2.4
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D.2.2 T h e  b o a r d ’ s  a n n u a l  r e v i e w  s h o u l d , 
i n  p a r t i c u l a r ,  e n s u r e  t h e  a d e q u a c y 
of resources, staff qual i f icat ions and 
experience, training programmes and 
budget of the company’s accounting, 
internal audit and f inancial reporting 
funct ion, as wel l  as those relat ing to 
the company’s ESG performance and 
reporting.

C • The Board has conducted annual review on the adequacy of resources, 
qualifications and experience of the Company’s accounting, internal audit 
and financial reporting together with ESG performance and reporting 
staff as well as their training programmes and budget and considers as 
adequate.

D.2.3 The board’s annual review should, in 
particular, consider:

(a) the changes, since the last annual 
review, in the nature and extent of 
significant risks (including ESG risks), 
and the company’s ability to respond 
to changes in its business and the 
external environment;

(b) the scope and quality of management’s 
ongoing monitoring of risks (including 
ESG risks) and of the internal control 
systems, and where applicable, the 
work of its internal audit function and 
other assurance providers;

(c) t h e  e x t e n t  a n d  f r e q u e n c y  o f 
communication of monitoring results 
to the board (or board committee(s)) 
which enables it to assess control of 
the company and the effectiveness of 
risk management;

C • For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board, with the assistance of 
the Audit Committee, the Group’s Internal Audit Function, the Enterprise 
Risk Management Committee and the management, has conducted 
regular review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls 
systems, including financial, operational and compliance control and risk 
management systems and no irregularity or material weakness was noted 
within any function or process. The Board considers the risk management 
and internal control systems are effective and adequate for the Group 
as a whole. The Board further considers that there was no material issue 
relating to the controls, including financial, operational and compliance 
controls and risk management functions of the Group. Please refer to 
D.2.4 below for the details.

2024 12 31

 D.2.4
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D.2.3
(cont’d)

(d) s i g n i f i c a n t  c o n t r o l  f a i l i n g s  o r 
w e a k n e s s e s  t h a t  h a v e  b e e n 
identified during the period. Also, 
t h e  e x t e n t  t o  w h i c h  t h e y  h a v e 
resulted in unforeseen outcomes or 
contingencies that have had, could 
have had, or may in the future have, 
a material impact on the company’s 
financial performance or condition; 
and

(e) the effectiveness of the company’s 
processes for financial reporting and 
Listing Rule compliance.

D.2.4 The company should disclose, in the 
Corporate Governance Report, a narrative 
statement on how they have complied with 
the risk management and internal control 
code provis ions dur ing the report ing 
period. In particular, they should disclose:

(a) the process used to identify, evaluate 
and manage significant risks;

(b) t h e  m a i n  f e a t u r e s  o f  t h e  r i s k 
management and internal control 
systems;

C RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Purpose

• The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective risk 
management and internal control systems of the Group, and for reviewing 
their design, operational adequacy and effectiveness.

• The Company has adopted a set of comprehensive policies, standards and 
procedures in areas of operational, financial and risk controls for ensuring 
the smooth operation of business in order to facilitate the effective and 
efficient accomplishment of corporate goals and objectives by allowing 
it to respond appropriately to significant business, operational, financial, 
compliance, ESG and other risks, maintaining proper records for 
provision of reliable financial and corporate information, safeguarding the 
Group’s assets and shareholder’s interests, ensuring all the transactions 
are executed in accordance with the management’s authorization, 
and complying with the requirements under the applicable rules and 
regulations, and also with the Group’s internal policies and conduct. 
However, the risk management and internal control systems are designed 
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss and to mitigate, rather than eliminate, the risks of 
failure in operational systems when business objectives are being sought.



64 Singamas Container Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2024

Corporate Governance Report

Code Ref. Code Provisions

Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

D.2.4
(cont’d)

(c) a n  a c k n o w l e d g e m e n t  b y  t h e 
board that it is responsible for the 
r i s k  m a n a g e m e n t  a n d  i n t e r n a l 
c o n t r o l  s y s t e m s  a n d  r e v i e w i n g 
their effectiveness. It should also 
e x p l a i n  t h a t  s u c h  s y s t e m s  a r e 
des igned to  manage rather  than 
e l i m i n a t e  t h e  r i s k  o f  f a i l u r e  t o 
achieve business object ives, and 
can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss;

(d) t h e  p r o c e s s  u s e d  t o  r e v i e w  t h e 
effectiveness of the risk management 
and internal control systems and 
to resolve material internal control 
defects; and

(e) the procedures and internal controls 
for the handling and dissemination of 
inside information.

Framework

• The Company has established a reasonable, effective and balanced 
internal control and risk management systems, with clear division of work 
among the Board, the Audit Committee, the Enterprise Risk Management 
Committee, the management, functional departments and business 
departments within the structure of the entire internal control and risk 
management systems.

• The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effect ive 
implementation of internal control and risk management. The Audit 
Committee is responsible for assist ing the Board in ful f i l l ing i ts 
responsibilities for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Audit 
Committee, through discussion with management and engagement of 
internal audit team of PIL, to review the effectiveness of internal control 
and risk management systems, including financial, operational and 
compliance controls and risk management functions, and to report to the 
Board any significant risk issues. The Board will provide the view on the 
effectiveness of the systems after reviewed the works and findings of the 
Audit Committee.

• Relevant executive directors and senior management have been 
delegated with specific authorities and responsibilities for monitoring the 
performance of designated operating business units. The management is 
responsible for organizing and steering the daily operation of the internal 
control of the Company. The management would report the business 
plans and development to the Board on a quarterly basis. This helps 
the Board to monitor the Group’s business operations and plan on a 
timely basis in response to the changes in business environment. Each 
operating business unit also maintains internal controls and procedures 
appropriate to its structure and business environment whilst complying 
with the Group’s policies, standards and guidelines.
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D.2.4
(cont’d)

Internal Control System

• The Group’s Internal Audit Function has been performed by internal audit 
team of PIL which undertakes regular reviews of the Group’s operations 
and system of internal controls. By adopting a risk-based approach 
and operating on an on-going basis to evaluate risk level on control 
environment, the annual audit plans which covers major activities and 
processes of the Group’s operating business unit on a rotational basis 
was submitted to Audit Committee for approval. Moreover, ad hoc reviews 
will be performed on specific areas of concern identified by the Audit 
Committee and the management from time to time.

• Depending on the nature of businesses and risk exposure of individual 
business units, the scope of work performed by Internal Audit covers all 
material controls including financial, operational and risk management 
functions. During the year, Internal Audit deeply inspected, investigated 
and assessed a subsidiary and a joint venture of the Company. It has 
reviewed and assessed their systems on procurement, operation flow, 
internal control, f inancial, contracting, safety and environmental 
protection, human resources and administration etc.

• The internal audit findings are preliminary discussed at management 
level and the follow up actions are taken in response to the Internal 
Audit’s recommendations. The internal audit findings are also presented 
to the Audit Committee and the Board on the immediate meetings 
following the issue of the internal audit report. The responsible heads 
of departments will be notified of the control deficiencies noted for 
rectification. The management would urge the relevant business units to 
implement rectification measures in a timely manner, so as to ensure the 
internal control system of the Company is effective. Follow-up reviews 
will be conducted in due course and discussed at the Audit Committee 
Meeting and Board Meeting to ensure that audit recommendations are 
being properly implemented. During the year, corrective actions were 
taken based on the audit findings and no significant control failure which 
might affect shareholder’s interest has identified. The Audit Committee 
reviewed all internal audit findings, management responses and the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls. Significant risk 
issues and its recommendations, if any, are referred to the Board for 
consideration. No suspected frauds and irregularities, internal control 
deficiencies or suspected infringement of laws, rules and regulations have 
come to the Audit Committee’s attention to cause the Audit Committee to 
believe that the system of internal controls is inadequate.
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D.2.4
(cont’d)

Group’s risk management

• The Board oversees the Group’s risk management system and reviewing 
its adequacy and effectiveness. The Group has set up an Enterprise Risk 
Management Committee, composed of senior management and heads 
of key corporate functions, with a mandate for overall risk management 
activities of the Group. The Enterprise Risk Management Committee’s 
main responsibilities include a comprehensive understanding of the 
Company’s major r isk exposures and its management status and 
maintaining the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management system.

• The Enterprise Risk Management Committee is also responsible for 
making recommendations to the Board on the Group’s risk management 
matters such as the overall objectives and policies as well as its working 
mechanisms of the Group’s risk management system, the establishment 
of individual risk management unit at company level, risk assessment of 
major operating activities, provide recommendations for the mitigation of 
major risks and to carry out any other assignments from the Board.

 

• The Enterprise Risk Management Committee reports to the Board and 
Audit Committee at least twice a year. It will report on the Group’s 
risk management activities, risk positions and management measures 
for mitigation of major risks noted. The Enterprise Risk Management 
Committee will also submit the risk evaluation reports which evaluate 
the risk level of major activities and processes of the Group’s operating 
business with focuses on financial risks, operational risks, strategic risks 
and market risks to the Board and Audit Committee twice a year.

• With the support of Enterprise Risk Management Committee, Audit 
Committee and the management, the Board identifies and assesses the 
key risks, existing or emerging, facing the Group, and formulates relevant 
strategies and measures to mitigate the risk exposure.
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D.2.4
(cont’d)

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

• In order to ensure compliance with the continuous disclosure obligation 
under the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange and the disclosure of 
inside information of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Board has adopted an “Inside Information 
Disclosure Policy” effective from 29 June 2016 which sets out the 
guidelines to the directors, officers and the employees of the Group, who 
is likely to be in possession of the unpublished inside information to (a) 
monitor the Company’s business developments so that any potential 
inside information is promptly identified and report to the Board to 
enable them be timely informed of any circumstances or development 
that may constitute inside information of the Company and to make 
timely decisions on disclosure, if necessary; and (b) take reasonable 
precautions to preserve confidentiality of inside information and the 
relevant announcement (if applicable) before publication.

571
2016 6 29

(a) 

(b)

D.2.5 The company should have an internal 
audi t  funct ion.  Company wi thout  an 
internal audit function should review 
the need for  one on an annual  basis 
and should d isc lose the reasons for 
the absence of such a function in the 
Corporate Governance Report.

C • Please refer to D.2.4 above for the details.
D.2.4
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D.2.6 T h e  c o m p a n y  s h o u l d  e s t a b l i s h  a 
whist leblowing pol icy and system for 
employees and those who deal with the 
company (e.g. customers and suppliers) 
to raise concerns, in confidence and 
anonymity, with the audit committee (or 
any designated committee comprising a 
majority of independent non-executive 
directors) about possible improprieties in 
any matter related to the company.

C • The Board adopted a whistle blowing policy on 30 March 2017. It provides 
employees and the stakeholders with reporting channels on whistle 
blowing matters to raise concerns about any suspected misconduct, fraud 
and inappropriate, unethical or unfair treatment in the supply chain, as 
well as to notify their department head or report to the Chief Executive 
who should report to the Audit Committee when appropriate.

2017 3 30

D.2.7 The Company should establish policy(ies) 
and system(s) that promote and support 
anti-corruption laws and regulations.

C The Company arranges for its employees to attend the anti-corruption and 
ethic training at least once a year to enhance employees’ awareness. The 
Company’s staff manual also sets out applicable anti-corruption rules for 
employees to follow.
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D.3 Audit Committee

Corporate Governance Principle

The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements to consider how it will apply financial reporting, risk management 
and internal control principles and maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors.

D.3.1 – Ful l  minutes o f  audi t  commit tee 
meetings should be kept by a duly 
appointed secretary of the meeting.

– Draft and final versions of minutes 
s h o u l d  b e s e n t  t o  a l l  c o m m i t t e e 
members for  the i r  comment and 
records, within a reasonable t ime 
after the meeting.

C • The Board has established the Audit Committee to investigate and handle 
matters within its terms of reference and make recommendations to the 
Board for any necessary improvement.

• The current members of the Audit Committee include two independent 
non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Wong Sau Pik (Chairman) and Mr. 
Ho Teck Cheong, and one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Ng Wai 
Lim, of which at least one independent non-executive Director possesses 
the appropriate professional qualifications of accounting or related 
financial management expertise.

• The Chairman of  the Audit  Committee reports the f indings and 
recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

• The Audit Committee has regular meetings at least twice a year. In 
2024, a total of three meetings were convened and held with satisfactory 
attendance. The details of Audit Committee members’ attendance in 
2024 are as follows:

2024

2024

Committee members

Number of
 Attendance

Wong Sau Pik (Chairman)
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024) 

 2024 6 26
 

2/2

Lau Ho Kit, Ivan (Chairman)  
 (retired on 26 June 2024  2024 6 26

 

1/1

Ho Teck Cheong 3/3
Ng Wai Lim
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024)

 2024 6 26
 

2/2

Cheng Fu Kwok, David
 (retired on 26 June 2024)  2024 6 26

 

1/1 

Lau Man Yee, Vanessa
 (resigned on  
 1 November 2024)

 2024 11 1
  

1/2

• The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and minutes of 
meetings are circulated to the Board for information.
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D.3.1
(cont’d)

• The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee during the 
year under review:

(a) reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 and for the six months ended 30 June 
2024;

2023 12 31 2024 6 30

(b) reviewed the external auditor’s Group audit plan and the letters of 
management representation;

(c) reviewed the findings and recommendations of the internal auditor;

(d) considered and approved the 2024 audit  fees and terms of 
engagement for the external auditor;

2024

(e) reviewed the “Continuing Connected Transactions” set forth on 
pages 92 to 101 of this annual report; and

92 101

(f) rev iewed the ef fect iveness of  the internal  contro l  and r isk 
management systems of the Group.

• On 17 March 2025, the Audit Committee met to review the 2024 
consolidated financial statements, including the accounting principles 
and practices adopted by the Group, in conjunction with external auditor. 
Based on this review and discussions with the management and external 
auditor, the Audit Committee endorsed the accounting treatment adopted 
by the Company and had, to the best of its ability, assured itself that the 
disclosure of the financial information in this report complies with the 
applicable accounting standards and Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules. 
The Audit Committee therefore recommended the Board’s approval of 
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2024 for public release.

2025 3 17 2024

D2
2024 12 31

• The Audit Committee also recommended the re-appointment of Deloitte 
Touche Tohmatsu as the Group’s external auditor for 2025 and that the 
related resolution shall be put forth for shareholders’ consideration and 
approval at the forthcoming AGM.

 • 
2024

• During the year under review, the fees paid to the Company’s external 
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for audit services amounted 
to HK$3,145,000 (including HK$2,825,000 for annual audit and 
HK$320,000 for interim review), and for non-audit services amounted to 
HK$240,000 (including HK$57,000 for tax review and HK$183,000 for 
other related services required by the Listing Rules).

 • 
3,145,000 2,825,000

320,000 240,000
57,000

183,000
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D.3.2 A former partner of exist ing audit ing 
f irm shall not act as a member of the 
committee for two years from the date 
of his ceasing to be a partner of or to 
have any financial interest in, the firm, 
whichever is later.

C • Ms. Wong Sau Pik, chairman of the Audit Committee, was the former 
assurance partner of EY Hong Kong before her appointment in June 
2024, whereas PIL, the Company’s controlling shareholder, appointed 
EY Singapore as its auditor. Although EY Hong Kong and EY Singapore 
are members of the global network of EY, each of which is a separate 
legal entity and financially independent from each other. Ms. Wong also 
confirmed that she has never worked on matters concerning PIL or PIL 
Group.

2024 6

• Therefore, the Board believes that Ms. Wong is independent and fulfills 
the independence requirements under the Listing Rules and able 
to exercise her professional judgment and draw upon her extensive 
accounting knowledge and audit experience for the benefit of the 
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

• Please refer to the biographical details of Ms. Wong which set out under 
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile”.

D.3.3 The audit committee’s terms of reference 
should include:

– recommendations to the board on 
the appointment,  reappointment 
a n d r e m o v a l  o f  e x t e r n a l  a u d i t o r 
a n d  a p p r o v a l  o f  t h e i r  t e r m s  o f 
engagement;

– review and monitor external auditor’s 
independence and objectivity and 
effectiveness of audit process;

– review of the company’s f inancial 
information; and

– oversight of the company’s financial 
reporting system, risk management 
and internal  contro l  procedures, 
including the adequacy of resources, 
staff qualifications and experience, 
t raining programmes and budget 
of the company’s accounting and 
financial reporting function.

 

C • The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms of 
reference which have complied with the requirements of the Code and 
are modified from time to time. The terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee is made available on the websites of the Company and the 
Stock Exchange.



72 Singamas Container Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2024

Corporate Governance Report

Code Ref. Code Provisions

Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

D.3.4 T h e  a u d i t  c o m m i t t e e  s h o u l d  m a k e 
available its terms of reference, explaining 
its role and the authority delegated to it by 
the board by including them on the Stock 
Exchange and the company’s website.

C • Please refer to D.3.1 and D.3.3 above for the details.
D.3.1 D.3.3

D.3.5 W h e r e t h e b o a r d d i s a g r e e s w i t h  t h e 
audit committee’s view on the selection, 
appointment, resignation or dismissal of 
the external auditors, the company should 
include in the Corporate Governance 
R e p o r t  a  s t a t e m e n t  f r o m  t h e  a u d i t 
committee explaining its recommendation 
and also the reason(s) why the board has 
taken a different view.

C • The Audit Committee recommended to the Board that, subject to 
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM, Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for 
2025. The Board agreed with the recommendation made by the Audit 
Committee.

 • 
2025

D.3.6 The audit committee should be provided 
with sufficient resources to perform its 
duties.

C • The Audit Committee may seek independent professional advice as 
considered necessary to fulfil his/her responsibilities and duties at the 
Company’s expense, which can be arranged by the Company Secretary.

D.3.7 T h e t e r m s o f  r e f e r e n c e o f  t h e  a u d i t 
committee should also require it:

– to review arrangements employees of 
the company can use, in confidence, 
to ra ise concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting, 
internal control or other matters. The 
audit committee should ensure that 
proper arrangements are in place for 
fair and independent investigation 
of these matters and for appropriate 
follow-up action; and

 

– t o  a c t  a s  t h e k e y r e p r e s e n t a t i v e 
body for overseeing the company’s 
relations with the external auditor.

C • Please refer to D.3.1 and D.3.3 above for details.
D.3.1 D.3.3



732024年年報 • 勝獅貨櫃企業有限公司

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

Code Ref. Code Provisions

Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

E REMUNERATION

E.1 The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

Corporate Governance Principle

The Company should have a formal and transparent policy on Director’s remuneration and other remuneration related matters. The 
procedure for setting policy on executive Directors’ remuneration and all Directors’ remuneration packages should be formal and 
transparent.

E.1.1 The remunerat ion committee should 
c o n s u l t  t h e  c h a i r m a n  a n d / o r  c h i e f 
e x e c u t i v e  a b o u t  t h e i r  r e m u n e r a t i o n 
proposals for other executive directors 
and should have access to independent 
professional advice if necessary.

C • The Remuneration Committee has consulted the Chairman about 
proposals relating to the remuneration packages and other human 
resources issues of the Directors and senior management, including but 
not limited to succession plan and key personnel movements as well as 
policies for recruiting and retaining qualified personnel.

• The emoluments of Directors and senior management have been 
determined with reference to the skills, knowledge, involvement in 
the Company’s affairs and their individual performance, and to the 
profitability of the Company and prevailing market conditions during the 
year.

E.1.2 The remuneration committee’s terms of 
reference should include:

– r e c o m m e n d t o  t h e  b o a r d o n t h e 
c o m p a n y’s  p o l i c y  a n d s t r u c t u r e 
f o r  a l l  d i r e c t o r s ’  a n d  s e n i o r 
management remuneration and on 
the establishment of a formal and 
transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy;

– r e v i e w  a n d  a p p r o v e  t h e 
m a n a g e m e n t ’ s  r e m u n e r a t i o n 
p r o p o s a l s  w i t h  r e f e r e n c e  t o  t h e 
b o a r d ’ s  c o r p o r a t e  g o a l s  a n d 
objectives;

C • T h e B o a r d h a s e s t a b l i s h e d R e m u n e r a t i o n C o m m i t t e e t o  m a k e 
recommendations on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure 
for all remuneration of Directors and senior management. No Director 
and senior management can determine his own remuneration.

• The current members of the Remuneration Committee include three 
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth 
(Chairman), Mr. Ho Teck Cheong and Ms. Wong Sau Pik, and one non-
executive Director, namely, Mr. Ng Wai Lim.

• The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee reports the findings and
recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

• In 2024, the Remuneration Committee held a meeting and attendance of 
individual members at Remuneration Committee meeting in the year is 
summarised below:

2024
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E.1.2
( c o n t ’ d ) 
( )

– either to determine, with delegated 
r e s p o n s i b i l i t y ,  o r  t o  m a k e 
recommendations to the board on the 
remuneration packages of individual 
e x e c u t i v e  d i r e c t o r s  a n d  s e n i o r 
management;

 

 

– r e c o m m e n d t o  t h e  b o a r d o n t h e 
r e m u n e r a t i o n  o f  n o n - e x e c u t i v e 
directors;

– consider salaries paid by comparable 
companies, time commitment and 
responsibi l i t ies and employment 
conditions elsewhere in the group;

– review and approve compensation 
payable on loss or termination of 
office or appointment;

– review and approve compensation 
arrangements relating to dismissal or 
removal of directors for misconduct; 
and

– ensure that no director or any of his 
associates is involved in deciding his 
own remuneration.

Committee members

Number of 
Attendance

Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth 
 (Chairman)
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024)

 2024 6 26
 

0/0

Cheng Fu Kwok, David
 (Chairman)
 (retired on 26 June 2024)

 2024 6 26
 

1/1

Ho Teck Cheong 1/1
Ng Wai Lim
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024)

 2024 6 26
 

0/0

Wong Sau Pik
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024)

 2024 6 26
 

0/0

Lau Ho Kit, Ivan
 (retired on 26 June 2024)  2024 6 26

 

1/1

• The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources 
to discharge its duties. The Remuneration Committee is accountable 
to the Board and minutes of meetings are circulated to the Board for 
information.

• The following is a summary of the work of the Remuneration Committee 
during the year under review:

(a) rev iewed and made recommendat ions to  the Board on the 
Company’s Directors’ fees for the financial year of 2024;

2024

(b) reviewed and approved the salary adjustment of the Company’s 
executive Directors and senior management staff;

(c) reviewed and approved the Company’s annual performance-based 
bonus policy; and

(d) reviewed and approved the Company’s Remuneration policy.

• The Remuneration Committee is delegated to be responsible for 
determining the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors 
and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and 
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss 
or termination of their office or appointment, to make recommendations 
to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors and to 
consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and 
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

• Details of each Director’s remuneration and any remuneration payable to 
senior management for the year under review are set out on pages 184 to 
188 and page 259 of this annual report.

184 188 259
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E.1.3 The remuneration committee should make 
available its terms of reference, explaining 
its role and the authority delegated to it by 
the board by including them on the Stock 
Exchange website and the company’s 
website.

C • The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the 
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

• The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include 
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and 
structure for the remuneration of Directors and the senior management, 
and determining with delegated responsibil ity, the remuneration 
packages of all executive Directors and the senior management and 
to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of non- 
executive Directors with reference to the corporate goals and objectives 
of the Board resolved from time to time.

E.1.4 The remunerat ion committee should 
be provided with sufficient resources to 
perform its duties.

C • The Human Resources Department provides administrative support and 
implements the approved remuneration packages and other human 
resources related decisions approved by the Remuneration Committee. 
The Remunerat ion Committee a lso has access to independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered necessary.

E.1.5 T h e  c o m p a n y  s h o u l d  d i s c l o s e  t h e 
Directors’ remuneration policy, details of 
any remuneration payable to members of 
senior management by band and other 
remunerat ion re lated matters in  the 
annual reports.

‚

C • Director’s fees are reviewed every 3 years by the Remuneration 
Committee with reference to the financial condition of the Company and 
the remuneration offered for similar position in comparable companies 
and put forward to the Board for approval.

• Remuneration and incentive payment of Executive Directors are reviewed 
and approved annually by the Remuneration Committee with reference to 
their individual performance, the financial condition of the Company and 
the remuneration offered for similar position in comparable companies.

• Please refer to notes 10 and 41 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for details of the remuneration payable to the senior 
management.

10 41
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E

Corporate Governance Practices

F SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

F.1 Effective communication

Corporate Governance Principle

The Board should be responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, use annual general 
meetings or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their participation.

F.1.1 The Company should have a policy on 
payment of dividends and should disclose 
it in the annual report.

C • The Board adopted a dividend policy which aims to allow shareholders to 
share the Company’s success whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity 
to capture future growth opportunities. The Board devotes to achieving 
prudent capital management and meeting shareholders’ expectations 
with the dividend policy.

• Under this policy, the normal dividend payout ratio of the Company is 
about 30% of the net profit attributable to Shareholders in any financial 
year but no more than 50% thereof unless otherwise approval by the 
Board.

30%
50%

• The declaration of dividends, whether as interim and/or final dividends, is 
subject to the discretion of the Board in considering the following factors 
in each financial year:

– Financial performance and liquidity conditions;

– Retained earnings and distributable reserves;

– Company’s debt level to equity ratio and return on equity;

– Dividend received from the Company’s associates and subsidiaries;

– Expected working capital requirement and capital expenditure;

– Future expansion, other investment plans and other funding 
requirements;

– Global economic condition and other internal or external factors, 
including any restrictions under the applicable laws and regulations 
and the Articles or contractual restrictions as may apply from time to 
time; and

– Other factors that the Directors deem appropriate.
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Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

F.1.1
(cont’d) 
( )

• Final dividend declared by the Company must be approved by an ordinary 
resolution of shareholders at an AGM and must not exceed the amount 
recommended by the Board. The Board may, without the approval of 
shareholders, also declare an interim dividend if it appears to them that 
they are justified by the distributable profits of the Company.

• The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time.

F.2 Shareholders meetings

Corporate Governance Principle

The Company should ensure that shareholders are given sufficient notice of shareholders meetings and are familiar with the detailed 
procedures for conducting a poll and should arrange to address questions from shareholders in the shareholders meetings.

F.2.1 For each substantially separate issue at 
a general meeting, a separate resolution 
should be proposed by the chairman 
of that meeting. The company should 
avoid “bundling” resolutions unless they 
are interdependent and linked forming 
o n e s i g n i f i c a n t  p r o p o s a l .  W h e r e t h e 
resolutions are “bundled”, the company 
should explain the reasons and material 
implications in the notice of meeting.

C • Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings of the 
Company on each substantially separate issue, including the election of 
individual Directors.
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F.2.2 – The chairman of the board should 
attend the annual general meeting. 
He should also invite the chairmen of 
the audit, remuneration, nomination 
a n d  a n y  o t h e r  c o m m i t t e e s  ( a s 
a p p r o p r i a t e )  t o  a t t e n d .  I n  t h e i r 
absence, the chairman should invite 
another member of the committee to 
be available to answer questions at 
the annual general meeting.

– The chairman of the independent 
board committee (if any) should also 
be available to answer questions at 
any general meeting to approve a 
connected transaction or any other 
transaction that requires independent 
shareholders’ approval.

– The company’s management should 
ensure the external auditor attend 
the annual general meeting to answer 
questions about the conduct of the 
audit, the preparation and content of 
the auditor’s report, the accounting 
policies and auditor independence.

C • In 2024, the Company held AGM on 26 June 2024, with the attendance 
of the external auditor, and an extraordinary general meeting held on 25 
November 2024.

2024 2024 6 26
2024 11 25

• Details of Directors’ attendance at the 2024 general meetings is set out 
below:

2024

Name of Directors

2024 
General 

Meetings
2024

Teo Siong Seng 2/2
Chung Pui King, Rebecca 2/2
Siu Wai Yee, Winnie 2/2
Ng Wai Lim
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024)

 2024 6 26
 

2/2

Lau Man Yee, Vanessa
 (resigned on  
 1 November 2024)

 2024 11 1
 

1/1

Ho Teck Cheong 2/2
Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024)

 2024 6 26
 

2/2

Wong Sau Pik
 (appointed on  
 26 June 2024)

 2024 6 26
 

2/2

Cheng Fu Kwok, David
 (retired on 26 June 2024)  2024 6 26

 

1/1

Lau Ho Kit, Ivan
 (retired on 26 June 2024)  2024 6 26

 

1/1

• In 2024, the Chairman of the Board (also served as Chairman of 
Nomination Committee (re-designated as member on 26 June 2024)), 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and the Company’s external auditor attended the 2024 AGM 
and were available to answer questions during the meeting.

2024 ( 2024 6 26
)

2024
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Comply (“C”)/
Explain (“E”)

C
E

Corporate Governance Practices

F.2.3 The chairman of a meeting should ensure 
that an explanation is provided of the 
detai led procedures for conducting a 
p o l l  a n d a n s w e r  a n y q u e s t i o n s f r o m 
shareholders on voting by poll.

C • Detailed explanation regarding the procedures for conducting a poll by 
Shareholders had been provided at the commencement of the 2024 
AGM.

2024

• At the 2024 AGM, the Chairman of the meetings put each resolution 
set out in the notice to be voted by way of a poll in accordance with the 
Company’s Articles.

2024

• Representatives of the Share Registrar of the Company were appointed as 
scrutineers to monitor and count the poll votes cast at the 2024 AGM.

2024

• All the resolutions put to vote at the Company’s general meetings were 
taken by poll.

• Poll results were posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock 
Exchange.
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The board of directors (“Board”/“Directors”) of Singamas 
Container Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents the 
Company’s annual report and the audited consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company are investment holding 
and provision of management services to its subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures. The principal activities of its 
principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are set 
out in notes 42, 18 and 19, respectively to the consolidated 
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set 
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on pages 120 to 121.

Based on the operating results of the Group, the Board 
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK5 cents 
per ordinary share (2023: HK4 cents per ordinary share) for 
the year ended 31 December 2024. Together with an interim 
dividend of HK3 cents per ordinary share (2023: HK1 cent 
per ordinary share), total dividend for the year would be HK8 
cents per ordinary share (2023: HK22 cents per ordinary 
share, including an interim special dividend of HK17 cents per 
ordinary share).

2024
12 31

42 18
19

2024 12 31 120
121

2024 12 31
5 2023 4

3 2023
1 8

2023 22
17
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2025 2025
6 18 2025

2025
2025 6

13 2025 6 18

2025

2025 6 12 4
30

183 17 1712 1716
2025 6 18

2025

2025

2024 12 31
2025

7 2 2025 7 4

2025 6 30 4 30

183
17 1712 1716

2025
2025

7 18 2025 7 4

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The 2025 Annual  Genera l  Meet ing o f  the Company is 
scheduled to be held on Wednesday, 18 June 2025 (“2025 
AGM”).  For the purpose of  ascerta ining shareholders’ 
entitlement to attend and vote at 2025 AGM, the register of 
members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 13 June 
2025 to Wednesday, 18 June 2025, both days inclusive, and 
no transfer of the shares of the Company will be effected 
during such period. In order to be entitled to attend and 
vote at 2025 AGM, all transfers of shares of the Company, 
duly accompanied by the completed transfer forms and all 
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s 
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services 
Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration 
by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 12 June 2025. The 
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members 
of the Company on Wednesday, 18 June 2025, the record date 
of 2025 AGM, will be entitled to attend and vote at 2025 AGM.

For determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed 
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
register of members of the Company will be closed from 
Wednesday, 2 July 2025 to Friday, 4 July 2025, both days 
inclusive, and no transfer of the shares of the Company will be 
effected during such period. In order for a shareholder of the 
Company to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers 
of shares of the Company, duly accompanied by the completed 
transfer forms and all relevant share certificates, must be 
lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare 
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 
17th Floor,  Hopewel l  Centre,  183 Queen’s Road East, 
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration by no later than 4:30 
p.m. on Monday, 30 June 2025. Subject to the approval by 
the Company’s shareholders at the 2025 AGM, the proposed 
final dividend is payable on Friday, 18 July 2025 to those 
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members 
of the Company on Friday, 4 July 2025 (the record date).
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1.  

2 0 2 4

2025 1
2 0 2 5

3.3% 2000 2019 3.7%

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of our business and performance

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and 
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the 
material factors underlying its results and financial position 
are set out in the Financial Highlights from pages 4 to 5, 
Chairman’s Statement from pages 8 to 14, and Frequently 
Asked Questions from pages 15 to 20 of this Annual Report, 
which discussion is disclosed pursuant to Schedule 5 to the 
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) 
(the “Companies Ordinance”). The outlook of the Company’s 
business is disclosed in this annual report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The fol lowing are the pr incipal r isks and uncertaint ies 
facing the Company as required to be disclosed pursuant 
to the Companies Ordinance and in addition to the matters 
mentioned in the Chairman’s Statement and Frequently Asked 
Questions of this annual report:

1. Economic Conditions and Market 
Competition Risks

The impact of global economic conditions and market 
sentiment would directly affect the demand of dry 
freight containers of the Group. In 2024, world economy 
was still affected by the high interest rates and the 
war fares. However, the Red Sea crisis led to vessels 
being rerouted to the Cape of Good Hope, resulting in 
increased travel distances, which in turn boosted dry 
freight container demand and led to higher production 
volumes in the market. According to International 
Monetary Fund’s January 2025 World Economic 
Outlook update, it projected a global growth rate of 3.3% 
in 2025, which is below the historical average of 3.7% 
between 2000 to 2019.
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1.  

2024
2 0 2 5

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

1. Economic Conditions and Market 
Competition Risks (Continued)

Political tensions between PRC and the US have not 
been eased. The US has imposed new round of tariffs 
on imports from China, Mexico and Canada, and more 
countries may be included in the list. These countries 
may impose retaliatory tariffs on the US, which could 
eventually hinder global trade and economic growth. 
This,  in turn,  may af fect the Group’s dry f re ight 
container manufacturing business in China.

The industry faces intense competition from container 
manufacturing companies concentrate in China. 
As a result of overproduction in 2024 and expected 
reduction in container demand in 2025, competitors 
may attempt to gain market share by offering lower 
prices. The Company may require to reduce prices 
when facing competition, which may affect the Group’s 
profitabil i ty. To reduce its dependency on trade-
driven market and focus on developing higher-margin 
specialised containers, as well as becoming a container 
solution provider, the Group is transforming into “New 
Singamas”, which focuses on developing green-related 
products.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

2. Product Diversification and Market Expansion 
Risks

To reduce its reliance on trade-driven market, the Group 
invested heavily in developing customised containers 
for meeting various demand across different industries, 
with particular success in ESS container. The level of 
market acceptance of these customised containers 
and the Group’s capabi l i ty  in meet ing technical 
requirements will affect product diversification and 
market expansion process. On the other hand, as the 
customised containers generally enjoy higher profit 
margins, which may attract competitors or new players 
to enter the market. The Group continues to recruit 
engineers and technicians from various sources to 
strengthen the research and development team and 
differentiate itself from the competitors. In addition to 
self-development, the Group also cooperates with other 
patent owners to enter into unique markets directly and 
effectively.

In addition to being a traditional manufacturer, the 
Group started a container leasing business in 2022. 
This may better serve customers by providing an 
additional option beyond direct purchase. As a new 
container leasing provider, the Group faces with severe 
competit ion from other market players with long 
established histories and strong financial backgrounds. 
To r ide on the Group’s container manufactur ing 
capabilities, it can be more competitive in terms of cost, 
efficiency and services.
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2024

4. 

a. 

37

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

3. Manpower and Retention Risks
The competition for talent has led the Group to face the 
risk of being unable to attract or retain key personnel 
and talents with appropriate skills, experience and 
competence required to achieve the Group’s business 
objectives. In view of this, the Group recruited a new 
Chief Human Resources Officer in 2024 to establish 
long-term human resources strategies. The Group will 
conduct regular reviews of its recruitment and retention 
practices, remuneration packages and succession plan 
to mitigate the risks. Moreover, in view of continuing 
increase in wage rate in China, the Group will increase 
the level of automation in the production process to 
reduce manpower requirements and to minimise labour 
cost.

4. Financial Risks
In the course of business activit ies, the Group is 
exposed to a variety of financial risks, including credit, 
liquidity, currency and cash flow interest rate risks.

a. Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
which will cause a financial loss to the Group 
due to failure to discharge an obligation by 
the counterparties is arising from the carrying 
amount of the respective recognised financial 
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

To minimise the credit risk, the management of 
the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals 
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that 
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue 
debts.  In  addi t ion,  the Group rev iews the 
recoverable amount of each individual trade 
debt at the end of each reporting period to 
ensure adequate impairment losses are made for 
irrecoverable amounts, if necessary.

D e t a i l s  o f  t h e c r e d i t  r i s k  a n d i m p a i r m e n t 
a s s e s s m e n t  a r e  s e t  o u t  i n  n o t e  37 t o  t h e 
consolidated financial statements.
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4. 

b. 

37

c. 

37

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

4. Financial Risks (Continued)

b. Liquidity risk

For managing the l iquidity r isk, the Group 
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by management 
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate 
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The 
management monitors the utilisation of bank 
borrowings, if any and ensures compliance with 
loan covenants or to timely negotiate with the 
lenders if any non-compliance is expected.

Details of the liquidity risk are set out in note 37 
to the consolidated financial statements.

c. Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign 
currency sales and purchases, bank balances 
and bank loans, which expose the Group to 
foreign currency risk. To mitigate the foreign 
currency risk, the Group may enter into forward 
contracts to hedge against i ts exposure to 
currency risk. The management monitors the 
movement of the foreign currency closely and 
wi l l  consider hedging s igni f icant currency 
exposure should the need arise.

Details of the currency risk are set out in note 37 
to the consolidated financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND 
PERFORMANCE
A discussion on the Company’s environmental policies and 
performance as required to be disclosed pursuant to the 
Companies Ordinance.

Details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance 
are published in the separate Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report which is available at the websites of the 
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence 
to applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those 
have significant impact on the Group. As a listed company 
in Hong Kong, the shares of the Company are listed on the 
main board of the Stock Exchange since 8 July 1993, the 
Company continuously complies with the requirements 
under the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange including the 
disclosure requirements, corporate governance code and 
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers therein. Under the Securities and Futures Ordinance 
(Cap.571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Company is required 
to maintain a register of interests in shares and short positions 
and a register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and 
short positions and is obliged to the disclosure requirements 
of inside information. The Board will monitor the Group’s 
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements and such policies are regularly reviewed. Any 
changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are 
brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant 
operation units from time to time.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND 
PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations 
(Continued)

The Group believes that employees are the valuable assets and 
regards human resources as its corporate wealth. The Group is 
committed to comply with the requirements of the applicable 
laws and regulat ions,  such as the Pr ivacy Ordinance, 
ordinances against disability, sex, family status and races 
discriminations, the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum 
Wage Ordinance and the ordinances applicable to occupational 
safety so as to safeguard the benefits and interests of the 
Group’s employees.

As a responsible enterprise, the Group has endeavoured to 
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental 
protection and adopted effective environmental technologies to 
ensure its operations meet the standards and ethics in respect 
of environmental protection.

To protect the Group’s intellectual property rights, the Group 
has registered its domain name and its trademark have been 
applied for or registered in various classes in Hong Kong, the 
PRC and other relevant jurisdictions and takes all appropriate 
actions to enforce its intellectual property rights.

During the year, the Group has obtained all the approvals, 
permits, consents, licences and registrations required for its 
business and operations and all of them are in force. There 
was no material breach of or material non-compliance with the 
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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270 272

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND 
PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Relationships with employees, suppliers and 
customers

The Group understands that it is important to maintain 
good re lat ionship wi th i ts  suppl iers and customers to 
fulfi l its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its 
competitiveness and dominant status, the Group aims at 
delivering constantly high standards of quality in the products 
and services to its customers. During the year, there was no 
material and significant dispute between the Group and its 
suppliers and/or customers.

Employees as the valuable assets of the Group, the Group 
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and 
motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the 
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary 
adjustments to conform to the market standard. The Group 
also organised staff-friendly activities for employees, in order to 
provide communication opportunities among staff, which are 
vital to promote staff relationship.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the 
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 270 to 
272 of this annual report.
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2 9 7
2 0 2 4 1 2 3 1

93,058,000 2023 104,531,000

15

42 18 19

2024 12 31
250,149,000 2023 300,963,000

27,719,000 2023
6,835,000 0.05

2023 0.01

2024 2023 12 31

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and 
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and note 43 to the consolidated 
financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 
2024, calculated under sect ion 297 of the Companies 
O r d i n a n c e ,  a m o u n t e d  t o  U S $ 9 3 , 0 5 8 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 2 3 : 
US$104,531,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment 
during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries, associates and 
joint ventures of the Company are set out in notes 42, 18 and 
19, respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank balances 
and cash of US$250,149,000 (2023: US$300,963,000) 
a n d i n t e r e s t-b e a r i n g d e b t s  o f  U S$27,719,000 (2023: 
US$6,835,000). This represented a gearing ratio, calculated 
on the basis of the Group’s total interest-bearing debts over 
equity attributable to owners of the Company, of 0.05 (2023: 
0.01). As the Group was in net cash as at 31 December 2024 
and 2023, calculation of net debt to equity ratio was not 
applicable.
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33

TREASURY POLICIES
The Group’s revenue is largely transacted in US Dollars (“US$”) 
or Renminbi (“RMB”). To match with the revenue stream, the 
Group’s interest-bearing debts will be mainly in US$ or RMB.

Of the total interest-bearing debts as at 31 December 2024, all 
bank borrowings are repayable within one year. The Group’s 
interest-bearing debts are principally on a fixed rate basis.

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign currency sales 
and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign currency 
risk. To mitigate the foreign currency risk, the Group might 
enter into forward contracts to hedge against its exposure to 
currency risk.

BANK BORROWINGS
Details of bank borrowings of the Group are set out in note 
33 to the consolidated financial statements. No interest was 
capitalised by the Group during the year.
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(1) 2022 12 30

2023
2020

2023 1 1 2025 12
31

2023
2023

A

14.07

0.1% 5%
2023

A

2022
12 30

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The Group had the following continuing connected transactions 
during 2024:

(1) On 30 December 2022, the Company (for and on behalf 
of the Group) entered into a renewed master services 
contract (the “Master Services Contract 2023”) with PIL 
(for and on behalf of PIL Group), for the renewal of the 
Master Service Contract 2020 for a further term of three 
years commencing from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 
2025 in relation to the provision of container depot 
and logistics services to PIL Group. In view that PIL is a 
connected person of the Company, the entering into the 
Master Services Contract 2023 constituted a connected 
transaction. As the Master Services Contract 2023 
involves transactions, which will occur on a recurring 
basis over a period of time, the transactions constitute 
continuing connected transactions of the Company under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other 
than profits ratio) calculated pursuant to Rule 14.07 of 
the Listing Rules in respect of the proposed annual caps 
for the transactions exceeds 0.1% but all of them are less 
than 5%. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated 
under the Master Services Contract 2023 are subject to 
annual reporting, announcement, and annual review but 
are exempted from shareholders’ approval requirement 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of these 
continuing connected transactions have been disclosed 
in the announcement dated 30 December 2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(2) On 18 March 2022, the Company (for and on behalf 
of the Group) entered into a transportation framework 
agreement (the “Transportation Framework Agreement”) 
with PIL Logist ics (China) Co., Ltd. (“PIL Logist ics 
China”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of PIL) in relation 
to the provision of transportation solutions services by 
PIL Logistics China for the containers manufactured by 
the Group. In view that PIL Logistics China is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of PIL, a controlling shareholder of 
the Company, PIL Logistics China is an associate of 
PIL and therefore a connected person of the Company, 
t h e  e n t e r i n g  i n t o  t h e  T r a n s p o r t a t i o n F r a m e w o r k 
Agreement constituted a connected transaction. As 
the Transportation Framework Agreement involved 
transactions, which occur on a recurring basis over a 
period of time, the transactions constituted continuing 
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules. The Transportation Framework 
Agreement took effect from 18 March 2022 and expired 
on 31 December 2024. On 24 October 2022, the Board 
resolved to revise the annual caps for the three years 
ended 31 December 2024.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other 
than profits ratio) calculated pursuant to Rule 14.07 of 
the Listing Rules in respect of the proposed annual caps 
for the transactions exceeds 0.1% but all of them are less 
than 5%. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated 
under the Transportation Framework Agreement are 
subject to annual reporting, announcement, and annual 
review but are exempted from shareholders’ approval 
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
Details of these continuing connected transactions have 
been disclosed in the announcements dated 18 March 
2022, 25 March 2022 and 27 October 2022 respectively.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(3) On 23 December 2024, the Company (for and on behalf 
of the Group) entered into a renewed transportation 
framework agreement (the “Transportation Framework 
Agreement 2025”) with PIL Logistics China in relation 
to the provision of transportation solutions services by 
PIL Logistics China for the containers manufactured by 
the Group. In view that PIL Logistics China is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of PIL, a controlling shareholder of 
the Company, PIL Logistics China is an associate of PIL 
and therefore a connected person of the Company, the 
entering into the Transportation Framework Agreement 
2025 constituted a connected transaction. As the 
Transportation Framework Agreement 2025 involved 
transactions, which will occur on a recurring basis over 
a period of time, the transactions constituted continuing 
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules. The Transportation Framework 
Agreement 2025 took effect from 1 January 2025 and 
will expire on 31 December 2027. The annual cap for 
these transactions for each of the financial years ending 
31 December 2025, 2026 and 2027 is expected not to 
exceed RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
US$2,751,032).

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other 
than profits ratio) calculated pursuant to Rule 14.07 of 
the Listing Rules in respect of the proposed annual caps 
for the transactions exceeds 0.1% but all of them are less 
than 5%. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated 
under the Transportation Framework Agreement 2025 
are subject to annual reporting, announcement, and 
annual review but are exempted from shareholders’ 
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules. Details of these continuing connected transactions 
have been disclosed in the announcement dated 23 
December 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(4) On 2 November 2021, the Company (for and on behalf 
of the Group) entered into a master purchase contract 
(the “Master Purchase Contract 2022”) with PIL (for and 
on behalf of PIL Group), for the sales of the equipment, 
including but not l imited to dry freight containers, 
collapsible flatrack containers, open top containers, 
tank containers, offshore containers, other specialized 
containers and other relevant products (“Equipment”), to 
PIL Group. In view that PIL is a connected person of the 
Company, the entering into the Master Purchase Contract 
2022 constituted a connected transaction. As the 
Master Purchase Contract 2022 involves transactions, 
which occur on a recurring basis over a period of time, 
the transactions const i tute continuing connected 
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules. On 18 March 2022, the Company and 
PIL entered into a revised Master Purchase Contract 
2022 (the “Revised Master Purchase Contract 2022”) to 
extend the term of the Master Purchase Contract 2022 
from the original expiry date of 31 December 2022 to 31 
December 2024 and to revise the annual cap for the year 
ended 31 December 2022 and to set the annual caps for 
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(4) (Continued)
As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other 
than profits ratio) calculated pursuant to Rule 14.07 
of the Listing Rules in respect of the proposed annual 
caps for the transactions exceeds 5%. Accordingly, the 
transactions contemplated under the Revised Master 
Purchase Contract 2022 are subject to annual reporting, 
a n n o u n c e m e n t,  a n n u a l  r e v i e w a n d i n d e p e n d e n t 
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules. After obtaining the approval from the 
independent shareholders on 4 May 2022, the Revised 
Master Purchase Contract 2022 took effect from 4 May 
2022 and expired on 31 December 2024. Details of these 
continuing connected transactions have been disclosed 
in the announcements dated 2 November 2021, 15 
February 2022 and 18 March 2022 respectively and the 
circulars dated 25 November 2021 and 14 April 2022 
respectively.

(5) On 7 October 2024, the Company (for and on behalf 
of the Group) entered into a renewed master purchase 
contract (the “Master Purchase Contract 2025”) with 
PIL (for and on behalf of PIL Group), for the sales of the 
Equipment to PIL Group. In view that PIL is a connected 
person of the Company, the entering into the Master 
Purchase Contract 2025 const i tuted a connected 
transaction. As the Master Purchase Contract 2025 
involves transactions, which will occur on a recurring 
basis over a period of time, the transactions constitute 
continuing connected transactions of the Company under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Master Purchase 
Contract 2025 took effect from 1 January 2025 and will 
expire on 31 December 2027. The annual caps of these 
transactions for the financial years ending 31 December 
2025, 2026 and 2027 are US$120,000,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$936,000,000), US$105,000,000 
( e q u i v a l e n t  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y  H K $ 8 1 9 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 ) 
and US$110,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$858,000,000) respectively.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(5) (Continued)
As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other 
than profits ratio) calculated pursuant to Rule 14.07 
of the Listing Rules in respect of the proposed Annual 
Caps for the Transactions exceeds 5%, the Transactions 
contemplated under the Master Purchase Contract 2025 
are subject to annual reporting, announcement, circular 
(including independent financial advice), annual review 
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. After obtaining 
the approval from the independent shareholders on 25 
November 2024, the Master Purchase Contract 2025 
took effect from 1 January 2025 and will expire on 31 
December 2027. Details of these continuing connected 
transactions have been disclosed in the announcement 
dated 7 October 2024 and the circular dated 29 October 
2024.

(6) On 31 January 2022, Teamwill International Limited 
(“TIL”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) 
e n t e r e d i n t o  a  c o n t a i n e r  l e a s i n g a g r e e m e n t  ( t h e 
“Container Leasing Agreement”) with PIL,  for the 
lease of containers from TIL to PIL. In view that PIL is a 
connected person of the Company, the entering into the 
Container Leasing Agreement constituted a connected 
transact ion. As the Container Leasing Agreement 
involves transactions, which will occur on a recurring 
basis over a period of time, the transactions constitute 
continuing connected transactions of the Company under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Container Leasing 
Agreement took effect from 31 January 2022 and will 
expire on 31 December 2032.



98 Singamas Container Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2024

Report of the Directors

 

(6) 
14.07

0.1% 5%

A

14A.52

2022 1 31

(1)

2024
12 31

2,266,000 17,675,000
5,000,000

39,000,000

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(6) (Continued)
As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (other 
than profits ratio) calculated pursuant to Rule 14.07 of 
the Listing Rules in respect of the proposed annual cap 
for the transactions exceeds 0.1% but all of them are less 
than 5%. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated 
under the Container Leasing Agreement are subject to 
annual reporting, announcement, and annual review but 
are exempted from shareholders’ approval requirements 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the term 
of the Container Leasing Agreement exceeds three 
years, pursuant to Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, 
independent financial adviser had been appointed by 
the Company to review the Container Leasing Agreement 
and confirmed that it is normal business practice for 
agreements of this type to be of such duration. Details 
of these continuing connected transactions have been 
disclosed in the announcement dated 31 January 2022 .

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions in paragraph 
(1) above have been approved by the Directors and the 
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the 
transaction and are in the opinion that those continuing 
connected transactions between the Group and PIL Group for 
the provision of container depot and logistics services to PIL 
Group were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of 
business of the Group, conducted on normal commercial terms, 
entered into in accordance with the agreements governing 
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests 
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole, and on terms 
no less favourable than those available to or from independent 
third parties. The total amount of such transactions for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 was US$2,266,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$17,675,000) and did not exceed the 
annual cap of US$5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$39,000,000).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions in paragraph 
(2) above have been approved by the Directors and the 
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the 
transaction and are in the opinion that those continuing 
connected transactions between the Group and PIL Logistics 
China for the provision of transportation solutions services by 
PIL Logistics China for the containers manufactured by the 
Group were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of 
business of the Group, conducted on normal commercial terms, 
entered into in accordance with the agreements governing 
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests 
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole, and on terms 
no less favourable than those available to or from independent 
third parties. The total amount of such transactions for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 was RMB13,907,000 (equivalent 
to approximately US$1,958,000) and did not exceed the 
annual cap of RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
US$4,716,981).

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions in paragraph 
(4) above have been approved by the Directors and the 
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the 
transactions and are in the opinion that those continuing 
connected transactions for the sales of the Equipment from 
the Group to PIL Group were entered into in the ordinary 
and usual course of business of the Group, conducted on 
normal commercial  terms, entered into in accordance 
with the agreements governing them on terms that are fair 
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of 
the Company as a whole, and on terms no less favourable 
than those available to or from independent third parties. 
The total amount of such transactions for the year ended 
31 December 2024 was US$33,908,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$264,482,000) and did not exceed the 
annual cap of US$120,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$936,000,000).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions in paragraph 
(6) above have been approved by the Directors and the 
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the 
transactions and are in the opinion that those continuing 
connected transactions for the lease of containers from TIL 
to PIL were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of 
business of the Group, conducted on normal commercial terms, 
entered into in accordance with the agreements governing 
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests 
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole, and on terms 
no less favourable than those available to or from independent 
third parties. The total amount of such transactions for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 was US$2,573,000 and did not 
exceed the annual cap of US$12,200,000.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company 
has engaged the external auditor of the Company to report the 
continuing connected transactions of the Group in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference 
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing 
Connected Transact ions under the Hong Kong L ist ing 
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. The external auditor has reported to the Board 
and confirmed that for the year 2024 the continuing connected 
transactions (i) have received the approval of the Board; (ii) are 
in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; (iii) have 
been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements 
governing the transactions; and (iv) the continuing connected 
transactions in paragraphs (1), (2), (4) and (6) above have not 
exceeded the relevant caps as disclosed in the announcements 
dated 30 December 2022, 27 October 2022, 18 March 2022 
and 31 January 2022 respectively.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

The Group entered into certain transactions with related parties 
during the year ended 31 December 2024, some of which 
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Group,  
among which the related party transactions, sales to immediate 
holding company and fellow subsidiaries, leasing income from 
immediate holding company, transportation services fee to 
a fellow subsidiary and rental expense to a fellow subsidiary 
were the continuing connected transactions as defined under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of which are set out in 
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual 
report. The Company confirms that it has complied with the 
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.

CHARGES ON ASSETS
As at 31 December 2024, no asset of the Group was pledged 
as securities to any third parties (2023: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
During 2024, the Company provided guarantees to banks as 
securities for credit facilities granted to certain subsidiaries 
of the Company in the PRC. The Group did not provide any 
guarantee to any third parties and did not have contingent 
liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL
D e t a i l s  o f  s h a r e  c a p i t a l  a r e  s e t  o u t  i n  n o t e  34 t o  t h e 
consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company committed to maintaining a high standard of 
corporate governance and has taken appropriate steps to 
adopt and comply with the applicable principles and code 
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code during the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance 
practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”.
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3.13

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) 
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of 
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having 
made specific enquiry of the Directors, all of the Directors 
have confirmed that they have fully complied with the required 
standard set out in the Model Code throughout this year.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual 
report are:

Mr. Teo Siong Seng
Ms. Siu Wai Yee, Winnie
Ms. Chung Pui King, Rebecca
Ms. Lau Man Yee, Vanessa# 
 (resigned on 1 November 2024)
Mr. Ng Wai Lim# (appointed on 26 June 2024)
Mr. Cheng Fu Kwok, David* (retired on 26 June 2024)
Mr. Lau Ho Kit, Ivan* (retired on 26 June 2024)
Mr. Ho Teck Cheong*
Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth* 
 (appointed on 26 June 2024)
Ms. Wong Sau Pik* (appointed on 26 June 2024)

# Non-executive Director
* Independent Non-executive Director

In accordance with the provisions of the Articles, at each 
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time 
being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every 
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general 
meeting at least once every three years but shall be eligible for 
re-election.

Pursuant to article 92 of the Articles, Ms. Siu Wai Yee, Winnie, 
Ms. Chung Pui King, Rebecca and Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth 
shall retire from office at the 2025 AGM and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election.

T h e  C o m p a n y  h a s  r e c e i v e d  a n n u a l  c o n f i r m a t i o n  o f 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of Listing Rules from each 
of Mr. Ho Teck Cheong, Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth and Ms. 
Wong Sau Pik and considered them as independent.
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Pascal BERGER

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The names of directors who have served on the boards of 
the subsidiaries of the Company (the “Subsidiaries”) during 
the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this 
report, are set out below:

(in alphabetical order)

Current directors of Subsidiaries:

Pascal BERGER
CHAN Kit Wan, Amy
CHEN Nengxiang 
CHEN Zhenyu
CHU Chee Leong
CHUNG Pui King, Rebecca 
DING Zhong Fu
GUO Xinde
LAI Zhi Yong
Lilian LEE
LIU Kecheng
LIU Quan
NG Wai Lim
SIU Wai Yee, Winnie 
SONG Yan Yan
TEO Siong Seng 
WANG Xingqian 
WANG Wenbin
WENG Sheng Qiang 
XU Jin Yong
Phil YU
ZHANG Tian Bao
ZHAO Huaiguo
ZHAO Xiaobing

Resigned as directors of Subsidiaries during the year and up to 
the date of this report:

LAU Man Yee, Vanessa
TEO Teng Seng
Sunlit ZENG
ZHAO Bing
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING 
SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the 
Directors or chief executive in the shares, underlying shares 
or debentures of the Company or any associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which (a) were required notification to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions 
which any such Director or chief executive is taken or deemed 
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which (b) were 
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered into 
the register maintained by the Company; or which (c) were 
required, pursuant to Model Code contained in the Listing 
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
were as follows:

Ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”)

Number of Shares/
Underlying Shares Held

Percentage of 
Total Issued 

Shares (Note)

( )

Name Capacity
Personal
Interest

Total
Interest

     

Mr. Teo Siong Seng Beneficial Owner 47,377,250 47,377,250 1.99%

Ms. Chung Pui King,
 Rebecca

Beneficial Owner 195,291 195,291 0.01%

Note:

The percentages were computed based on the total number of issued shares 
of the Company as at 31 December 2024 (i.e. ordinary share of 2,382,205,918 
shares).

 

2024 12 31

XV
(a)

XV 7 8

(b)
352

(c)

2024 12 31
2,382,205,918
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING 
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Ordinary shares of the Company (“Shares”) 
(Continued)

All the interests disclosed above represent long position in the 
Shares and underlying Shares.

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding 
company, fellow subsidiaries or any of its subsidiaries a party 
of any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits 
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the 
Company or any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed above, none of Directors nor their associates, 
had any other interests or short positions in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of 
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of 
the SFO) which (a) were required notification to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part 
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which 
any such Director or chief executive is taken or deemed to 
have under such provisions of the SFO); or which (b) were 
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered into 
the register maintained by the Company; or which (c) were 
required, pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing 
Rules, to be notified to the Company or the Stock Exchange 
and none of Directors, nor their spouse or children under 
the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for securities of the 
Company, or had exercised any such right during the year.

 

 

XV
(a)

XV 7 8

(b) 352

(c)

18
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2024, according to the register kept by the 
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, and so far as was 
known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, the 
following persons (other than the interests of certain Directors 
disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ Interests and 
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” 
above), had an interest or a short position in the Shares and 
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the 
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of 
the SFO:

Number of Shares

Name Notes
Direct 

Interest
Indirect 
Interest

Percentage of 
Total Issued

Shares (Note 1)

( 1)     

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited 
(“Temasek”)

( ) ( )

(2) – 993,825,345 41.72%

PIL Pte. Ltd. (3) – 993,825,345 41.72%

Pacific International Lines (Private)  
Limited (“PIL ”)

( ) ( )

(3) 993,825,345 – 41.72%

Shah Capital Management (4) 152,624,418 – 6.41%
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(1) 2024 12 31
2,382,205,918

(2) Ivy 2 Investments VCC Ivy 2
Ivy 2

PIL Pte. Ltd. Ivy 2 Heliconia Capital 
Management Pte Ltd . Heliconia
Heliconia 65 Equity Partners Pte. Ltd. 65EP

65EP
65EP Heliconia

(3) 993,825,345
100% PIL Pte. Ltd.

(4) 1 5 2 , 6 2 4 , 4 1 8 S h a h  C a p i t a l 
Management

2024 12 31
XV 2 3

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS 
(Continued)

Notes:

(1) The percentages were computed based on the total number of issued 
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2024 (i.e. ordinary share of 
2,382,205,918 shares).

(2) Temasek is deemed interested in the Shares held by PIL via Ivy 2 
Investments VCC (“Ivy 2”). Ivy 2 is a controlling shareholder of PIL 
Pte. Ltd.. Ivy 2 is controlled by Heliconia Capital Management Pte 
Ltd. (“Heliconia”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 65 Equity 
Partners Pte. Ltd. (“65EP”). In turn, 65EP is an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Temasek. 65EP and Heliconia are independently-
managed Temasek portfolio entities.

(3) A total of 993,825,345 Shares are directly held by PIL which is 100% 
owned by PIL Pte. Ltd..

(4) A total of 152,624,418 Shares are directly held by Shah Capital 
Management in the capacity of Investment manager.

All the interests disclosed above represent long position in the 
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other person known to 
the Directors or chief executive, other than the Directors or 
chief executive of the Company, who, as at 31 December 2024, 
had an interest or a short position in the Shares and underlying 
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under 
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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41

470
391(1)

(a)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT
As at 31 December 2024, no Directors or proposed directors 
had any existing service contract or proposed service contract 
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not 
terminable by the Company within one year without payment of 
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN 
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Other than transactions disclosed under the section headed 
“Continuing Connected Transactions” above and in note 41 to 
the consolidated financial statements (which were approved 
by the independent non-executive Directors and in the opinion 
of the Directors were carried out on normal commercial terms 
and in ordinary course of the Group’s business), no material 
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in 
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its 
immediate and ultimate holding company, fellow subsidiaries 
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director 
of the Company or an entity connected with a director had a 
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Company has insured and maintained directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides 
appropriate cover to certain legal actions brought against its 
directors and officers. The permitted indemnity provision is in 
force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 
of the Companies Ordinance when this report prepared by the 
Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of 
the Companies Ordinance.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
T h e p e r c e n t a g e s o f  t h e G r o u p’s  p u r c h a s e s a n d s a l e s 
attributable to major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Percentage

   

Percentage of purchases attributable to 
 the Group’s largest supplier

22%

Percentage of purchases attributable to 
 the Group’s five largest suppliers

41%

Percentage of sales attributable to 
 the Group’s largest customer

17%

Percentage of sales attributable to 
 the Group’s five largest customers

38%

During the year, none of the Directors nor their associates nor 
any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns 
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest 
in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF 
LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, 
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during 
the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has not 
entered into any equity-linked agreement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration 
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company was entered into or existed during the year.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 11 
to the consolidated financial statements.

PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT
Brief  b iographica l  deta i ls  o f  the Di rectors  and senior 
management of the Company are set out on pages 21 to 29 
under the “Directors and Senior Management Profile” section 
of this annual report.

REMUNERATION POLICIES AND EMPLOYEE 
RELATIONS
The remuneration policy for the employees of the Company is 
set by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, 
qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management 
of the Group are decided by the Remuneration Committee 
with reference to the Group’s operating results, individual 
performance and comparable market statistics.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group, including subsidiaries 
employed 4,195 (2023: 3,089) ful l-t ime employees; i ts 
associates and joint ventures employed 859 (2023: 885) 
full-time employees in total. Staff costs (including Directors’ 
e m o l u m e n t s )  a m o u n t e d  t o  U S $ 1 1 0 , 9 2 9 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 2 3 : 
US$74,707,000) for the year. All full-time salaried employees, 
except for factory workers and contract employees, are being 
paid on a monthly basis, plus a discretionary performance 
bonus. Factory workers are being remunerated based on a 
basic wage plus production incentive. The Group ensures that 
the pay levels of its employees are competitive and employees 
are awarded on a performance related basis within the general 
framework of the Group’s salary and bonus system. To further 
enhance the capability of its human resource, the Group 
provides on- the-job training to its employees.

11

 

21 29
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4,195 2023 3,089

859
2023 885

110,929,000 2023
74,707,000
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REMUNERATION POLICIES AND EMPLOYEE 
RELATIONS (Continued)

Other than the subsidiaries in the PRC, neither the Company 
nor any of its other subsidiaries has established labour union. 
The Company and its subsidiaries, however, are not subject 
to any collective agreements. The Group has maintained 
good relationships with its employees. None of the Group’s 
employees is represented by a labour union.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the 
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the 
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, 
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as 
required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR
A resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu as external auditor of the Company is to be proposed 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Teo Siong Seng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 18 March 2025



 

Independent Auditor’s Report

112 Singamas Container Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2024

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of Singamas Container Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Singamas Container Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set 
out on pages 120 to 269, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, 
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information 
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have 
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

120 269

2024 12
31

 2024 12 31
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BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

  

Revenue recognition from sales of containers

We ident i f ied revenue recogni t ion f rom sa les  o f 
containers manufactured by the Group as a key audit 
matter due to it is quantitatively significant to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Group manufactures a wide range 
of products including dry freight containers, tank 
containers, other specialised containers (including 
but not l imited to col lapsible f latrack containers 
and offshore containers) and container parts. The 
performance obligation of the contract of manufacturing 
containers represents producing the containers to 
its customers in accordance to the industry standard 
requirements stated in the purchase order, which means 
these containers are with alternative use to the Group. 
Revenue is therefore recognised at a point in time when 
control of the containers has transferred, which is upon 
the completion of inspection through acknowledging the 
technical acceptance notes by customers and delivering 
to specific location under certain circumstances.

4

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from 
sales of containers manufactured by the Group included:

* Obta in ing an understanding of  the revenue 
recognition processes and testing the Group’s 
relevant key controls over revenue recognition;

*  

* Inspecting, on a sample basis, the terms set out 
in the sales contracts and/or purchase order to 
understand the point that the customers obtain 
the control of the containers and assess whether 
the related revenue was properly recognised 
in accordance with respective sales contracts 
and/or purchase order and with reference to 
the requirements of the prevailing accounting 
standards; and

* 

* Testing recorded sales transactions, on a sample 
basis, against corresponding goods delivery notes, 
shipping documents and/or technical acceptance 
notes from customers to evidence that control of 
the goods have been transferred.

* 

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s 
r e v e n u e  f r o m  s a l e s  o f  c o n t a i n e r s  a m o u n t e d  t o 
approximately US$545.1 million, which representing 
approximately 94% of the Group’s total revenue.

2024 12 31
545,100,000

94%
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The d i rectors of  the Company are responsib le for  the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated f inancial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. 
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to 
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

* Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as 
a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

* Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within 
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 
group financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work 
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them al l  relat ionships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit  result ing in this 
independent auditor’s report is Lee Wing Cheong, Wilfred.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2025
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2024 2023
Notes US$’000 US$’000

     

Revenue 4 582,804 382,470
Cost of Sales (490,018) (325,942)     

Gross profit 92,786 56,528
Other income 6 17,370 20,608
Distribution expenses (21,269) (10,938)
Administrative expenses (39,476) (32,657)
Finance costs 7 (1,326) (343)
Other gains and losses 8 2,959 (7,076)
Share of results of associates 1,691 1,316
Share of results of joint ventures 210 204     

Profit before taxation 9 52,945 27,642
Income tax expense 12 (14,876) (5,149)     

Profit for the year 38,069 22,493     

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 34,135 19,438
Non-controlling interests 3,934 3,055     

38,069 22,493     
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綜合損益及其他全面收益表

2024 2023
Note US$’000 US$’000

     

Other comprehensive expense
Item that will not be reclassified  
 to profit or loss:  
Fair value loss on equity instrument at 
 fair value through other 
 comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), 
 net of tax effect

 
 
 (5,077) (1,983)

Item that may be reclassified 
 subsequently to profit or loss:  
Exchange differences arising on 
 translation (580) (468)     

Other comprehensive expense 
 for the year (5,657) (2,451)     

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year 32,412 20,042     

Total comprehensive income 
 attributable to:
Owners of the Company 28,572 17,021
Non-controlling interests 3,840 3,021     

32,412 20,042     

Basic earnings per share 14 US1.43 cents US0.82 cent
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2024 2023
Notes US$’000 US$’000

     

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 141,221 97,641
Right-of-use assets 16 31,127 35,582
Investment properties 17 26,764 32,380
Interests in associates 18 15,573 15,569
Interests in joint ventures 19 6,334 6,353
Equity instrument at FVTOCI

 20 20,522 26,163
Financial asset at fair value through 
 profit and loss (“FVTPL”)  21 – 3,052
Trade receivables 23 67,259 30,092
Deposits for non-current assets 733 72     

309,533 246,904     

Current assets

Inventories 22 148,047 106,593
Trade receivables 23 97,001 71,124
Prepayments and other receivables 25 31,595 30,032
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary

 26 26 –
Amounts due from associates 32 475 276
Amounts due from joint ventures 32 358 415
Tax recoverable 100 160
Financial asset at FVTPL

 21 2,938 –
Bank deposits with original maturity 
 over 3 months  27 51,797 173,130
Cash and cash equivalents 27 198,352 127,833     

530,689 509,563     
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2024 2023
Notes US$’000 US$’000

     

Current liabilities

Trade payables 28 69,992 34,990
Lease liabilities 29 1,084 2,099
Accruals and other payables

 30 57,916 45,968
Advances from customers 31 39,419 36,525
Amount due to immediate 
 holding company 26 – 75
Amounts due to associates 32 16 370
Amounts due to joint ventures 32 12 8
Tax payable 5,378 1,261
Bank and other borrowings 33 27,719 1,246     

201,536 122,542     

Net current assets 329,153 387,021     

Total assets less current liabilities 638,686 633,925     

Capital and reserves

Share capital 34 268,149 268,149
Accumulated profits 212,817 201,672
Other reserves 78,026 81,959     

Equity attributable to owners 
 of the Company 558,992 551,780
Non-controlling interests 65,439 62,855     

Total equity 624,431 614,635     
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2024 2023
Notes US$’000 US$’000

     

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 29 671 1,787
Deferred tax liabilities 35 13,584 11,914
Bank and other borrowings 33 – 5,589     

14,255 19,290     

638,686 633,925     

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 269 
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of 
directors on 18 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Teo Siong Seng Chung Pui King, Rebecca 
Director Director 

120 269
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Attributable to owners of the Company
        

Share 
capital

Exchange 
translation 

reserve

PRC 
statutory 

reserve

Property 
revaluation 

reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve
Other 

reserve
Accumulated 

profits Sub-total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

(Note b) (Note c) (Note a)
b c a            

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 268,149 4,334 37,756 18,141 19,583 (721) 248,584 595,826 63,051 658,877            

Profit for the year – – – – – – 19,438 19,438 3,055 22,493
Fair value loss on equity 
 instrument at FVTOCI, 
 net of tax effect

 
 
 – – – – (1,983) – – (1,983) – (1,983)

Exchange differences arising 
 on translation – (434) – – – – – (434) (34) (468)            

Total comprehensive (expense) 
 income for the year  – (434) – – (1,983) – 19,438 17,021 3,021 20,042
Dividends paid to 
 non-controlling interests  – – – – – – – – (3,217) (3,217)
Dividends paid to owners of 
 the Company (note 13)  13 – – – – – – (61,067) (61,067) – (61,067)
Transfer from accumulated 
 profits – – 5,283 – – – (5,283) – – –            

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 268,149 3,900 43,039 18,141 17,600 (721) 201,672 551,780 62,855 614,635            

Profit for the year – – – – – – 34,135 34,135 3,934 38,069
Fair value loss on equity 
 instrument at FVTOCI, 
 net of tax effect

 
 
 – – – – (5,077) – – (5,077) – (5,077)

Exchange differences arising 
 on translation – (486) – – – – – (486) (94) (580)            

Total comprehensive (expense) 
 income for the year  – (486) – – (5,077) – 34,135 28,572 3,840 32,412
Dividends paid to 
 non-controlling interests  – – – – – – – – (1,256) (1,256)
Dividends paid to owners of 
 the Company (note 13)  13 – – – – – – (21,360) (21,360) – (21,360)
Transfer from accumulated 
 profits – – 1,630 – – – (1,630) – – –            

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 268,149 3,414 44,669 18,141 12,523 (721) 212,817 558,992 65,439 624,431            
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Notes:

(a) Other reserve included the difference between consideration and 
book value attributable of the related net assets arose when acquiring 
additional shares of subsidiaries.

(b) Pursuant to the relevant regulations in the People’s Republic of China 
(“PRC”) (other than Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan) applicable to the 
Group’s PRC subsidiaries, these entities have to provide for the PRC 
statutory reserves before declaring dividends to their shareholders as 
approved by the board of directors. The reserves are not distributable 
until the end of the operation periods of the respective entities, at 
which time any remaining balance of the reserves can be distributed 
to shareholders upon liquidation of the subsidiaries. The reserves can 
be used to offset accumulated losses of the entities or increase capital 
upon approval from the PRC’s relevant authority. The distributable 
profits of the subsidiaries are determined based on their accumulated 
profits calculated in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and 
regulations.

(c) Revaluation reserve represents difference between the carrying 
amount and the fair value of that property at the date of transfer from 
owner-occupied property to investment properties is recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve.

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 
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2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation 52,945 27,642
Adjustments for:
 Depreciation of property, plant and 
  equipment

 
9,768 8,459

 Depreciation of right-of-use assets  3,828 4,405
 Loss (gain) on disposal of property, 
  plant and equipment

 
  1,026 (54)

 Loss on property, plant and equipment 
  written off

 
  239 41

 Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets  (8,260) –
 Share of results of associates  (1,691) (1,316)
 Share of results of joint ventures  (210) (204)
 Investment income  (13,491) (16,569)
 Interest expense  1,250 253
 Fair value loss on derivative financial 
  instruments

 
  – 365

 Fair value loss on investment properties  5,466 2,647
 Fair value loss (gain) on financial 
  asset at FVTPL

 
  
  69 (58)

 Allowance for credit losses of trade 
  receivable, net of reversal

 
  450 (43)

 Provision (reversal of provision) of 
  inventories

 
  4,526 (426)

 Adjustment to consideration receivables  1,403 3,676
 Gain on lease modification  (264) –
 Impairment loss on property, plant and 
  equipment

 
  627 –

 Unrealised exchange difference  405 1,096    

Total 58,086 29,914    
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2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Operating cash flows before movements  
 in working capital (continued)  58,086 29,914
 Increase in inventories  (91,276) (14,643)
 Increase in trade receivables from 
  third parties

 
(30,636) (8,789)

 Increase in trade receivables from 
  immediate holding company

 
  (32,848) –

 Increase in trade receivables from 
  fellow subsidiaries

 
  (10) (166)

 Increase in prepayments and 
  other receivables

 
(6,144) (5,784)

 Increase (decrease) in trade payables  35,002 (5,240)
 Increase (decrease) in accruals and 
  other payables

 
  12,968 (5,066)

 Increase (decrease) in advances from 
  customers

 
2,894 (859)

 Decrease in advances from immediate 
  holding company

 
  – (358)    

Cash used in operations (51,964) (10,991)
 Interest paid  (1,257) (246)
 Income tax paid  (8,465) (9,572)    

Net cash used in operating activities (61,686) (20,809)    
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2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Increase in amount due from a fellow 
 subsidiary (26) –
Increase in amounts due from associates (19) –
Purchase of property,  
 plant and equipment (9,049) (4,515)
Deposits paid for non-current assets (741) (315)
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries  
 from prior year  1,610 1,564
Proceeds on disposal of property,  
 plant and equipment  166 442
Proceeds on disposal of right-of-use assets 9,560 –
Dividends received from associates  
 and joint ventures  1,444 2,056
Dividend received from unlisted equity 
 investment 1,173 1,831
Interest received 12,168 14,416
Cash settlement for derivative  
 financial instruments  – (826)
Placement of bank deposit with original 
 maturity over 3 months  (211,756) (509,307)
Withdrawal of bank deposit with original 
 maturity over 3 months  333,089 376,177    

Net cash from (used in) investing activities
 137,619 (118,477)    
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2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New bank loans 48,553 5,628
Repayment of bank loans (27,656) –
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1,256) (3,217)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company (21,360) (61,067)
Repayment of lease liabilities (2,700) (3,332)
Advance from immediate  
 holding company 15 114
Repayment to immediate  
 holding company (90) (101)
Advances from associates 892 2,180
Repayments to associates (1,246) (2,277)
Advances from joint ventures 35 78
Repayments to joint ventures (31) (77)    

Net cash used in financing activities (4,844) (62,071)    

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 
 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  71,089 (201,357)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 AT 1 JANUARY

1 1
 127,833 329,770

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (570) (580)    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 AT 31 DECEMBER

12 31
 198,352 127,833    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 REPRESENTED BY:

Bank balances and cash 250,149 300,963
Less:  bank deposits with original maturity  

 over 3 months
  
 (51,797) (173,130)    

198,352 127,833    
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION
Singamas Container Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong 
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Pacific 
International Lines (Private) Limited (“PIL”) is the 
controlling shareholder of the Company that directly 
holds 993,825,345 shares, representing 41.72% of 
the total issued share capital of the Company as at 31 
December 2024 and it is considered as the immediate 
holding company of the Company. According to the 
latest corporate substantial shareholder notice filed by 
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited and uploaded on 
the Stock Exchange’s website prior to the publication 
of this report, Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited is 
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company 
held by PIL by virtue of certain corporations deemed 
to be controlled by Temasek Holding (Private) Limited. 
Both companies are incorporated in the Republic 
of Singapore. The addresses of the registered office 
and principal place of business of the Company are 
disclosed in the section of corporate information of this 
annual report. The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in United States dollars (“US$”), which is 
also the functional currency of the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is 
principally engaged in the businesses of manufacturing 
and leasing of containers and other related products 
and providing logistics services.

1 

993,825,345
2024 12 31

41.72%
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily 
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following 
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) 
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for 
the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 
2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and 
 Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 
 Current or Non-current 
 and related amendments 
 to Hong Kong 
 Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with 
 Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and 
 HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance 
 Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the 
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s 
financial positions and performance for the current and 
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue 
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and 
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are 
not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification 
 and Measurement of Financial 
 Instruments3

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
 and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing 
 Nature-dependent Electricity3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets 
 between an Investor and its 
 Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 
 Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 
 Accounting Standards 
 – Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability2

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 
 Financial Statements4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2027.

Except for new HKFRS mentioned below, the directors 
of the Company anticipate that the application of all 
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable 
future.
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND 
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 which sets out requirements on presentation 
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace 
HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements . This 
new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying 
f o r w a r d  m a n y  o f  t h e  r e q u i r e m e n t s  i n  H K A S  1 , 
introduces new requirements to present specified 
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of 
profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the 
financial statements and improve aggregation and 
disaggregat ion of information to be disclosed in 
the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. 
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows  
and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share  are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will 
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2027, with early application permitted. The 
application of the new standard is expected to affect 
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and 
disclosures in the future financial statements. The 
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact 
of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.



 

1352024年年報 • 勝獅貨櫃企業有限公司

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

3 
 

 

 

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 
statements

The consolidated f inancial statements have been 
prepared in accordance wi th HKFRSs issued by 
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the 
consolidated f inancial statements, information is 
considered material if such information is reasonably 
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. 
In addition, the consolidated financial statements 
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules 
Governing the L ist ing of  Securi t ies on the Stock 
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of 
approving the consolidated financial statements, a 
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated f inancial statements have been 
prepared on the historical cost basis except for equity 
instrument at FVTOCI, financial asset at FVTPL and 
investment properties, that are measured at fair values 
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the 
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
t ransact ion between market  part ic ipants at  the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account 
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or l iabi l i ty at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial 
statements is determined on such a basis, except for 
share-based payment transactions that are within 
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment , leasing 
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with 
HKFRS 16 Leases , and measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as 
net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in 
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets .

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes 
into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 
statements (Continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties 
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation 
technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to 
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation 
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the 
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction 
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value 
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurements are observable and the significance of 
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, 
which are described as follows:

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement 
date;

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted 
p r i c e s  i n c l u d e d  w i t h i n  L e v e l  1 ,  t h a t  a r e 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly; and

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability.



 

138 Singamas Container Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 
 

 
 

 

a  

• 

• 

• 

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group

(a) Basis of consolidation

T h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s 
incorporate the f inancial statements of the 
Company and entities controlled by the Company 
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when 
the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has r ights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the 
investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its 
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls 
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the 
three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of 
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
from the date the Group gains control unti l 
the date when the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

P r o f i t  o r  l o s s  a n d  e a c h  i t e m  o f  o t h e r 
c o m p r e h e n s i v e  i n c o m e  a r e  a t t r i b u t e d  t o 
the owners of the Company and to the non-
control l ing interests. Total comprehensive 
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners 
of the Company and to the non-control l ing 
interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, 
income and expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are 
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are 
presented separately from the Group’s equity 
therein, which represent present ownership 
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate 
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries 
upon liquidation.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(b) Investments in associates and joint 
ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group 
has significant influence. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of the investee but is 
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby 
t h e  p a r t i e s  t h a t  h a v e  j o i n t  c o n t r o l  o f  t h e 
arrangement have r ights to the net assets 
of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an 
arrangement, which exists only when decisions 
about the relevant activities require unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.

T h e  r e s u l t s  a n d  a s s e t s  a n d  l i a b i l i t i e s  o f 
associates and joint ventures are incorporated 
in these consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting. The financial 
statements of associates and joint ventures used 
for equity accounting purposes are prepared 
using uniform accounting policies as those of the 
Group for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances. Under the equity method, an 
investment in an associate or a joint venture is 
initially recognised in the consolidated statement 
o f  f inancia l  pos i t ion at  cost  and adjusted 
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of 
the associate or joint venture.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(c) Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn 
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured 
at cost, including any directly attr ibutable 
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at fair value, 
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued 
operating lease income. Gains or losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of investment 
properties are included in profit or loss for the 
period in which they arise.

(d) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Cost, comprises direct 
materials, and where applicable, direct labour, 
and those overheads that have been incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location 
and condition.

Costs of  inventor ies are determined using 
weighted average method. Net realisable value 
represents the est imated sel l ing pr ice for 
inventories less all estimated cost of completion 
and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs 
necessary to make the sale include incremental 
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to 
make the sale.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial l iabilities are 
recognised when a group entity becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial 
assets are recognised and derecognised on a 
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales 
are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the 
market place.

Financial assets and financial l iabilities are 
in i t ia l ly  measured at  fa i r  va lue except for 
trade receivables arising from contracts with 
customers which are in i t ia l ly  measured in 
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers . Transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities 
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the 
fair value of the financial assets or financial 
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisi t ion of f inancial  assets or f inancial 
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
asset or f inancial l iabil ity and of al locating 
interest income and interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts and payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part 
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial asset or financial 
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, 
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets

F i n a n c i a l  a s s e t s  t h a t  m e e t  t h e  f o l l o w i n g 
condi t ions are subsequent ly  measured at 
amortised cost:

– t h e  f i n a n c i a l  a s s e t  i s  h e l d  w i t h i n  a 
business model whose objective is to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

– t h e  c o n t r a c t u a l  t e r m s  g i v e  r i s e  o n 
specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.



 

144 Singamas Container Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 
 

 
 

 

e  

 

– 

– 

3

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

F i n a n c i a l  a s s e t s  t h a t  m e e t  t h e  f o l l o w i n g 
condi t ions are subsequent ly  measured at 
FVTOCI:

– t h e  f i n a n c i a l  a s s e t  i s  h e l d  w i t h i n  a 
b u s i n e s s  m o d e l  w h o s e  o b j e c t i v e  i s 
achieved by both selling the financial 
assets and collecting contractual cash 
flows; and

– t h e  c o n t r a c t u a l  t e r m s  g i v e  r i s e  o n 
specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other f inancial assets are subsequently 
measured at  FVTPL,  except  that  at  in i t ia l 
recognition of a financial asset, the Group may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes 
in fair value of an equity investment in other 
comprehensive income if that equity investment 
is  ne i ther  he ld for  t rading nor  cont ingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in 
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 
Business Combinations applies.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of 
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

– it has been acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the near term; or

– o n i n i t i a l  r e c o g n i t i o n i t  i s  a  p a r t  o f 
a  p o r t f o l i o  o f  i d e n t i f i e d  f i n a n c i a l 
instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern 
of short-term profit-taking; or

– it is a derivative that is not designated and 
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate 
a  f i n a n c i a l  a s s e t  t h a t  a r e  r e q u i r e d  t o  b e 
measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as 
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest method for financial assets measured 
s u b s e q u e n t l y  a t  a m o r t i s e d c o s t .  I n t e r e s t 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that 
have subsequently become credit-impaired 
(see below). For f inancial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit 
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument 
improves so that the financial asset is no longer 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset from the 
beginning of the reporting period following the 
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI 

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are 
subsequently measured at fair value with gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair value 
recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the investment revaluation 
reserve; and are not subject to impairment 
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not 
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the 
equity investments, and will be transferred to 
accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity 
instruments are recognised in profit or loss 
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends 
is established, unless the dividends clearly 
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the 
investment. Dividends are included in the “other 
income” line item in profit or loss.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL 

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or 
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair 
value at the end of each reporting period, with 
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit 
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit 
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned 
on the financial asset and is included in the 
“other gains and losses” line item.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classif ied 
a s  e i t h e r  f i n a n c i a l  l i a b i l i t i e s  o r  a s  e q u i t y 
i n  a c c o r d a n c e w i t h  t h e  s u b s t a n c e o f  t h e 
contractual arrangements and the definitions of 
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equi ty  instrument is  any contract  that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are 
recognised at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(e) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, 
other payables and amounts due to immediate 
holding company, associates, joint ventures and 
bank and other borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible 
assets that held for use in  the production or 
supply of goods or services, or for administrative  
purposes other than construction in progress. 
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at 
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off 
the cost of assets other than construction in 
progress less their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line 
method. The  estimated useful lives, residual 
values  and depreciation method are reviewed at 
the end  of each reporting period, with the  effect 
of any  changes in estimate accounted for  on a 
prospective basis.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(g) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a 
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
“control” of the goods or services underlying the 
particular performance obligation is transferred 
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or 
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is 
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services 
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue 
is recognised over time by reference to the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of the 
relevant performance obligation if one of the 
following criteria is met:

– the customer simultaneously receives 
and consumes the benefits provided by 
the Group’s performance as the Group 
performs;

– the Group’s performance creates or 
enhances an asset that the customer 
controls as the Group performs; or

– the Group’s performance does not create 
an asset with an alternative use to the 
Group and the Group has an enforceable 
r i g h t  t o  p a y m e n t  f o r  p e r f o r m a n c e 
completed to date.
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(g)  

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(g) Revenue from contracts with customers 
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in 
time when the customer obtains control of the 
distinct good or service.

A contract liability (presented as “advances 
from customers” in consolidated statement 
of financial position) represents the Group’s 
obligation to transfer goods or services to a 
customer for which the Group has received 
consideration (or an amount of consideration is 
due) from the customer.

Operating lease income is recognised on a time 
proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable 
lease payments that do not depend on an 
index or a rate are recognised as income in the 
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Finance lease income is recognised on an 
accrual basis using the effective interest method 
by applying the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the net investment of a finance 
lease or a shorter period, when appropriate, to 
the net carrying amount of the net investment of 
the finance lease.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(g) Revenue from contracts with customers 
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement 
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of 
a performance obligation is measured based on 
output method, which is to recognise revenue 
on the basis of direct measurements of the value 
of the services transferred to the customer to 
date relative to the remaining services promised 
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s 
performance in transferring control of services.

As a pract ical  expedient,  i f  the Group has 
a r ight to considerat ion in an amount that 
corresponds direct ly with the value of  the 
Group’s performance completed to date (service 
contracts in which the Group bills a fixed amount 
daily of service provided), the Group recognises 
revenue in the amount to which the Group has 
the right to invoice.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease based on the definition under 
HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such 
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms 
and conditions of the contract are subsequently 
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a 
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component 
a n d o n e o r  m o r e a d d i t i o n a l  l e a s e o r  n o n-
lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease 
component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the 
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease 
components, including contract for acquisition of 
ownership interests of a property which includes 
both leasehold land and non-lease building 
components, unless such allocation cannot be 
made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to 
separate non-lease components from lease 
component, and instead account for the lease 
component and any associated non-lease 
components as a single lease component.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

T h e  G r o u p  a p p l i e s  t h e  s h o r t - t e r m  l e a s e 
recognit ion exemption to leases that have 
a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option. It also applies the recognition 
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease 
payments on short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets are recognised as expense on 
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis 
over the lease term. 
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

– the amount of the initial measurement of 
the lease liability;

– any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date, less any lease 
incentives received;

– any initial direct costs incurred by the 
Group; and

– an estimate of costs to be incurred by 
the Group in dismantling and removing 
the underlying assets, restoring the site 
on which it is located or restoring the 
underlying asset to the condition required 
b y  t h e  t e r m s a n d c o n d i t i o n s  o f  t h e 
lease, unless those costs are incurred to 
produce inventories.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of 
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in  which the Group is 
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the 
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease 
term are depreciated from commencement date 
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life 
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a 
separate line item on the consolidated statement 
of financial position.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group 
recognises and measures the lease liability at the 
present value of lease payments that are unpaid 
at that date. In calculating the present value of 
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date 
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not 
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

– fixed payments (including in-substance 
fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable; and

– payments of penalties for terminating a 
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 
exercising an option to terminate the 
lease.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities 
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease 
payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and 
makes a corresponding adjustment to the related 
right-of-use assets) whenever the lease term has 
changed or there is a change in the assessment 
of exercise of a purchase opt ion, in which 
case the related lease liability is remeasured 
by discounting the revised lease payments 
using a revised discount rate at the date of 
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate 
l ine item on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a 
separate lease if:

– the modification increases the scope of 
the lease by adding the right to use one or 
more underlying assets; and

– the consideration for the leases increases 
by an amount commensurate with the 
stand-alone price for the increase in 
scope and any appropriate adjustments 
to that stand-alone price to reflect the 
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted 
for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures 
the lease liability based on the lease term of the 
modified lease by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate at the 
effective date of the modification.
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(h) 

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of 
lease liabilities and lease incentives from lessor 
by making corresponding adjustments to the 
relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified 
contract contains a lease component and one or 
more additional lease or non-lease components, 
the Group allocates the consideration in the 
modified contract to each lease component on 
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the 
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone 
price of the non-lease components.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are 
c lass i f ied as f inance or  operat ing leases. 
Whenever  the terms of  the lease t ransfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, 
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases 
(Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 
are recognised as receivables at commencement 
date at amounts equal to net investments in the 
leases, measured using the interest rate implicit 
in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other 
than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer 
lessors) are included in the initial measurement 
of the net investments in the leases. Interest 
income is allocated to accounting periods so 
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return 
on the Group’s net investment outstanding in 
respect of the leases.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases 
Continued)

At the commencement date, the Group as a 
manufacturer or dealer lessor should recognise: 
i )  r e v e n u e,  w h i c h  i s  t h e  f a i r  v a l u e  o f  t h e 
underlying asset, or, if lower, the present value 
of the lease payments accruing to the lessor, 
discounted using a market rate of interest; ii) 
the cost of sale, which is the cost (or carrying 
amount if different) of the underlying asset 
less the present value of the unguaranteed 
residual value. Initial direct costs for leases in 
which the Group is the manufacturer or dealer 
lessor are recognised in costs of sales at the 
commencement date of the finance leases; and 
iii) selling profit or loss (which is the difference 
b e t w e e n r e v e n u e a n d t h e c o s t  o f  s a l e)  i n 
accordance with its policy for outright sales to 
which HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers applies. The selling profit or loss 
on a finance lease should be recognised at the 
commencement date, regardless of whether 
the lessor transfers the underlying asset as 
described in HKFRS 15.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(h) Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases 
(Continued)

R e n t a l  i n c o m e  f r o m  o p e r a t i n g  l e a s e s  i s 
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term except for investment 
properties measured under fair value model.

(i) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of 
current and deferred income tax expense.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
fol low from the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 
and liabilities.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(i) Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for 
investment properties that are measured using 
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of 
such properties are presumed to be recovered 
entirely through sale, unless the presumption 
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when 
the investment property is depreciable and is 
held within a business model whose objective 
is to consume substantially all of the economic 
benefits embodied in the investment property 
over time, rather than through sale. 

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax 
for leasing transactions in which the Group 
recognises the right-of-use assets and the related 
lease l iabil it ies, the Group first determines 
whether the tax deductions are attributable to 
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

F o r  l e a s i n g t r a n s a c t i o n s i n  w h i c h t h e t a x 
d e d u c t i o n s  a r e  a t t r i b u t a b l e  t o  t h e  l e a s e 
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income 
Taxes requirements to the lease liability, and the 
related assets separately. The Group recognises 
a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible 
temporary difference can be uti l ised and a 
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary 
difference.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(j) Retirement benefit costs

In respect of  the subsid iar ies in the PRC, 
the Group contr ibutes to a state-managed 
retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC 
government. Contribution payable by the Group 
to the schemes is charged to the profit or loss 
when employees have rendered services entitling 
them to the contributions.

T h e  G r o u p  o p e r a t e s  a n d  c o n t r i b u t e s  t o 
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) schemes 
which are available to all employees of Hong 
K o n g.  T h e a s s e t s  o f  t h e s c h e m e a r e h e l d 
separately from those of the Group in funds 
under the control of trustees. Contribution 
payable by the Group to the MPF scheme is 
charged to the profit or loss when employees 
have rendered services entitling them to the 
contributions.

(k) Short-term and other long-term 
employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised 
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits 
expected to be paid as and when employees 
rendered the services. All short-term employee 
benefits are recognised as an expense unless 
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion 
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(Continued)

Material accounting policies adopted by the 
Group (Continued)

(k) Short-term and other long-term 
employee benefits (Continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to 
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual 
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount 
already paid.

4 REVENUE
Revenue represents sales of goods from manufacturing, 
containers leasing and services income from logistics 
services operations, less sales related taxes, and is 
analysed as follows:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Manufacturing and leasing 553,588 354,983
Logistics services 29,216 27,487    

582,804 382,470    
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4 REVENUE (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts 
with customers

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Types of goods or services

Manufacturing
 Sales of dry freight containers  393,617 187,115
 Sales of tank containers  29,339 61,236
 Sales of other specialised containers 
  and container parts

 
  122,150 103,843    

545,106 352,194    

Logistics services
 Container storage and handling 
  services

 
  4,041 4,075

 Repair and drayage services  4,675 4,510
 Container freight station services  17,977 15,983
 Other container related services  2,523 2,919    

29,216 27,487    

Revenue from contracts with customers 574,322 379,681    

Leasing
 Finance leases interest income  2,832 1,102
 Operating leases income  5,650 1,687    

Total revenue arising from leases 8,482 2,789    

Total revenue 582,804 382,470    
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4 REVENUE (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts 
with customers (Continued)

The Group manufactures and leases a wide range 
of products including dry freight containers, tank 
containers, other specialised containers (including 
but not limited to collapsible flatrack containers and 
offshore containers) and container parts. The Group 
charged the selling price of each of containers based 
on the agreed purchase order. The performance 
obligation of the contract of manufacturing containers 
represents producing the containers to its customers 
in accordance to the industry standard requirements 
stated in the purchase order (i.e. with alternative use 
to the Group). The Group only provides assurance 
type warranty of which no distinct goods or services is 
identified. The Group sometimes requires customers to 
make upfront payment before the commencement of 
the production activity and the remaining amount is to 
be settled within the credit term. Revenue is therefore 
recognised at a point in t ime when control of the 
containers has transferred. Control of the containers 
is considered transferred to customers upon the 
completion of inspection through acknowledging the 
technical acceptance notes by customers and delivering 
to specific location under certain circumstances. 
Transportation and handling activities that occur before 
the customer obtains control of the containers are 
considered as fulfilment activities.
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4 REVENUE (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts 
with customers (Continued)

Logistics services of the Group include container storage 
and handling services, repair and drayage services, 
container freight station services and other container 
related services (collectively referred to “container 
related services”). Revenue is recognised over time 
when the container related services are rendered, 
and is measured based on output method. The Group 
generally charges the container service fee based on 
either fixed daily rate or cost-plus, which is the direct 
measurement of the value of the services transferred 
to the customers from the Group’s performance. 
The Group elects to apply the practical expedient by 
recognising revenue from logistic services in the amount 
to which the Group has a right to invoice. The Group 
normally bills monthly to the customers and credit term 
offered to the customers is normally 30 to 60 days. 
The performance obligation for logistics services is to 
provide the container related services in the depot to its 
customers. The Group fulfils the performance obligation 
by completing the container related services for its 
customers.

All manufacturing and logistics services are provided for 
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 
15, the transaction price allocated to any unsatisfied 
contracts is not disclosed.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION
Information reported to the Group’s chief operating 
decision maker (i.e. Chief Executive Officer) for the 
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of 
segment performance are organised into two operating 
divisions – manufacturing and leasing and logistics 
services. These divisions are the basis on which the 
Group reports its segment information under HKFRS 8 
Operating Segments .

Principal activities are as follows:

Manufacturing and 
leasing

– m a n u f a c t u r i n g  o f  d r y  f r e i g h t 
containers, tank containers, other 
specia l ised containers ( including 
but not limited to collapsible flatrack 
containers and offshore containers) 
and container parts and leasing of dry 
freight containers.

Logistics services – provision of container storage, repair 
and t rucking serv ices,  serv ing as 
a f re ight stat ion,  container/cargo 
handling and other container related 
services.
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5 

2024 12 31

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information regarding these segments is presented 
below:

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and 
results by operating and reportable segment:

Year ended 31 December 2024

Manufacturing 
and leasing

Logistics 
services Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

     

REVENUE
External sales 553,588 29,216 582,804     

SEGMENT RESULTS 34,086 4,862 38,948    

Finance costs (1,326)

Investment income 13,491

Fair value loss on financial asset at 
FVTPL

 
 

(69)

Share of results of associates 1,691

Share of results of joint ventures 210 

Profit before taxation 52,945 
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2023 12 31

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

Manufacturing 
and leasing

Logistics 
services Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

     

REVENUE
External sales 354,983 27,487 382,470     

SEGMENT RESULTS 6,555 3,648 10,203    

Finance costs (343)

Investment income 16,569

Fair value loss on derivative financial 
instruments

 
(365)

Fair value gain on financial asset at 
FVTPL

 
 

58

Share of results of associates 1,316

Share of results of joint ventures 204 

Profit before taxation 27,642 

Segment results represent the profit earned by each 
segment without allocation of finance costs, investment 
income (including interest or dividend income), fair 
value loss on derivative financial instruments, fair value 
(loss) gain on financial asset at FVTPL, share of results 
of associates and share of results of joint ventures. This 
is the measure reported to the Group’s Chief Executive 
Officer for the purposes of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance.
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2024 12 31

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The fo l lowing is  an analys is of  the Group’s total 
assets and total liabilities by operating and reportable 
segment:

As at 31 December 2024

Manufacturing 
and leasing

Logistics 
services Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

     

ASSETS

Segment assets 527,747 16,026 543,773

Interests in associates 15,573

Interests in joint ventures 6,334

Unallocated corporate assets 274,542 

Consolidated total assets 840,222 

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 160,015 9,067 169,082

Unallocated corporate liabilities 46,709 

Consolidated total liabilities 215,791 
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Other Information

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or 
loss or segment assets:

Manufacturing 
and leasing

Logistics 
services Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

     

Additions of capital expenditure 56,803 1,299 58,102

Depreciation expense (note) 11,819 1,777 13,596

Impairment losses under expected 
credit loss model, net of reversal

 
446 4 450

Provision of inventories 4,526 – 4,526

Gain on lease modification 264 – 264

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 8,260 – 8,260

Impairment loss on property, plant 
and equipment

 
627 – 627

(Loss) gain on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment

 
(1,056) 30 (1,026)

Loss on property, plant and equipment 
written off

 
236 3 239



 

1752024年年報 • 勝獅貨櫃企業有限公司

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

5 

2023 12 31

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Manufacturing
and leasing

Logistics
services Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

     

ASSETS

Segment assets 379,469 19,294 398,763

Interests in associates 15,569

Interests in joint ventures 6,353

Unallocated corporate assets 335,782 

Consolidated total assets 756,467 

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 109,438 11,931 121,369

Unallocated corporate liabilities 20,463 

Consolidated total liabilities 141,832 
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 2024 2023 12 31

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Other Information

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or 
loss or segment assets:

Manufacturing
and leasing

Logistics
services Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

     

Additions of capital expenditure 19,550 1,178 20,728

Depreciation expense (note) 10,850 2,014 12,864

Impairment losses under expected 
credit loss model, net of reversal  (45) 2 (43)

Reversal of provision of inventories 426 – 426

Gain (loss) on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment  61 (7) 54

Loss on property, plant and equipment 
written off  40 1 41     

Note: Certain amounts were capitalised in inventories during the 
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The amounts included in other information are part of 
the operating and reportable segments.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances 
and allocating resources between segments:

– all assets are allocated to operating segments 
other than interests in associates, interests in 
joint ventures and unallocated corporate assets, 
which include equity instrument at FVTOCI, 
financial asset at FVTPL, certain property, plant 
and equipment, certain other receivables, tax 
recoverable and cash and deposits with banks. 
Assets used jointly by reportable segments are 
allocated on the basis of the revenue earned by 
individual reportable segments; and

– all liabilities are allocated to operating segments 
other than unallocated corporate liabilities, 
which include bank and other borrowings, 
amount due to immediate holding company, 
amounts due to associates, amounts due to joint 
ventures, tax payable and deferred tax liabilities. 
Liabilities for which reportable segments are 
jointly l iable are al located in proport ion to 
segment liabilities.
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5 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

T h e  G r o u p ’ s  o p e r a t i o n s ,  i n c l u d i n g  b o t h  t h e 
manufacturing and logistics services division, are 
located in the PRC; while the leasing division is operated 
in Hong Kong. 

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s 
revenue by geographical market, based on the location 
of customers for manufacturing and leasing segment 
and based on the origin of the goods/services for 
logistics services segment:

Year ended 31 December 2024 Year ended 31 December 2023
2024 12 31 2023 12 31

Manufacturing 
and leasing

Logistics 
services Total

Manufacturing 
and leasing

Logistics 
services Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

        

PRC 104,725 29,216 133,941 84,711 27,487 112,198
Middle East 121,314 – 121,314 18,965 – 18,965
Singapore 110,758 – 110,758 11,843 – 11,843
Europe 91,050 – 91,050 88,058 – 88,058
United States of America 59,005 – 59,005 25,265 – 25,265
Hong Kong 38,589 – 38,589 60,598 – 60,598
Taiwan 12,320 – 12,320 50,223 – 50,223
South Africa 4,092 – 4,092 1,599 – 1,599
Malaysia 2,499 – 2,499 3,554 – 3,554
Australia 2,252 – 2,252 2,609 – 2,609
Others 6,984 – 6,984 7,558 – 7,558        

Total 553,588 29,216 582,804 354,983 27,487 382,470        
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2024
10% 2023

10%
99,411,000 2023

38,850,000

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of 
non-current assets (other than financial instruments), 
analysed by the geographical area in which the assets 
are located:

As at
31 December

2024

As at
31 December

2023
2024

12 31
2023

12 31
US$’000 US$’000

    

PRC 133,809 139,411
Hong Kong 86,813 46,723
Others 1,130 1,463    

221,752 187,597    

Information about major customers

During the year 2024, there is one customer (2023: 
one customer) contributes over 10% of the total sales. 
The customer contributes over 10% of the total sales 
amounted to US$99,411,000 (2023: another customer 
contributed sales amounted to US$38,850,000) in 
aggregate.
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2024
902,000 2023 829,000

6 OTHER INCOME

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Interest earned on bank deposits 8,351 6,527
Interest earned on bank deposits with 

original maturity over 3 months  3,817 7,889
Imputed interest income from 

consideration receivable 150 322
Dividend income from equity instrument 

at FVTOCI  
 1,173 1,831

Governments grants 902 829
Rental income from investment 

properties 1,868 1,990
Others 1,109 1,220    

17,370 20,608    

During the year 2024, the Group received US$902,000 
(2023: US$829,000) f rom the local  government 
author i t ies for  the encouragement on economic 
contribution to the industry development with no 
specific conditions attached.
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7 FINANCE COSTS

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Interest on bank borrowings 1,094 46
Interest on lease liabilities 156 207
Bank charges 76 90    

1,326 343    

8 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Net exchange gain (loss) 3,715 (502)
Fair value loss on derivative financial 

instruments  – (365)
Fair value (loss) gain on financial asset 

at FVTPL  
 (69) 58

Fair value loss on investment properties (5,466) (2,647)
Impairment to consideration 

receivables (1,403) (3,676)
Impairment losses under expected 

credit loss model, net of reversal  (450) 43
Impairment loss on property, plant and 

equipment  (627) –
Gain on lease modification 264 –
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment  (1,026) 54
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 

(note 16)  16 8,260 –
Loss on property, plant and equipment 

written off  (239) (41)    

2,959 (7,076)    
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9 9 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging 
(crediting) the following:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Auditors’ remuneration 520 564    

Research and development costs
 –  Included in cost of sales  –  5,372 3,344
 –  Included in administrative  

 expenses
 –  

2,205 2,112    

7,577 5,456    

Staff costs, including directors’ 
 emoluments
 –  Salaries and other benefits  –  107,757 71,808
 –  Retirement benefit costs (note 11)  –  11 3,172 2,899    

110,929 74,707    

Depreciation expense
 –  Depreciation of property,  

 plant and equipment
 –   

 9,768 8,459
 –  Depreciation of right-of-use assets  –  3,828 4,405    

13,596 12,864    
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2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Share of taxation charge of associates 492 413
Share of taxation charge of 
 joint ventures 73 53    

565 466    

Gross rental income (1,868) (1,877)
Less:  direct operating expenses that  

 generated rental income  
 during the year

  
 

300 304    

(1,568) (1,573)    

Cost of inventories recognised 
 as expense (including provision 
 of inventories US$4,526,000 
 (2023: reversal of provision of 
 inventories US$426,000))

 
 4,526,000
 (2023
 426,000 490,018 325,942    

9 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)
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2024

10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS
The following was the emoluments paid or payable to 
each of the 10 (2023: 9) directors of the Company.

2024

Executive Directors
Non-executive 

Directors Independent Non-executive Directors

   

Teo 
Siong Seng

Chung 
Pui King, 
Rebecca

Siu 
Wai Yee, 

Winnie

Lau 
Man Yee, 
Vanessa

Ng 
Wai Lim

Cheng 
Fu Kwok, 

David

Lau 
Ho Kit, 

Ivan

Ho 
Teck 

Cheong

Lam 
Sze Ken, 
Kenneth

Wong 
Sau Pik Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

(Note a) (Note b) (Note e) (Note f) (Note f) (Note g) (Note g)
a b e f f g g             

Fees 59 32 32 37 26 30 31 56 25 30 358
Other emoluments:

Salaries and other benefits  
480 330 546 – – – – – – – 1,356

Contributions to retirement 
benefit scheme 24 16 21 – – – – – – – 61

Performance related 
incentive payments

 
853 188 248 – – – – – – – 1,289             

1,416 566 847 37 26 30 31 56 25 30 3,064             
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2023

10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

2023

Executive Directors Non-executive Directors
Independent 

Non-executive Directors

   

Teo 
Siong Seng

Chung 
Pui King, 
Rebecca

Siu 
Wai Yee, 

Winnie

Lau 
Man Yee, 

Vanessa

Chan 
Kwok 

Leung
Kwa 

Wee Keng

Cheng 
Fu Kwok, 

David

Lau 
Ho Kit, 

Ivan

Ho 
Teck 

Cheong Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d)
a b c d            

Fees 61 32 32 33 3 11 61 64 51 348
Other emoluments:

Salaries and other 
benefits

 
479 323 528 – – – – – – 1,330

Contributions to 
retirement benefit 
scheme 24 15 19 – – – – – – 58

Performance related 
incentive payments

 
486 64 199 – – – – – – 749            

1,050 434 778 33 3 11 61 64 51 2,485            
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(a) 2023 1 1

(b) 2023 4 1
2024 11 1

(c) 2023 2 24

(d) 2023 4 1

(e) 2024 6 26

(f) 2024 6
26

(g) 2024 6
26

10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Ms. Siu Wai Yee, Winnie has been appointed as executive 
director with effect from 1 January 2023.

(b) Ms. Lau Man Yee, Vanessa has been appointed as non-
executive director with effect from 1 April 2023 and has 
resigned as non-executive director with effect from 1 
November 2024.

(c) Mr. Chan Kwok Leung has resigned as non-executive director 
with effect from 24 February 2023.

(d) Mr. Kwa Wee Keng has resigned as non-executive director 
with effect from 1 April 2023.

(e) Mr. Ng Wai Lim has been appointed as non-executive 
director with effect from 26 June 2024.

(f) Mr. Cheng Fu Kwok, David and Mr. Lau Ho Kit, Ivan have 
resigned as independent non-executive director with effect 
from 26 June 2024.

(g) Mr. Lam Sze Ken, Kenneth and Ms. Wong Sau Pik have been 
appointed as independent non-executive director with effect 
from 26 June 2024.

Mr. Teo Siong Seng is also the Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above 
include those for services rendered by him as the Chief 
Executive Officer.

The executive directors’ fees are for their services as the 
directors of the Company and their other emoluments 
shown above were for their services in connection with 
the management of the affairs of the Company and the 
Group. The non-executive directors’ and independent 
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were 
for their services as directors of the Company.
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2023
2023

10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The above analysis includes 3 (2023: 3) directors 
whose emoluments were among the five highest paid 
individuals in the Group. Details of the aggregate 
e m o l u m e n t s  p a i d  t o  t h e  r e m a i n i n g  2  (2023:  2) 
individuals whose emoluments were among the five 
highest paid individuals in the Group and which have 
not been included in directors’ emoluments above are 
set out below:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Salaries and other benefits 506 332
Retirement benefit costs 22 29    

528 361    

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2024 2023
Number of 
individuals

Number of 
individuals

    

US$128,095 – US$192,143  
(Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) 
1,000,000 – HK$1,500,000)

128,095 – 192,143
1,000,000 – 

1,500,000 – 2
US$192,144 – US$256,190 

(HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000)
192,144 – 256,190

1,500,001 – 
2,000,000 1 –

US$256,191 – US$320,238 
(HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000)

256,191 – 320,238
2,000,001 – 

2,500,000 1 –
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3,172,000 2023 2,899,000

10 DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No waiver of emoluments, compensation loss and 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group was paid 
to directors of the Company or the five highest paid 
individuals during both years .

11 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS
The Group has joined MPF scheme for all employees 
in Hong Kong. The MPF scheme is registered with the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority under 
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. 
The assets of the MPF scheme are held separately from 
those of the Group in funds under the control of an 
independent trustee.

Under the rules of the MPF scheme, the employer and 
its employees are each required to make contributions 
to the MPF scheme at rates specified in the rules. The 
only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF 
scheme is to make the required contributions under the 
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce 
the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members 
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated 
by the government in the PRC. Subsidiaries are required 
to contribute a certain percentage of relevant payroll to 
the retirement benefit schemes. Obligations under the 
scheme are borne by the PRC Government.

The retirement benefit costs charged to the profit or 
loss representing contributions payable by the Group 
to the MPF Scheme operated in Hong Kong and the 
retirement benefit schemes in the PRC amounted to 
US$3,172,000 (2023: US$2,899,000).
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11 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Continued)

No forfeited contributions of the Group’s defined 
c o n t r i b u t i o n  r e t i r e m e n t  s c h e m e s  w a s  u s e d  t o 
reduce the current year’s contributions. At the end 
of the reporting period, the Group had no forfeited 
contributions, which arose from the employees leaving 
the retirement schemes and which are available to 
reduce the contribution payable by the Group in the 
future years.

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, 
pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the 
Group has the obligation to pay Long Service Payment 
(“LSP”) to qualifying employees in Hong Kong under 
certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers 
or upon retirement), subject to a minimum of 5 years 
employment period, based on certain formula.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise 
the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus 
any positive/negative returns thereof, for the purpose of 
offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the “Offsetting 
Arrangement”).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazet ted on 17 
June 2022, which abolishes the use of the accrued 
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF 
contributions to offset the LSP. The Abolit ion wil l 
officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 
2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is 
also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist 
employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition 
Date on the LSP payable by employers up to a certain 
amount per employee per year. Under the Amendment 
Ordinance, the accrued benefits derived from the 
Group’s Enhanced MPF Scheme, minus the mandatory 
contributions, made pre-, on or post-transition can 
continue to be used to offset pre-and post-transition 
LSP. The impact from the Amendment Ordinance on the 
Group’s LSP liability is considered insignificant.
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2024
12 31 2023 12 31

15%

25%

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as there 
was no taxable profit during both years.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been calculated on the 
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates 
of taxation prevailing in the PRC in which the Group 
operates.

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Current tax:
 PRC Enterprise Income Tax  
  –  Current year   –  12,422 4,875
  –  Overprovision in prior years   –  (73) (91)    

12,349 4,784    

Deferred tax (note 35) : 35
 –  Current year charge (credit)  –  885 (353)
 –  Withholding tax on  

 undistributed profits
 –  

1,642 718    

2,527 365    

Income tax expense for the year 14,876 5,149    

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, 
PRC subsidiaries qualified as Hi-Tech Enterprise are 
entitled to a favorable tax rate of 15% for PRC enterprise 
income tax for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023. The tax rate of the other PRC subsidiaries is 25%. 
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12 12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Profit before taxation 52,945 27,642    

Tax at the domestic tax rate of 25% 
(2023: 25%)

25%
 2023 25% 13,236 6,911

Tax effect of share of results of 
associates  (423) (329)

Tax effect of share of results of joint 
ventures  (52) (51)

Tax effect of expenses that are not 
deductible in determining taxable 
profit

 
 6,175 5,587

Tax effect of income that are not 
taxable in determining taxable profit  (4,625) (4,877)

Tax effect on tax losses arising in the 
current year not recognised  1,239 274

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses 
previously not recognised  (2,117) (1,653)

Withholding tax on undistributed profits 1,642 718

Tax relief related to additional tax 
deduction on research expenses 
incurred (note)

 
 (743) (873)

Tax effect of deductible temporary 
difference not recognised  1,169 –

Utilisation of deductible temporary 
difference previously not recognised  – (219)

Others (625) (339)    

Tax charge at effective rate for the year
 14,876 5,149    
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3
7 1 , 4 6 6 , 0 0 0

9,164,000 2024 12 31

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Note: P u r s u a n t  t o  r e l e v a n t  l a w  a n d  r e g u l a t i o n s ,  t h e  P R C 
subsidiaries that incurred sufficient qualifying research and 
development costs and qualified as Hi-Tech Enterprise are 
entitled to a tax deduction on Enterprise Income Tax for both 
years.

13 DIVIDENDS
Dividends recognised as distributions during the year:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Interim dividend in respect of 
 the current financial year 
 – HK3 cents (2023: HK1 cent) 
 per ordinary share

 
 – 3
 2023
 1 9,164 3,055    

Final dividend in respect of 
 the previous financial year 
 – HK4 cents (2023: HK2 cents) 
 per ordinary share

 – 4
 2023
 2 12,196 6,079    

Special dividend in respect of 
 the current financial year 
 – nil (2023: HK17 cents) 
 per ordinary share

 – 2023
 17

– 51,933    

A n  i n t e r i m d i v i d e n d o f  H K3 c e n t s  p e r  o r d i n a r y 
share, total of which equivalent to approximately 
H K $ 7 1 , 4 6 6 , 0 0 0  ( e q u i v a l e n t  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
US$9,164,000) was declared and paid during the year 
ended 31 December 2024.
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13 
17
404,975,000

51,933,000 2023 12 31
2024 12
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13 DIVIDENDS (Continued)

An interim special dividend of HK17 cents per ordinary 
share, total of which equivalent to approximately 
H K$404,975,000 (e q u i v a l e n t  t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y 
US$51,933,000) was declared and paid during the year 
ended 31 December 2023. No special dividend was 
declared and paid during the year ended 31 December 
2024.

The final dividend of HK4 cents in respect of the year 
ended 31 December 2023 per ordinary share, total of 
which equivalent to approximately HK$95,288,000 
(equivalent to approximately US$12,196,000) were 
approved by the shareholders in the annual general 
meeting held on 26 June 2024 and was distributed on 
19 July 2024.

The final dividend of HK5 cents in respect of the year 
ended 31 December 2024 per ordinary share, total of 
which equivalent to approximately HK$119,110,000 
(equivalent to approximately US$15,271,000) has 
been proposed by the board of directors and is subject 
to approval by the shareholders in forthcoming annual 
general meeting.
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14 14 BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable 
to owners of the Company is based on the following 
data:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Earnings:

Profit for the purposes of calculating 
basic earnings per share  34,135 19,438    

Number of shares:

Number of ordinary shares for the 
purpose of calculating basic earnings 
per share

 
2,382,205,918 2,382,205,918    

No diluted earnings per share was presented as the 
Company has no potential ordinary shares in issue in 
both years.
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15 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold land 
and buildings 

and site 
improvements

Leased 
Containers

Plant and 
machinery

Furniture, 
fittings 

and office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

         

Cost
 At 1 January 2023  2023 1 1 73,963 8,891 71,939 4,324 3,688 1,824 164,629
 Translation differences  (197) – (110) (7) (5) – (319)
 Additions (Note)  4 14,138 791 207 24 4,481 19,645
 Disposals  (228) (9) (770) (82) (603) – (1,692)
 Write off  – – (255) (83) (38) – (376)
 Transfer  764 – 2,634 127 177 (3,702) –         

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 74,306 23,020 74,229 4,486 3,243 2,603 181,887
Translation differences (109) – (96) (7) (5) – (217)
Additions (Note) 341 45,296 1,006 316 1 8,476 55,436
Disposals (3,275) (36) (2,088) (107) (253) – (5,759)
Write off – – (1,481) (179) (97) – (1,757)
Transfer 843 – 3,351 236 71 (4,501) –         

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 72,106 68,280 74,921 4,745 2,960 6,578 229,590         
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15  

Leasehold land 
and buildings 

and site 
improvements

Leased 
Containers

Plant and 
machinery

Furniture, 
fittings 

and office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

         

Accumulated depreciation 
 and impairment
 At 1 January 2023  2023 1 1 31,728 437 41,229 3,046 1,198 – 77,638
 Translation differences  (132) – (70) (6) (4) – (212)
 Charge for the year  2,991 634 3,940 549 345 – 8,459
 Eliminated on disposals  (2) (1) (684) (73) (544) – (1,304)
 Eliminated on write off  – – (226) (75) (34) – (335)         

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 34,585 1,070 44,189 3,441 961 – 84,246
Translation differences (114) – (64) (5) (4) – (187)
Charge for the year 2,958 1,671 4,239 605 295 – 9,768
Impairment loss recognised in 
 profit or loss  590 – – 34 3 – 627
Eliminated on disposals (2,384) (4) (1,845) (106) (228) – (4,567)
Eliminated on write off – – (1,267) (163) (88) – (1,518)         

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 35,635 2,737 45,252 3,806 939 – 88,369         

Carrying values
 At 31 December 2024  2024 12 31 36,471 65,543 29,669 939 2,021 6,578 141,221         

 At 31 December 2023  2023 12 31 39,721 21,950 30,040 1,045 2,282 2,603 97,641         

Note: During the year of 2024, included in the additions, there 
was transfer of leased assets from inventories amounted 
to US$45,296,000 (2023: US$14,138,000) upon lease 
commencement.

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

 2024
從

45,296,000 2023 14,138,000
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15  15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)

The carrying value of land and buildings of the Group is 
analysed as follows:

As at
31 December

2024

As at
31 December

2023
2024

12 31
2023

12 31
US$’000 US$’000

    

Leasehold land and buildings 7,990 8,288
Site improvements 28,481 31,433    

36,471 39,721    

The land and building elements of a lease of land and 
building cannot be allocated reliably between the land 
and building elements, the entire lease is treated as 
property, plant and equipment.
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16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at
31 December

2024

As at
31 December

2023
2024

12 31
2023

12 31
US$’000 US$’000

    

Leasehold lands 29,441 32,003
Leasehold properties 1,686 3,579    

Carrying amount 31,127 35,582    

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2024

For the 
year ended 

31 December 
2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

US$’000 US$’000

    

Depreciation charge 3,828 4,405

Expense relating to short-term leases 
with lease terms within 12 months

12
323 418

Expense relating to leases of  
low-value assets, excluding short-
term leases of low  
value assets

 

2 1

Total cash outflow for leases 3,025 3,751

Additions/modifications to  
right-of-use assets 575 1,083    

16 
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16 

2024 2023 12
31

2 0 2 4 1 2 3 1

9 , 5 6 0 , 0 0 0
1,300,000

8,260,000

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases for its operations. 
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of one 
to five years, but may have extension and termination 
options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual 
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing 
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group 
applies the definition of a contract and determines the 
period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings 
where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located 
and office buildings. The Group is the registered owner 
of these property interests, including the underlying 
leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made 
upfront to acquire these property interests.  The 
leasehold land components of these owned properties 
are presented separately only if the payments made can 
be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases 
for certain premises and office equipment. As at 31 
December 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-term 
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to 
which the short-term lease expense incurred during the 
year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
disposed leasehold lands located in the PRC, for a total 
sales proceed of US$9,560,000 with carrying amount of 
US$1,300,000 , resulting in a gain on disposal right-of-
use assets of US$8,260,000.
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16 
575,000 2023

1,083,000

17 

2024 2023 12
31

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

During the current year, lease liabilities of US$575,000 
(2023: US$1,083,000) are recognised with related 
right-of-use assets attributable to new leases entered 
into/leases modified. The lease agreements do not 
impose any covenants other than the security interests 
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor and 
the relevant leased assets may not be used as security 
for borrowing purposes. In addition, certain lease 
agreements were early terminated and therefore 
certain right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were 
derecognised without significant gain or loss. These are 
major non-cash transactions of the current year.

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

US$’000

   

FAIR VALUE
At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 35,330
Change in fair value (2,647)
Exchange adjustment (303)   

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 32,380
Change in fair value (5,466)
Exchange adjustment (150)   

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 26,764   

The Group’s property interest held under operating 
lease to earn rental is measured using the fair value 
model and is classified and accounted for as investment 
properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties as 
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 have been arrived at 
on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective 
dates by Avista Valuation Advisory Limited, independent 
qualified professional valuers not connected to the 
Group.
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17 

2024 12 31
2023 12 31

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest 
and best use of the properties is their current use.

The fair value of investment properties is determined 
by using income capitalisation approach. The income 
capitalisation approach is calculated by capitalising the 
rental income derived from the existing tenancies with 
due provision for any reversionary income potential.

The investment properties are categorised into Level 
3 of the fair value hierarchy and below is a table which 
presents the significant unobservable inputs as at 31 
December 2024 and 31 December 2023. 

Fair value Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Sensitivity

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

      

Investment properties 
in  
the PRC

14,843 16,251 Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into account the 
capitalisation of rental income potential, 
nature of the property, and prevailing 
market condition, of 7% (2023: 7%).

A slight increase in the capitalisation 
rate used would result in a significant 
decrease in fair value, and vice versa.

 7% 2023 7%

Monthly market rent at RMB29.4 (2023: 
RMB32.4) per sq. meter per month.

A significant increase in the market 
rent used would result in a significant 
increase in fair value, and vice versa.

29.4 2023 32.4
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17 

Fair value Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Sensitivity

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

      

Investment properties 
in  
Hong Kong

11,921 16,129 Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into account the 
capitalisation of rental income potential, 
nature of the property, and prevailing 
market condition, of 3% (2023: 3%).

A slight increase in the capitalisation 
rate used would result in a significant 
decrease in fair value, and vice versa.

 3% 2023 3%

Monthly market rent at HK$20.9 (2023: 
HK$24.6) per sq. feet per month.

A significant increase in the market 
rent used would result in a significant 
increase in fair value, and vice versa.

20.9
2023 24.6  

26,764 32,380  

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during 
both years.

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
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18 

2024 2023 12 31

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Unlisted shares and investments:
At cost 11,962 11,962
Share of post-acquisition reserves,  

net of dividend received
 

3,611 3,607    

15,573 15,569    

Particulars of associates as at 31 December 2024 and 
2023 are set out below:

Name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
operation

Group’s equity 
interest

Proportion of voting
power held

Principal
activities

2024 2023 2024 2023       

Ningbo Victory Container Co., Ltd. (“NVC”)# PRC 40.0%^ 40.0%^ 40.0%^ 40.0%^ Provision of container 
storage and repair 
services

#  

Singamas Thai Logistics Co., Ltd.* Thailand 25.0%^ 25.0%^ 25.0%^ 25.0%^ Provision of container 
storage and repair 
services
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* 

# 

^ 

Name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
operation

Group’s equity 
interest

Proportion of voting
power held

Principal
activities

2024 2023 2024 2023       

Xiamen Xiangyu Singamas Container Co., Ltd.# PRC 35.0%^ 35.0%^ 28.6%^ 28.6%^ Provision of container 
storage, repair and 
trucking services, 
and serving as a 
freight station

#

ALS Singamas Logistics Limited India 30.0%^ 30.0%^ 25.0%^ 25.0%^ Provision of liquid tank 
logistics operation

 

Qingdao Singamas International Logistics Co., 
Ltd.#

PRC 25.2%^ 25.2%^ 40.0%^ 40.0%^ Provision of container 
storage and repair 
services

#  

* Associate held directly by the Company

# Equity joint venture established in the PRC in accordance 
with relevant laws and regulations

^ In proportion to issued and fully paid registered capital

18 18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
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18 18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

S u m m a r i s e d  f i n a n c i a l  i n f o r m a t i o n  o f  m a t e r i a l 
associates:

Summarised financial information in respect of the 
Group’s material  associate is set out below. The 
summarised financial information below represents 
amounts shown in the associates’ financial statements 
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method 
in these consolidated financial statements.

NVC

 
As at 31 December

12 31

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Current assets 5,870 4,314    

Non-current assets 25,516 26,969    

Current liabilities (3,676) (3,173)    

Non-current liabilities (296) (1,271)    
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18 18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December
12 31

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Revenue 15,845 15,400    

Profit for the year 3,002 2,278
Other comprehensive expense  

for the year (401) (403)    

Total comprehensive income  
for the year 2,601 1,875    

Dividends received by the Group  
from the associate during the year 810 899    

Reconcil iation of the above summarised financial 
information to the carrying amount of the interests in 
the associates recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements:

NVC

 
As at 31 December

12 31

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Net assets of the material associate 27,414 26,839    

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 
in material associate 10,966 10,736    
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18 

19 

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not 
individually material:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

The Group’s share of profit for  
the year 491 405

The Group’s share of other 
comprehensive expense

 
(94) (28)    

The Group’s share of total 
comprehensive income

 
397 377    

Aggregate carrying amount of the 
Group’s interests in these associates 
at 31 December 

12 31  

4,607 4,833    

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Unlisted shares and investments:
At cost 5,429 5,429
Share of post-acquisition reserves,  

net of dividend received
 

905 924    

6,334 6,353    
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19 
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# 

^ 

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Particulars of joint ventures as at 31 December 2024 
and 2023 are set out below:

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

Group equity 
interest

Proportion of voting 
power held

Principal 
activities

2024 2023 2024 2023       

Dalian Singamas International Container Co., 
Ltd. (“DSIC”) # ^

PRC 36.8% 36.8% 33.3% 33.3% Provision of container 
storage and repair 
services

 
# ^

 

Fuzhou Singamas Container Co., Ltd. # ^ PRC 40.0% 40.0% 40.0% 40.0% Provision of container 
storage and repair 
services

# ^  

# Equity joint venture established in the PRC in accordance 
with relevant laws and regulations.

^ These companies are accounted for as joint ventures as 
at respective period end date as in accordance with the 
memorandum and articles of the companies, major financial 
and operating policies of these companies require the 
unanimous consent of all directors of the joint ventures.
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19 19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material joint 
venture:

Summarised financial information in respect of the 
Group’s material joint venture is set out below. The 
summarised financial information below represents 
a m o u n t s  s h o w n i n  t h e  j o i n t  v e n t u r e’s  f i n a n c i a l 
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity 
method in these consolidated financial statements.

DSIC

As at 31 December
12 31

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Current assets 3,388 3,192    

Non-current assets 12,480 13,035    

Current liabilities (1,502) (1,798)    
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19 19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

For the year ended 
31 December
12 31
2024 2023

US$’000 US$’000

    

Revenue 9,466 8,426    

Profit for the year 525 387
Other comprehensive expense  

for the year (212) (231)    

Total comprehensive income  
for the year 313 156    

Dividends received by the Group from 
the joint venture during the year 134 49    

Reconcil iation of the above summarised financial 
information to the carrying amount of the interest 
in DSIC recognised in the consol idated f inancial 
statements:

DSIC

As at 31 December
12 31

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Net assets of the joint venture 14,366 14,429    

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 
interest in DSIC 5,292 5,316

Other adjustments (76) (82)    

Carrying amount of the Group’s  
interest in DSIC 5,216 5,234    
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19 

20 

14.0% 2023 14.0%

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint venture that is not 
individually material:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

The Group’s share of profit  
for the year 16 61

The Group’s share of other 
comprehensive expense

 
(17) (19)    

The Group’s share of total 
comprehensive (expense) income

 
(1) 42    

Aggregate carrying amount of the 
Group’s interest in these joint 
ventures as at 31 December

12 31

1,118 1,119    

20 EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FVTOCI 

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Unlisted security 20,522 26,163    

The Group’s unquoted equity investment represented 
14.0% (2023: 14.0%) equity interest of Xiamen Xiangyu 
Superchain Supply Chain Development Co., Ltd., a 
logistic company established in the PRC.
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20 

21 

2024 12 31

2024 12 31

12

22 

20 EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FVTOCI (Continued) 

The directors of the Company have elected to designate 
this investment in equity instrument at FVTOCI as they 
believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in this 
investment’s fair value in profit or loss would not be 
consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding this 
investment for long-term purposes and realising its 
performance potential in the long run. This investment 
is not held for trading and not expected to be sold in the 
foreseeable future.

21 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL 

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s financial asset at 
FVTPL represents investment in an unlisted equity 
investment. The investment is classified as financial 
asset at FVTPL at initial recognition and measures at 
fair value at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2024, the management of the 
Group expects that the financial asset at FVTPL will be 
redeemed/materialised within 12 months from the end 
of the reporting period, accordingly, the financial asset 
at FVTPL was reclassified from non-current assets to 
current assets.

22 INVENTORIES

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Raw materials 30,132 38,160
Work in progress 30,316 22,827
Finished goods 87,599 45,606    

148,047 106,593    
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23 

2023 1 1
90,934,000

3 0 1 2 0 2 0 2 3
30 120

23 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Trade receivables from third parties 58,714 65,964
Trade receivables from fellow 

subsidiaries 395 385
Trade and operating lease receivables 

from immediate holding company 33,081 233
Finance lease receivables from third 

parties 72,521 34,739
Less: allowance for credit losses  

(note 37(b))
 

37(b) (451) (105)    

Net trade receivables 164,260 101,216    

Analysed for reporting purpose of:
Amount shown under non-current 

assets
 

67,259 30,092
Amount shown under current assets 97,001 71,124    

164,260 101,216    

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts 
with customers are US$90,934,000.

Trade receivables from third parties

A defined credit policy is maintained within the Group. 
The credit terms are agreed with each of its trade 
customers depending on the creditworthiness of the 
customers ranging from 30 days to 120 days (2023: 30 
days to 120 days) upon technical acceptance/invoice 
issuance/delivery.

T h e G r o u p a s s e s s e d t h e c r e d i t  q u a l i t y  o f  t r a d e 
receivables from third parties based on historical 
default rates and the creditworthiness of the customers.
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2 0 2 4 1 2 3 1

6,813,000 2023 13,314,000

2,494,000
2023 937,000 90

37(b)

23 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables from third parties (Continued)

The aged analysis of trade receivables from third 
parties, net of allowance for credit losses, which is 
prepared based on invoice date of each transaction 
which approximated the respective revenue recognition 
dates or date of rendering of services, at the end of the 
reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

0 to 30 days 28,720 34,711
31 to 60 days 11,718 19,052
61 to 90 days 7,483 7,309
91 to 120 days 1,429 471
Over 120 days 8,933 4,326    

Classified as current asset 58,283 65,869    

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade 
receivables balance from third parties are debtors 
with aggregate carrying amount of US$6,813,000 
(2023: US$13,314,000) which are past due as at the 
reporting date. Included in the past due balances of 
US$2,494,000 (2023: US$937,000) has been past due 
90 days or more and is not considered as in default on 
the basis that these are long term customers with on-
going business relationship with the Group.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables 
from third parties are set out in note 37(b).
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23 

2024 12 31
1,227,000 2023 5,352,000

2023 12 31

24

60 2023 60

37(b)

23 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables from third parties (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, total bills received amounting 
to US$1,227,000 (2023: US$5,352,000) are held by 
the Group for future settlement of trade receivables. All 
bills received by the Group are with a maturity period 
of less than one year. As at 31 December 2023, certain 
bills were further discounted/endorsed by the Group. 
The Group continued to recognise their full carrying 
amounts at the end of the reporting period and details 
are disclosed in note 24.

Trade receivables from fellow subsidiaries

The payment term with fellow subsidiaries is that the 
transaction amount shall be settled within 60 days 
(2023: 60 days) from the invoice date.

The aged analysis of trade receivables from fellow 
subsidiaries, net of allowance for credit losses, which 
is prepared based on invoice date of each transaction, 
which approximated the respective revenue recognition 
dates, at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

0 to 30 days 229 175
31 to 60 days 142 178
61 to 90 days 24 32    

395 385    

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables 
from fellow subsidiaries are set out in note 37(b).
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23 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade and operating lease receivables from 
immediate holding company

For trade receivables from immediate holding company, 
the transaction amount shall be settled 60 days after 
technical acceptance has been issued.

For operating lease receivables from immediate holding 
company, the lease rental shall be settled within 45 
days (2023: 45 days) from the invoice date.

The aged analys is  o f  t rade and operat ing lease 
receivables from immediate holding company, net of 
allowance for credit losses, which is prepared based on 
invoice date of each transaction, which approximated 
the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of 
the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

0 to 30 days 24,013 137
31 to 60 days 9,068 96    

33,081 233    

Details of impairment assessment of lease receivables 
from immediate holding company are set out in note 
37(b).

Finance lease receivables from third parties

The Group entered into finance lease arrangements as 
a lessor for dry freight containers. The average terms of 
finance leases entered into usually range from 3 to 15 
years. All interest rates inherent in the leases are fixed 
at the contract date over the lease terms.
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23 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Finance lease receivables from third parties 
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, unguaranteed residual values 
of assets leased under finance leases are estimated 
at US$18,514,000 (2023: US$7,746,000). The risk 
arising from unguaranteed residual value on dry freight 
containers under lease is not significant, because of the 
existence of a secondary market with respect to the dry 
freight containers.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the finance 
lease receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, 
increased due to more finance lease contracts were 
entered.

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Finance lease receivables comprise:
Within one year 1 8,851 6,168
In the second year 2 7,934 3,793
In the third year 3 7,933 2,654
In the fourth year 4 7,921 2,654
In the fifth year 5 6,759 2,627
After five years 5 43,061 22,196    

82,459 40,092
Unguaranteed residual values 18,514 7,746    

Gross investment in the lease 100,973 47,838
Less: unearned finance income (28,472) (13,109)    

Present value of minimum lease 
payments 72,501 34,729    

Analysed as
Current 5,242 4,637
Non-current 67,259 30,092    

72,501 34,729    
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24 TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The following were the Group’s bills receivables as at 31 
December 2023 that were discounted to banks on a full 
recourse basis.

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Carrying amount of discounted bills 
receivables – 1,246

Carrying amount of associated liabilities – (1,246)    

Net position – –
    

The Group discounted bills receivables to banks by 
discounting those receivables on a full recourse basis. 
As the Group had not transferred the significant risks 
and rewards relating to these receivables, it continued 
to recognise the full carrying amount of the receivables 
and had recognised the cash received on the transfer 
as discounted bil ls (see note 33). These financial 
assets were carried at amortised cost in the Group’s 
consolidated statement of financial position.
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25 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

The Group’s prepayment and other 
receivables comprise:

Consideration receivables in connection 
with disposal of subsidiaries – 4,753

Advance to suppliers 12,599 15,920
Value added tax 11,903 2,567
Other advance payments 7,093 6,792    

31,595 30,032    

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables 
are set out in note 37(b).

26 AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO A FELLOW 
SUBSIDIARY AND IMMEDIATE HOLDING 
COMPANY
The amount due from/to a fe l low subsidiary and 
immediate holding company is non-trade nature, 
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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27 CASH AND DEPOSITS WITH BANKS

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Cash and deposits with banks 250,149 300,963
Less: Bank deposit with original 

maturity over 3 months (51,797) (173,130)    

Cash and cash equivalents in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows 198,352 127,833    

Bank balances comprising cash and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of 3 months or less, carry 
interest at prevailing market deposit rate ranged from 
0.01% to 5.59% (2023: 0.01% to 5.50%) per annum.

Bank deposit with original maturity over 3 months carry 
interest at market rate at an average prevailing 5.49% 
(2023: 5.66%) per annum.
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28 TRADE PAYABLES
Included in the Group’s trade payables as at 31 
December 2024 are bi l ls presented by the Group 
t o  r e l e v a n t  c r e d i t o r s  o f  U S $ 1 , 4 0 8 , 0 0 0  ( 2 0 2 3 : 
US$8,611,000) which are for future settlement. All 
bills presented by the Group are aged within 365 days 
and not yet due at the end of the reporting period. The 
Group continues to recognise these trade payables as 
the relevant banks are obliged to make payments only 
on due dates of the bills, under the same conditions as 
agreed with the suppliers without further extension. The 
following is an analysis of trade payables by age based 
on invoice date of each transaction.

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

0 to 30 days 39,158 20,528
31 to 60 days 14,153 6,182
61 to 90 days 11,798 6,175
91 to 120 days 1,706 305
Over 120 days 3,177 1,800    

69,992 34,990    

The average credit period on purchases of materials is 
30 to 90 days. The Group has financial risk management 
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled 
within the credit timeframe.
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29 LEASE LIABILITIES

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Lease liabilities payable:
Within 1 year 1,084 2,099
Within a period of more than 1 year but 

not more than 2 years 618 623
Within a period of more than 2 years 

but not more than 5 years 53 1,164    

1,755 3,886
Less: Amount due for settlement within 

12 months shown under 
current liabilities (1,084) (2,099)    

Amount due for settlement after 12 
months shown under non-current 
liabilities 671 1,787    

The weighted average borrowing rates applied to lease 
liabilities range from 4% to 5.5% (2023: from 3% to 
5.5%).

30 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
Accruals and other payables consist provision of staff 
cost, selling expenses and upgrade of facilities, and 
other accrued expenses.
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31 ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Advances from third party customers 39,419 36,525    

Advances from customers for sales of containers at 1 
January 2024 were fully recognised as revenue in the 
current year (1 January 2023: fully recognised in year of 
2023).

W h e n  t h e  G r o u p  r e c e i v e s  a  d e p o s i t  b e f o r e  t h e 
commencement of the production activity, this will give 
rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract.

32 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO ASSOCIATES 
AND JOINT VENTURES
The amounts due from/to associates and joint ventures 
are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest free and 
repayable on demand.
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33 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Unsecured Bank loan 27,719 5,589
Bills discounted with recourse  

(note 24)
 

24 – 1,246    

27,719 6,835
Less: Amount due within one year 

shown under current liabilities (27,719) (1,246)    

Amount due after one year but within 
two years shown under non-current 
liabilities – 5,589    

No single borrowing is individually material, and terms 
and conditions of all borrowings are presented by 
appropriate groupings.

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

The exposure of the Group’s  
borrowings are as follows:

 

Fixed-rate borrowings 27,719 1,246
Variable-rate borrowings – 5,589    

27,719 6,835    

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s variable-rate 
borrowings carried interest at China loan prime rate 
(“LPR”) minus 0.3%. Interest was reset every year.
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34 

33 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 
(Continued)

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also 
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s 
borrowings are as follows:

For the year ended 
31 December
12 31

2024 2023    

Effective interest rate per annum:
Fixed-rate borrowings 2.94% 1.75%
Variable-rate borrowings – 3.90%    

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s bank and 
other borrowings that are denominated in currencies 
other than the functional currencies of the relevant 
group entities are set out below:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Denominated in RMB 27,719 6,835    

34 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Share Capital

2024 2023 2024 2024 2023 2023
US$’000 HK$’000 US$’000 HK$’000

        

Issued and fully paid:
At beginning and at end of 

the year 2,382,205,918 2,382,205,918 268,149 2,078,513 268,149 2,078,513        

There was no changes in the Company’s share capital 
during both years.
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6,758,000 2023 2,988,000

35 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, US$6,758,000 (2023: 
US$2,988,000) deferred tax assets have been offset 
with deferred tax liabilities. The following are the major 
deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised by the Group 
and movements thereon during the current and prior 
years:

Revaluation of 
Investment 
properties

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation
Undistributed 

profits Tax loss

Fair value 
(gain) loss 

on equity 
instrument 
at FVTOCI Others Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

         

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 (4,554) (1,681) (8,401) 1,691 (2,176) 347 (14,774)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss  

(note 12) 12 606 (1,203) (718) 909 – 41 (365)
Deferred tax liability on fair value loss 

on equity instrument at FVTOCI
 

 
 

– – – – 221 – 221
Reversal of withholding tax upon 

distribution
 

– – 3,004 – – – 3,004         

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 (3,948) (2,884) (6,115) 2,600 (1,955) 388 (11,914)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss  

(note 12) 12 1,049 (5,704) (1,642) 3,949 – (179) (2,527)
Deferred tax liability on fair value loss 

on equity instrument at FVTOCI
 

 
 

– – – – 564 – 564
Reversal of withholding tax upon 

distribution
 

– – 293 – – – 293         

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 (2,899) (8,588) (7,464) 6,549 (1,391) 209 (13,584)         
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35 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

U n d e r  t h e  E n t e r p r i s e  I n c o m e  T a x  L a w  o f  P R C , 
withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared 
in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures from 1 January 2008 
onwards. Deferred tax charge of US$1,642,000 (2023: 
charge of US$718,000) on the undistributed earnings 
of PRC subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures has 
been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 
December 2024.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses 
of US$159,481,000 (2023: US$142,273,000) available 
for offset against future taxable profits. A deferred tax 
asset has been recognised in respect of approximately 
US$39,695,000 (2023: US$10,400,000) of such losses. 
The remaining tax losses has not been recognised 
as deferred tax assets due to the unpredictability of 
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax 
losses are losses of US$4,443,000, US$6,608,000, 
US$1,257,000, US$516,000 and US$752,000 that 
wi l l  expire in 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028 and 2029 
(2023: US$3,627,000, US$8,119,000, US$8,124,000, 
US$1,474,000 and US$842,000 that will expire in 
2024, 2025, 2026, 2027 and 2028) respectively. Other 
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has 
deductible temporary differences of US$17,636,000 
(2023:  U S$12,960,000).  N o d e f e r r e d t a x  a s s e t 
has been recognised in relation to such deductible 
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.
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36 36 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in 
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholders through 
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior 
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of lease 
l iabi l i t ies, bank and other borrowings and equity 
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising 
issued share capital, accumulated profits and other 
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital 
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this 
review, the directors of the Company consider the cost 
of capital and the risks associates with each class of 
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors 
of the Company, the Group will balance its overall 
capital structure through the payment of dividends, 
new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the 
redemption of existing debt.
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a. 

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Financial assets

Equity instrument at FVTOCI  
20,522 26,163

Financial asset at FVTPL
2,938 3,052

At amortised cost 415,270 411,354    

438,730 440,569    

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost 117,531 59,882

Lease liabilities 1,755 3,886    

119,286 63,768    
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b.  
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include 
equity instrument at FVTOCI, financial asset at 
FVTPL, trade receivables, other receivables, 
trade payables, other payables, bank and other 
borrowings, current accounts with immediate 
holding company, a fellow subsidiary, associates 
and joint ventures and cash and deposits with 
banks. Details of these financial instruments 
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks 
associated with these financial instruments 
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate 
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity 
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks 
are set out below. The management manages 
a n d  m o n i t o r s  t h e s e  e x p o s u r e s  t o  e n s u r e 
appropriate measures are implemented on a 
timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Group have 
foreign currency sales and purchases, 
cash and deposits with banks, which 
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s 
foreign currency denominated monetary 
assets and monetary l iabil it ies at the 
reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

      

RMB 78,990 83,269 115,527 58,523      

HK$ 1,441 1,700 29 59      

Sensitivity analysis

As HK$ has been pegged to US$, the 
Group is mainly exposed to exchange 
fluctuation of RMB relative to US$.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis includes non-
derivative monetary assets and liabilities 
d e n o m i n a t e d i n  f o r e i g n  c u r r e n c i e s 
which are different from the functional 
currency of the relevant Group entities. 
If RMB depreciates by 5% (2023: 5%) 
against the US$ and all other variables 
were held constant, the post-tax profit 
for the current year wi l l  increase by 
US$1,370,000 (2023: post-tax profit 
for the current year wil l  decrease by 
US$928,000), and vice versa. This is 
main ly  at t r ibutable to the exposure 
outstanding at the end of the reporting 
p e r i o d  o n  R M B  r e c e i v a b l e s ,  b a n k 
balances, payables and bank borrowings 
assuming they are outstanding for the 
whole year.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk 
primarily relates to variable rate bank 
balances for the year ended 31 December 
2024 (2023: floating rate borrowings and 
variable rate bank balances). The Group’s 
fair value interest rate risk arose from 
fixed interest rate, bank borrowings and 
lease liabilities. Interest rate risk on bank 
balances is considered immaterial due to 
short maturity.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group cash flow interest rate risk 
related to floating rate borrowings was on 
the fluctuation of China LPR. The Group 
manages its interest rate exposures by 
assessing the potential impact arising 
from any interest rate movements based 
on interest rate level and outlook. The 
management will review the proportion of 
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and 
ensure they are within reasonable range.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been 
determined based on the exposure to 
interest rates at the end of the reporting 
period. The analysis is prepared assuming 
the financial instruments outstanding 
at the end of the reporting period were 
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis 
point increase or decrease in variable-
rate bank borrowings are used represents 
m a n a g e m e n t ’ s  a s s e s s m e n t  o f  t h e 
reasonably possible change in interest 
rates.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points 
higher/lower and all other variables were 
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit 
for the year ended 31 December 2023 
would decrease/increase by US$21,000. 
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s 
exposure to interest rates on its variable-
rate bank borrowings. Bank balances are 
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the 
management considers that the exposure 
of cash flow interest rate risk arising from 
bank balances is insignificant.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk 
through its investment in an unquoted 
e q u i t y  s e c u r i t y  a n d p r i c e  r i s k  f r o m 
u n l i s t e d  i n v e s t m e n t  r e c o g n i s e d  a s 
financial asset at FVTPL. The Group also 
invested in an unquoted equity security 
for investee operating in logistic industry 
sector for long term strategic purposes 
which had been designated as at FVTOCI 
a t  t h e  e n d o f  t h e  r e p o r t i n g  p e r i o d. 
Sensitivity analysis for unquoted equity 
securities with fair value measurement 
categorised within level 3 were disclosed 
in note 37(c).

The directors of the Company considered 
that the fair value of the unlisted equity 
investment is determined with reference 
to the fair value of the underlying assets 
and liabilities as reported by the fund 
m a n a g e r.  N o s e n s i t i v i t y  a n a l y s i s  i s 
disclosed for the impact of changes in 
the relevant unobservable data as the 
directors of the Company considered that 
the exposure is insignificant to the Group.



 

236 Singamas Container Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37 

b. 

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s 
counterparties default on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial losses to the 
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are 
primarily attributable to trade receivables, cash 
and deposits with banks, amounts due from 
fellow subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 
and other receivables. The Group does not hold 
any collateral or other credit enhancements to 
cover its credit risks associated with its financial 
assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts 
with customers (including trade receivables 
from immediate holding company, fellow 
subsidiaries and associates)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group 
uses an internal credit scoring system to assess 
the potential customer’s credit quality and 
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and 
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed 
once a year. Other monitoring procedures are 
in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken 
to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the 
directors of the Company consider that the 
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts 
with customers (including trade receivables 
from immediate holding company, fellow 
subsidiaries and associates) (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 
32.09% (2023: 23.16%) and 68.03% (2023: 
51.15%) of the total trade receivables was due 
from the Group’s largest customer and the 
five largest customers respectively within the 
manufacturing segment. In order to minimise the 
credit risk, the management of the Group has 
delegated a team responsible for determination 
of credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment 
assessment under ECL model on trade balances 
individually or collectively. Except for significant 
balances or credit-impaired amounts which 
are assessed for impairment individually, the 
remaining trade receivables are grouped under 
a collective assessment based on shared credit 
risk characteristics by reference to repayment 
histories for recurring customers and current 
past due exposure for the new customers. 
Impairment loss recognised in respect of these 
trade receivables is not significant.
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12
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts 
with customers (including trade receivables 
from immediate holding company, fellow 
subsidiaries and associates) (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, 
the Group used an internal credit rating by 
assigning an individual loss rate to each of its 
debtors with significant balances and collective 
assessment for the remaining debtors. The 
estimated loss rate are based on ageing of 
individual trade debtors as well as historical 
observed default rates over the expected life of 
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost 
or effort.

Cash and deposits with banks

Credit risk on cash and deposits with banks 
is  l imi ted because the counterpart ies are 
r e p u t a b l e  b a n k s  w i t h  h i g h  c r e d i t  r a t i n g s 
assigned by international credit agencies. The 
Group assessed 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) 
for cash and deposits with banks by reference 
to information relating to probability of default 
and loss given default of the respective credit 
rating grades published by external credit rating 
agencies. Majority of the cash and deposits with 
banks are placed in banks with credit ratings of 
AA and A. Based on the average loss rates, the 
12m ECL on cash and deposits with banks is 
considered to be insignificant.
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37 

b. 

 

12
2024 12 31

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)

Amounts due from a fel low subsidiary, 
associates and joint ventures

The Group regularly monitors the business 
performance of a fellow subsidiary, associates 
and joint ventures. The Group’s credit risks 
in these balances are mitigated through the 
value of the assets held by these entities and 
the power to participate the relevant activities 
of these entities. In determining the ECL for 
amounts due from a fellow subsidiary, associates 
and joint ventures, the management of the Group 
uses internal credit rating based on the past due 
information and adjusted for any forward-looking 
information that is available without undue 
cost or effort to assess whether credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, 
as appropriate.

Other receivables

The directors of the Company make periodic 
individual assessment on the recoverability of 
other receivables based on historical settlement 
records, past experience, and also quantitative 
and qualitative information that is reasonable 
and supportable forward-looking information. 
The directors of the Company believe that there 
are no significant increase in credit risk of these 
amounts since initial recognition and the Group 
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. As at 
31 December 2024, the Group assessed the ECL 
for other receivables is insignificant.
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b. 

 

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)

The Group applied internal credit risk grading 
assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description

Trade receivables, trade 
related amounts due from 
immediate holding company, 
fellow subsidiaries and 
associates

Other financial assets at 
amortised cost

 

    

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 
any significant balances past-due over 30 days

Lifetime ECL  
– not credit-impaired

12m ECL

30   
–

12

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in 
full after due date

Lifetime ECL  
– not credit-impaired

12m ECL

  
–

12

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial 
recognition through information developed internally or 
external resources

Lifetime ECL  
– not credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL  
– not credit-impaired

 
–

 
–

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL  
– credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL  
– credit-impaired

 
–

 
–

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of 
recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off
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37 

b. 

 

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)

The following table provides information about 
the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade 
receivables from third parties, trade receivable 
amounts due from immediate holding company, 
fellow subsidiaries and associates, non-trade 
a m o u n t  d u e f r o m a n a s s o c i a t e  a n d o t h e r 
receivables, which are represented by their gross 
carrying amounts.

Internal 
credit rating

2024
Gross 

carrying 
amount

2023
Gross 

carrying 
amount

US$’000 US$’000

    

Trade receivables from third parties  
(significant balances assessed individually)

Low risk 28,436 42,428

Watch list 5,172 1,711

    

33,608 44,139    

Trade receivables from third parties (not credit-
impaired and assessed collectively)

Low risk 19,195 14,239

Watch list 4,852 5,419

Doubtful 1,059 2,167

    

25,106 21,825    

58,714 65,964    
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Internal 
credit rating

2024
Gross 

carrying 
amount

2023
Gross 

carrying 
amount

US$’000 US$’000

    

Finance lease receivables from third parties 
(significant balances assessed individually)

Low risk 72,521 34,739

 

    

Trade and operating lease receivables  
from immediate holding company  
(significant balances assessed individually)

Low risk 33,081 233

 

    

Trade receivables from fellow subsidiaries  
(not credit-impaired and assessed collectively)

Low risk 395 385

 

    

Other receivables (assessed individually) Low risk – 4,755

    

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)

37 

b. 
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b. 

 

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)

A s  p a r t  o f  t h e  i n d i v i d u a l  a s s e s s m e n t  o f 
the l i fet ime ECL for each s ignif icant trade 
balances ( including those with immediate 
hold ing company and fe l low subsid iar ies) 
and other credit-impaired trade receivables, 
the management of the Group has obtained 
an analysis on the counterparties’ credit risk 
characteristics by reviewing the trading history 
and histor ical  sett lement pattern with the 
Group. Such analysis also include operational 
update and financial position, to the extent the 
Group is possible to obtain such information 
or from the observable data in the market. The 
management of the Group estimates the amount 
of lifetime ECL individually based on expectation 
on cash flows after assessing the credit risk 
characteristics of individual debtors, which 
taking into consideration of historical settlement 
record adjusted to reflect current conditions and 
forward-looking information that is reasonably 
and supportably available to the directors of the 
Company without undue cost or effort, and are 
updated at each reporting date if considered to 
be required.

The remain ing t rade debtors are grouped 
based on similar loss patterns and provision 
rate is applied using the historical observed 
default rates of the trade balance taking into 
consideration of forward-looking information that 
is reasonably and supportably available to the 
directors of the Company without undue cost or 
effort, and are updated at each reporting date if 
considered to be acquired. Such forward-looking 
information is used by the management of the 
Group to assess both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting 
date.
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b. 

 

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)

Movement in ECL by different class of financial 
assets is disclosed in the below table.

Trade 
receivables 

from third 
parties 

(not credit-
impaired)

Finance lease 
receivables 

from third 
parties 

(not credit-
impaired)

Other 
receivables 
(not credit-

impaired)

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

     

As at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 146 2 2
Allowance for credit losses 

recognised for newly 
originated financial assets

 

2 10 –
Allowance for credit losses 

reversed on financial assets 
at 1 January 2023 due to 
settlement during the year

 
2023 1 1  

 
(53) (2) –     

As at 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 95 10 2
Allowance for credit losses 

recognised for newly 
originated financial assets 531 20 –

Allowance for credit losses 
reversed on financial assets 
at 1 January 2024 due to 
settlement during the year

 
2024 1 1  

 
(91) (10) –

Write off due to impairment (104) – (2)     

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 431 20 –
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37 

b. 

 

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 
(Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables with non-
related party debtors when there is information 
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. The Group has taken legal action 
against the debtors to recover the amount due.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the 
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash 
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the 
management to finance the Group’s operations 
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash 
flows. The management monitors the utilisation 
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with 
loan covenants or to timely negotiate with the 
lenders if any non-compliance is expected.
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37 

b. 

2024

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining 
contractual matur i ty for i ts non-derivat ive 
financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on 
the agreed repayment dates. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash 
flows of financial liabilities and lease liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group 
can be required to pay. The tables include 
both interest and principal cash flows. To the 
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the 
undiscounted amount is derived from interest 
rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

2024

Weighted
average
interest 

rate

On demand
or less than

1 month 1-3 months
3 months to

1 year 1-5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carrying
amount

% US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

         

Trade payables – 4,604 24,872 40,516 – 69,992 69,992
Other payables – 13,163 3,689 2,940 – 19,792 19,792
Amounts due to associates – 16 – – – 16 16
Amounts due to joint ventures – 12 – – – 12 12
Bank and other borrowings
– fixed-rate borrowings – 2.94 – 14,306 13,651 – 27,957 27,719
Lease liabilities 5.40 99 281 779 695 1,854 1,755         

17,894 43,148 57,886 695 119,623 119,286         
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37 

b. 

2023

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

2023

Weighted
average
interest 

rate

On demand
or less than

1 month 1-3 months
3 months to

1 year 1-5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carrying
amount

% US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

         

Trade payables – 6,612 10,780 17,598 – 34,990 34,990
Other payables – 13,280 3,326 998 – 17,604 17,604
Amount due to immediate 

holding company
 

– 75 – – – 75 75
Amounts due to associates – 370 – – – 370 370
Amounts due to joint ventures – 8 – – – 8 8
Bank and other borrowings
– variable rate borrowings – 3.90 – – – 5,882 5,882 5,589
– fixed-rate borrowings – 1.75 1,247 – – – 1,247 1,246
Lease liabilities 5.00 248 496 1,487 1,896 4,127 3,886         

21,840 14,602 20,083 7,778 64,303 63,768         

The amounts included above for variable interest 
rate instruments for non-derivative financial 
liabilities are subject to change if changes in 
variable interest rates differ to those estimates 
of interest rates determined at the end of the 
reporting period.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s financial instruments are 
measured at fair value for financial reporting 
p u r p o s e s .  T h e  d i r e c t o r s  o f  t h e  C o m p a n y 
determine the appropriate valuation techniques 
and inputs for the fair value measurement.

• the fair value of equity instrument at 
FVTOCI is determined by the independent 
v a l u e r  u s i n g  v a l u a t i o n  t e c h n i q u e s 
including earnings mult ip les (based 
on the h istor ical  earnings mult ip les 
of comparable l isted companies) and 
discounted for lack of marketability;

• t h e  f a i r  v a l u e  o f  f i n a n c i a l  a s s e t  a t 
FVTPL is determined with reference to 
the fair value of the underlying assets 
and liabilities as reported by the fund 
manager;

• the fa ir  value of  der ivat ive f inancial 
instruments is made of discounted cash 
flow analysis using the application yield 
curve and forward rate for the duration 
o f  t h e  i n s t r u m e n t  f o r  n o n - o p t i o n a l 
derivatives as quoted by the financial 
institutions; and

• the fair value of other financial assets 
a n d  f i n a n c i a l  l i a b i l i t i e s  ( e x c l u d i n g 
equity instrument at FVTOCI, financial 
asset at FVTPL and derivative financial 
i n s t r u m e n t s )  a r e  d e t e r m i n e d  i n 
accordance with general ly accepted 
pricing models based on discounted cash 
flow analysis.
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c.  

 

• 

• 

• 

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value of financial instruments 
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities that are 
measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis

T h e  d e r i v a t i v e  f i n a n c i a l  i n s t r u m e n t s  a r e 
measured at  fa i r  va lue at  the end of  each 
report ing period. The fol lowing table gives 
i n f o r m a t i o n  a b o u t  h o w  t h e  f a i r  v a l u e s  o f 
this financial instrument are determined (in 
part icular,  the valuat ion technique(s) and 
inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value 
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements 
are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurements is observable.

 Level 1 fair value measurements are those 
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) 
in active market for identical assets or 
liabilities;

 Level 2 fair value measurements are 
those derived from inputs other than 
quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices); and

 Level 3 fair value measurements are 
those derived from valuation techniques 
that include inputs for the asset or liability 
that are not based on observable market 
data (unobservable inputs).



 

250 Singamas Container Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37 

c.  

 

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value of financial instruments 
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities that are 
measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis (Continued)

Fair value
Fair value
hierarchy Valuation technique and key inputs

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

     

Financial assets

Unquoted equity investment at 
FVTOCI

20,522 26,163 Level 3 Market approach*
The key inputs are:
(1) price-to-earnings multiples of comparables and
(2) discount for lack of marketability.

* 

(1)
(2)

Financial asset at FVTPL 2,938 3,052 Level 3 Quoted price by the fund manager, share of the net asset values of the 
investee, determined with reference to the fair values of underlying 
assets and liabilities and adjustments of related expenses, if any.
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c.  

 

* 

– 

6.91
2 0 2 3 6 . 9 1

– 
2 1 % ( 2 0 2 3

21%) finnerty

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value of financial instruments 
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities that are 
measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis (Continued)

* Significant unobservable inputs include:

– pr ice-to-earnings mult ip les of 
comparables, taking into account 
of the scale of the business of the 
comparables and other individual 
factors such as div idend yield 
generated by the comparables at 
6.91 times (2023: 6.91 times). 
A slight increase in the price-to-
earnings multiples would result in 
a slight increase in fair value and 
vice versa.

– discount for lack of marketability, 
taking into account of the results 
from the finnerty option pricing 
model  o f  21% (2023:  21%).  A 
slight increase in the discount for 
the marketability would result in 
a slight decrease in fair value and 
vice versa.

The management considers that the exposure of 
fair value in relation to the unobservable inputs of 
the unquoted equity instrument is insignificant. 
No sensitivity analysis is presented accordingly.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 
in the current and prior years.
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c.  

5,641,000
2023 2,204,000

2024 12 31

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value of financial instruments 
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value 
measurements of unquoted equity 
investment at FVTOCI

Equity
instrument
at FVTOCI

US$’000

   

As at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 28,367
Fair value loss in other  

comprehensive income (2,204)   

As at 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 26,163
Fair value loss in other  

comprehensive income (5,641)   

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 20,522   

I n c l u d e d i n  o t h e r  c o m p r e h e n s i v e  i n c o m e 
is an amount of US$5,641,000 loss (2023: 
US$2,204,000 loss) relating to unquoted equity 
investment classified as equity instrument at 
FVTOCI held at the end of the current reporting 
period and is reported as changes of investment 
revaluat ion reserve for  the year ended 31 
December 2024.
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37 

c.  

2024 12 31

69,000
2023 58,000

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value of financial instruments 
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value 
measurements of financial asset at 
FVTPL

Financial
asset

at FVTPL

US$’000

   

As at 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 3,044
Fair value gain in profit or loss 58
Exchange adjustment (50)   

As at 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 3,052
Fair value loss in profit or loss (69)
Exchange adjustment (45)   

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 2,938   

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 
US$69,000 fair value loss (2023: US$58,000 fair 
value gain) relating to financial asset at FVTPL is 
charged to profit or loss.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value of financial instruments 
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities that 
are not measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the 
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 
l iabil it ies recorded at amortised cost in the 
consolidated financial statements approximate 
their fair values, determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on 
discounted cash flow analysis.
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38  38 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing 
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future 
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities.

Bank
and other

borrowings

Amount
due to

immediate
holding

company

Amounts
due to

associates

Amounts
due to

joint
ventures

Dividend
payable

Lease
liabilities Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

         

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 – 62 473 7 – 6,137 6,679
Financing cash flows 6,874 13 (97) 1 (64,284) (3,332) (60,825)
New leases entered/leases 

modified – – – – – 1,083 1,083
Dividend declared – – – – 64,284 – 64,284
Exchange realignment (39) – (6) – – (2) (47)         

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 6,835 75 370 8 – 3,886 11,174
Financing cash flows 20,897 (75) (354) 4 (22,616) (2,700) (4,844)
New leases entered/leases 

modified – – – – – 575 575
Finance cost 1,094 – – – – 156 1,250
Interest paid under operating  

cash flow (1,101) – – – – (156) (1,257)
Dividend declared – – – – 22,616 – 22,616
Exchange realignment (6) – – – – (6) (12)         

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 27,719 – 16 12 – 1,755 29,502         
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39 39 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Capital expenditure in respect of the 
acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment contracted but not 
provided for in the consolidated 
financial statements

 

5,477 4,571    

Capital injection in an associate 
contracted but not provided for in the 
consolidated financial statements

 
 

3,925 3,925    
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40 

3
20

40 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as Lessor

The Group leases out propert ies and dry f re ight 
containers under an operat ing lease with rental 
receivable monthly. The original leases term range 
from 3 to 20 years. The lease contracts do not contain 
residual value of guarantee and/or lessee’s option to 
purchase the property at the end of lease term, and 
contain market review clauses in the event the lessee 
exercises the option to extend.

At the end of the report ing period, the Group as 
lessor had contracted with tenants for the following 
undiscounted lease payments receivable over the non-
cancellable periods:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Within one year 13,790 5,028
In the second year 13,805 4,396
In the third year 13,311 4,348
In the fourth year 12,953 3,853
In the fifth year 10,182 3,466
After five years 19,479 5,192    

83,520 26,283    
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41 

23 26 32

41 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The balances with the related parties are disclosed in 
the consolidated statement of financial position and 
notes 23, 26 and 32. Details of transactions between 
the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

During the year, the Group entered into the following 
trading transactions with related parties that are not 
members of the Group:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Sales of dry freight containers to 
 immediate holding company  33,908 –
Income on leases of dry freight 
 container to immediate holding 
 company

 
2,573 1,216

Sales to fellow subsidiaries (note)
 2,266 2,447

Interest expense on lease to a fellow 
 subsidiary (note)  6 14
Transportation expense to a fellow 
 subsidiary  1,958 1,002
Depot services expense to an associate 
 (note)  534 98    
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41  

Mariana Express Lines Pte. 
Ltd. –

–

2024 7 1
1

208,000 208,000 2024 12
31 105,000 2023

105,000

41 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

Note:

The fellow subsidiaries are Pacific International Lines (China) Ltd., 
PIL Logistics (China) Co., Ltd. and Mariana Express Lines Pte. Ltd., 
in which PIL, a controlling shareholder of the Company, also the 
immediate holding company of the Company, has controlling interest.

As at 1 July 2024, the Group renewed the lease agreement for the 
office in Shanghai with a fellow subsidiary for 1 year. Except for short-
term lease in which the Group applied recognition exemption, the 
Group has recognised an addition of right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities of US$208,000 and US$208,000 at the date of lease 
commencement, respectively. As at 31 December 2024, such lease 
liabilities amounted to US$105,000 (2023: US$105,000).

The associate is Xiamen Xiangyu Singamas Container Co., Ltd.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and 
other members of key management during the year was 
as follows:

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Short-term employee benefits 3,208 2,531
Post-employment benefits 65 60    

3,273 2,591    

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key 
executives is reviewed by the remuneration committee 
having regard to the performance of individuals and 
market trends.
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a. 

2024 2023 12 31

42 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

a. General information of subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 
31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out below:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation

and/or operation

Proportion of
ownership interest

held by the Company

Issued and
fully paid share/

contributed
capital

Principal
activities

2024 2023      

Green Tenaga Pte. Limited Singapore 100.0% 100.0% US$10,000
10,000

Energy Storage System solutions 
business

Huizhou Singamas Energy Equipment Co., 
Ltd. * ^

* ^

PRC 100.0% 100.0% US$25,000,000
25,000,000

Manufacturing of dry freight and 
specialised containers

Leading Joy Limited * Hong Kong 100.0% 100.0% Ordinary HK$1
1

Property holding

Qidong Singamas Offshore Equipment Co., 
Ltd. ^

^

PRC 100.0% 100.0% RMB20,000,000
20,000,000

Manufacturing of offshore 
containers

Shanghai Baoshan Pacific Container Co., 
Ltd. #

#

PRC 77.2% 77.2% US$25,300,000
25,300,000

Manufacturing of dry freight and 
specialised containers

Shanghai Pacific International Container 
Co., Ltd. * #

* #

PRC 64.9% 64.9% US$26,000,000
26,000,000

Manufacturing of tank containers

Shanghai Reeferco Container  
Co., Ltd. *^

*^

PRC 100.0% 100.0% US$22,000,000
22,000,000

Holding of investment property

Shanghai Singamas Container Integration 
Co., Ltd. * ^

* ^

PRC 100.0% 100.0% US$2,000,000
2,000,000

Manufacturing of specialised 
containers
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a.  

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation

and/or operation

Proportion of
ownership interest

held by the Company

Issued and
fully paid share/

contributed
capital

Principal
activities

2024 2023      

Singamas Container Industry  
Co., Ltd. * #

* #

PRC 75.0% 75.0% US$5,100,000
5,100,000

Property holding

Singamas Container Pte. Ltd.* Singapore 100.0% 100.0% US$10,000
10,000

Investment holding

Singamas Depots Holdings Limited *
*

Hong Kong 100.0% 100.0% Ordinary HK$10,000
10,000

Investment holding

Singamas Management Services Limited * British Virgin Islands 100.0% 100.0% US$1,000
1,000

Provision of management services

Singamas-Modex Limited Hong Kong 100.0% 100.0% Ordinary HK$200,000
200,000

Investment holding

Singamas Logistics (Qingdao)  
Co., Ltd. #

#

PRC 60.0% 60.0% US$5,780,000
5,780,000

Provision of container storage and 
repair services

Singamas Logistics (Tianjin)  
Co., Ltd. * ^

* ^

PRC 100.0% 100.0% US$6,500,000
6,500,000

Provision of container storage and 
repair services

Singamas Energy Limited (formerly known 
as Singamas Terminals (Hong Kong) 
Limited)

Hong Kong 100.0% 100.0% Ordinary 
HK$5,000,000

5,000,000

Provision of management services

Singamas Energy Limited Taiwan Branch Taiwan 100.0% 100.0% NT$10,000,000
10,000,000

Provision of management services

42 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

a. General information of subsidiaries 
(Continued)
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a.  

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation

and/or operation

Proportion of
ownership interest

held by the Company

Issued and
fully paid share/

contributed
capital

Principal
activities

2024 2023      

Superb Gain Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

100.0% 100.0% US$1,000
1,000

Property holding

Teamwill International Limited* British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

100.0% 100.0% US$1,000
1,000

Provision of container leasing 
business

Tianjin Singamas Container  
Co., Ltd. * ^

* ^

PRC 100.0% 100.0% US$2,000,000
2,000,000

Provision of container storage, 
repair, trucking services, and 
serving as a freight station

Well Key Limited*
*

Hong Kong 100.0% 100.0% Ordinary HK$1
1

Provision of human resources 
management service

Xiamen Pacific Container Manufacturing 
Co., Ltd. * ^

* ^

PRC 100.0% 100.0% US$23,000,000
23,000,000

Manufacturing of dry freight and 
specialised containers

* Subsidiaries held directly by the Company
# Equity joint venture established in the PRC in 

accordance with relevant laws and regulations
^ Wholly owned foreign enterprise established in 

the PRC in accordance with relevant laws and 
regulations

42 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

a. General information of subsidiaries 
(Continued)
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42 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

a. General information of subsidiaries 
(Continued)

The above list gives the principal subsidiaries 
of the Company which, in the opinion of the 
directors of the Company, principally affected 
the results and assets of the Group. To give 
detai ls  of  other subsidiar ies would,  in the 
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in 
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities 
outstanding at the end of the year.

42 
 

a.  
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b. 

42 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned 
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interest

The table below shows details of non-wholly 
owned subsidiaries of the Group that have 
material non-controlling interests:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Proportion of 
ownership interests and 

voting rights held by 
non-controlling interests

 Profit and total 
comprehensive income 
(expense) allocated to 

non-controlling interests
Accumulated

non-controlling interests

As at 31 December Year ended 31 December As at 31 December
12 31 12 31 12 31

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

        

Shanghai Baoshan Pacific Container Co., Ltd. PRC
22.8% 22.8% 3,347 779 32,408 29,061

Shanghai Pacific International Container Co., Ltd. PRC
35.1% 35.1% (2,614) 1,011 25,624 28,238

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with  
non-controlling interests

7,407 5,556        

65,439 62,855        
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42 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned 
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interest (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect 
o f  e a c h o f  t h e G r o u p’s  n o n-w h o l l y  o w n e d 
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling 
interests is set out below. The summarised 
financial information below represents amounts 
before intragroup eliminations.

Shanghai Baoshan Pacific
Container Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Pacific International
Container Co., Ltd.

2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

      

As at 31 December 12 31

Non-current assets 22,971 23,581 6,698 8,154
Current assets 189,446 149,538 95,475 98,495
Current liabilities (70,526) (45,881) (22,444) (19,480)
Equity attributable to owners of 

the Company 109,483 98,177 54,105 58,931
Non-controlling interests 32,408 29,061 25,624 28,238      

Year ended 31 December 12 31

Revenue 275,593 153,206 29,339 61,236
Expenses (260,941) (149,794) (36,779) (58,359)      

Profit (loss) and total 
comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year

 
14,652 3,412 (7,440) 2,877      

42 
 

b. 
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b. 

Shanghai Baoshan Pacific
Container Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Pacific International
Container Co., Ltd.

2024 2023 2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

      

Year ended 31 December 12 31

Profit (loss) and total 
comprehensive income 
(expense) attributable to 
owners of the Company 11,305 2,633 (4,826) 1,866

Profit (loss) and total 
comprehensive income 
(expense) attributable to 
non-controlling interests 3,347 779 (2,614) 1,011      

Profit (loss) and total 
comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year

 
14,652 3,412 (7,440) 2,877      

Dividend paid to non-
controlling interests – – – 2,435      

Net cash (used in) from 
operating activities (5,952) (42,366) 29,982 8,920      

Net cash (used in) from 
investing activities (1,568) (1,156) 1,394 (129)      

Net cash from (used in) 
financing activities 5,073 2,099 (1,558) 484      

Net cash (outflow) inflow (2,447) (41,423) 29,818 9,275      

42 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned 
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interest (Continued)
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43 43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 341 91
Investments in subsidiaries 157,126 157,126
Investments in associates 122 122
Amounts due from subsidiaries 229,702 116,374
Equity instrument at FVTOCI

8,036 10,245    

395,327 283,958    

Current assets
Prepayments and other receivables 4,193 10,528
Bank deposits with original maturity 

over 3 months 51,797 173,130
Cash and cash equivalents 53,250 53,479    

109,240 237,137    

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 3,504 4,830
Amounts due to subsidiaries 120,153 135,772
Amount due to immediate holding 

company – 75
Amounts due to associates 16 59
Bank borrowings 14,218 –    

137,891 140,736    

Net current (liabilities) assets (28,651) 96,401    

Total assets less current liabilities 366,676 380,359    
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43 

2024 2023
US$’000 US$’000

    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 268,149 268,149
Accumulated profits 93,058 104,531
Other reserves 4,922 6,911    

366,129 379,591    

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liability 547 768    

366,676 380,359    

The Company’s statement of financial position was 
approved and authorised for issue by the board of 
directors on 18 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf 
by:

Teo Siong Seng Chung Pui King, Rebecca

Director Director

43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

2025 3 18
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43 

2 9 7
2 0 2 4 1 2 3 1
93,058,000 2023

104,531,000

43 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

Movement in the
Company’s reserves

Investment
revaluation

reserve
Accumulated

profits Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

     

At 1 January 2023 2023 1 1 7,687 104,444 112,131
Profit for the year – 61,154 61,154
Fair value loss on equity instrument at 

FVTOCI,  
net of tax effect (776) – (776)     

Total comprehensive (expense) 
income for the year (776) 61,154 60,378

Dividend paid to owners of the 
Company – (61,067) (61,067)     

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 6,911 104,531 111,442
Profit for the year – 9,887 9,887
Fair value loss on equity instrument at 

FVTOCI,  
net of tax effect (1,989) – (1,989)     

Total comprehensive (expense) 
income for the year (1,989) 9,887 7,898

Dividend paid to owners of the 
Company – (21,360) (21,360)     

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 4,922 93,058 97,980     

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 
2024, calculated under section 297 of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, amounting to US$93,058,000 
(2023: US$104,531,000).
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For the year ended 31 December
12 31

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
% % % % %       

Sales Mix 
(as a percentage  
of sales)

 

Manufacturing and leasing:
Dry freight containers 69 50 78 88 68
Tank containers 5 16 8 3 6
Other specialised containers 

and container parts 21 27 10 6 16       

95 93 96 97 90       

Logistics services 5 7 4 3 10       

Total 100 100 100 100 100       
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For the year ended 31 December
12 31

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

       

Revenue 582,804 382,470 776,455 1,151,764 274,305       

Profit (loss) from operations 38,879 10,261 86,959 245,463 (9,337)

Finance costs (1,326) (343) (366) (1,083) (799)
Investment income 13,491 16,569 7,804 5,738 7,381
Fair value (loss) gain on 

derivative financial 
instruments

 

– (365) (5,686) 583 109
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – – – 412 8,457
Gain from derecognition of 

financial assets measured at 
amortised cost

 
 

– – – 27,001 –
Share of results of associates 1,691 1,316 1,349 761 1,651
Share of results of joint ventures 210 204 (135) 196 408       

Profit before taxation 52,945 27,642 89,925 279,071 7,870

Income tax expense (14,876) (5,149) (33,360) (70,606) (3,120)       

Profit for the year 38,069 22,493 56,565 208,465 4,750       

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 34,135 19,438 46,340 186,802 4,576
Non-controlling interests 3,934 3,055 10,225 21,663 174       

38,069 22,493 56,565 208,465 4,750       

Earnings per share
Basic US1.43 cents US0.82 cent US1.92 cents US7.73 cents US0.19 cent

1.43 0.82 1.92 7.73 0.19       

Diluted N/A N/A N/A N/A US0.19 cent
0.19       
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As at 31 December
12 31

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

       

Assets and Liabilities
Total assets 840,222 756,467 812,253 994,002 657,349
Total liabilities (215,791) (141,832) (153,376) (260,757) (123,663)       

Net assets 624,431 614,635 658,877 733,245 533,686       

Equity
Equity attributable to owners of 

the Company 558,992 551,780 595,826 676,272 497,592
Non-controlling interests 65,439 62,855 63,051 56,973 36,094       

Total equity 624,431 614,635 658,877 733,245 533,686       
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